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The other day I was looking at the Court’s 
docket for this year, and realized that while the 
specifics may have changed—there are more 
cases dealing with technology, for example— 
the heart of the docket is what it has been 
for more than eight decades: important ques­
tions of constitutional and statutory interpre­
tation. In the course of recent research, I read 
through some volumes of U.S. Reports for the 
mid-1920s, before the Judges’ Bill of 1925 
took force and reoriented the Court. While 
one would run across the occasional case that 
would have been important in any Term, a vast 
majority of the cases involved matters of pri­
vate law or obscure state regulation. Chief Jus­
tice William Howard Taft wanted to make the 
Court primarily a constitutional tribunal, and 
he succeeded brilliantly. It is hard to believe 
that a historian reading about the cases during 
the Rehnquist and Roberts eras would dismiss 
the vast majority of them as “unimportant.”

The Court itself, of course, since the 
founding of the nation, has been critical to 
the successful operation of the great experi­
ment, and this issue looks at some of those 
events in which the Court played a part. In

some instances, it did so through expound­
ing principles in a decision, and Thomas Cox 
examines one of the most important of those 
cases, Gibbons v. Ogden. Moreover, as histo­
rians have understood for a long time, it is 
not only the jurisprudential issue that counts, 
but also how that decision plays out against 
the context of changing economic and social 
conditions. Mr. Cox does an admirable job of 
explicating this.

The Supreme Court never ruled on the 
Alien and Sedition Acts of 1798, but mat­
ters arising under America’s first “internal se­
curity act” did come up before some of the 
lower courts. Given how active the judiciary 
is regarding current security measures, Arthur 
Garrison’s examination of how judges treated 
the early laws is instructive.

In the last issue of the Journal, we ran 
the first part of Theodore Vestal’s exami­
nation of how the Court during the Warren 
years engaged in public diplomacy, a role then 
somewhat alien to the Justices. Since then, of 
course, members of our High Court have be­
come familiar figures as they travel overseas 
during the summer recess and speak to jurists
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and legal academics in other countries. In this 
issue, we have the conclusion of Mr. Vestal’s 
study.

A few years ago, the Supreme Court His­
torical Society’s annual lecture series dealt 
with advocacy before the High Court. At the 
time, we heard from many people who wanted 
to know why we did not include this person or 
someone else who was a great advocate. (One 
was reminded of Justice Brandeis’s comment 
that Robert H. Jackson ought to be made So­
licitor General for life!) There were, of course, 
many other lawyers who practiced before the 
Supreme Court who were very good, but in a 
series one can only deal with a few. Here we 
make up for at least one omission, as Jeremy 
McLaughlin examines the role of one of the 
great orators of the nineteenth century, Henry 
Clay, in his Supreme Court practice.

Todd C. Peppers has graced the pages of 
the Journal before. In this issue, he looks at a 
topic very close to my own heart: the relation­
ship between Justice Louis Brandeis and his 
clerks. It was far different from those of say 
Holmes, Frankfurter, or Brennan, but when I 
interviewed several of his clerks many years 
ago, all spoke of their year with Brandeis in 
terms of awe.

Finally, as ever, we are indebted to Grier 
Stephenson for keeping us up to date on recent 
historiography. The interest in the Court never 
seems to wane—which is fortunate for all of 
us—and Grier performs an invaluable service 
in his efforts to sort out the books in front of 
us.

As always, enjoy!



The Internal Security Acts of 1798:WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

The Founding Generation and the 

Judiciary during America’s First 

National Security CrisisZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

ARTHUR  H. GARRISON zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

It is a tru is m that a natio n m u s t p ro te ct its e lf fro m inte rnal e ne m ie s as we ll as fo re ign thre ats 
o f aggre s s io n and invas io n. Bu t that is no t the e ntire m atte r. Ou r American democracy has striven, 
with mixed success, to be careful that the justified ends of the American experiment—freedom, 
justice, and the rule of law—are not sacrificed on the altar of the means to protect these ends.

On the eve of the Civil War, Supreme 
Court Justice Samuel Nelson wrote in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBADu­

rand v. Hollins that the “great object and duty 
of Government is the protection of the lives, 
liberty, and property of the people compos­
ing it, whether abroad or at home; and any 
Government failing in the accomplishment of 
the object, or the performance of the duty, 
is not worth preserving.” 1 Thomas Jefferson 
wrote in 1810, after leaving the Presidency, 
that “ [t]o lose our country by a scrupulous 
adherence to written law, would be to lose 
the law itself... thus absurdly sacrificing the 
end to the means.”2 Abraham Lincoln, in total 
agreement, rhetorically asked in 1861, “ [A]re 
all the laws, but one, to go unexecuted, and 
the government itself go to pieces, lest that

one be violated? Even in such a case, would 
not the official oath be broken, if  the govern­
ment should be overthrown, when it was be­
lieved that disregarding the single law, would 
tend to preserve it?” 3 But James Madison cau­

tioned us against accepting the idea that the 
end justifies the means. During the Virginia 
debate on the ratification of the Constitution 
in June 1788, he observed, “Since the gen­
eral civilization of mankind, I believe there 
are more instances of the abridgement of the 
freedom of the people by gradual and silent en­
croachments of those in power than by violent 
and sudden usurpations.”4 Eternal vigilance 
against the folly of the sacrifice of the civil  
liberties of the minority to secure the freedom 
of the majority should not to be taken lightly,
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be cau s e “ if  m e n we re ange ls , no go ve rnm e nt 
wo u ld be ne ce s s ary [and if] ange ls we re to 
go ve rn m e n, ne ithe r external nor internal con­
trols on government would be necessary.” 5 In 
1755, Benjamin Franklin warned with equal 
eloquence that “ [tjhose who would give up es­
sential Liberty, to purchase a little temporary 
Safety, deserve neither Liberty nor Safety.” 6 
Paradoxically, history has vindicated all four 
men as correct.

In times of war and national-security 
threats, laws are always passed to protect the 
nation from internal and external threats in 
order to safeguard the nation. The correct­
ness of such action is never seriously debated 
by serious people. But what are the limits of 
those laws? What rights can and have been 
sacrificed—or, to be more historically correct, YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
whose rights have been sacrificed—in order 
to safeguard the nation is and always has been 
a bone of serious contention in law, history, 
and politics. The first time that Americans 
dealt with this question was during the period 
between 1790 and 1800, when war between 
the great powers of France and Britain threat­
ened both the independence and the economic 
viability of the United States. It was a time 
when French invasion was seriously feared, 
and when vocal disagreement with the poli­
cies of the Federalists was considered tanta­
mount to treason in the eyes of many Amer­
icans. It was this conflagration of threats to 
national security, foreign interference in do­
mestic politics, and political rivalries between 
the Federalists and the Republicans, headed by 
Jefferson, that gave birth to the Internal Secu­
rity Acts of 1798 and the eventual “Revolution 
of 1800” in which the Federalists lost power 
and never recovered it.

The Internal Security Acts of 1798:WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

Historical Background

The Federalists feared that the Republicans 
were American Jacobins and little more than 
a fifth  column with the goal of destroying the 
republic. The Republicans saw the Federalists

as elitists who, if  left unchecked, would reduce 
the republic to an American version of a British 
monarchy, at worst, or an oligarchy, at best. 
The debate between the Federalists, intellec­
tually and politically led by Alexander Hamil­
ton, and the Republicans, led by Jefferson, was 
more than a difference of opinion on domestic 
and foreign policy. Each had a specific view 
of what the American republic was and felt 
that the other was a national security threat 
to that republic. Leaving aside the question of 
whether, in fact, the Republicans were Fran­
cophiles or the Federalist were elitists (at best) 
or monarchists (at worst), the question we will  
explore is how the founding generation reacted 
to the first national security threat to the nation 
and the lessons learned.

By 1792, the war between France and 
Great Britain had begun. In April 1793, Pres­
ident George Washington issued a proclama­
tion that the United States would remain neu­
tral in the conflict. Not only did his action 
cause great consternation on the part of Madi­
son and Jefferson, but the failure of the United 
States to honor the treaty of alliance with 
France caused hostilities between the United 
States and its Revolutionary War ally. Dur­
ing the same month that Washington issued 
the proclamation of neutrality, the new French 
Minister to the United States, Edmond Genet, 
arrived to enthusiastic applause in South Car­
olina. The French Revolution was seen by 
many, including Jefferson, as the next step 
in the evolution of the freedom of man from 
the tyranny of the church and the monar­
chies of Europe. Genet systematically sought 
to use popular support for the French Rev­
olution and the Declaration of the Rights of 
Man of 1789—the purported equal and suc­
cessor to the Declaration of Independence—to 
influence the American government to enter 
the war on the side of the French. Not only 
was he actively propagandizing the virtues of 
the Revolution, he was also actively under­
mining Washington’s neutrality proclamation 
by supporting privateers to raid British ships, 
enlisting American crews to support French
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Arriving in Charleston in 1793, French Minister Edmond Genet set out to use the American people's sympathyWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

for the ideals of the French Revolution to persuade the government to enter the war on the side of the French. 

Pictured is a French illustration of the beheading of Louis XVI in 1793.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

co m m e rce , and p lo tting with Americans to ha­
rass the possessions of Spain in Florida and 
Louisiana.7

The actions by Genet fanned the general 
belief by President Washington and the Feder­
alists that there were plotters within the United 
States to subvert the United States and its 
government.8 The growing fear of subversion, 
both organized and supported by internal and 
external forces of France, was fostered by the 
events of the Whiskey Rebellion of 1794. With 
a force of 13,000 men, Washington person­
ally marched into Pennsylvania and put down 
the insurrection against the enforcement of a 
whisky tax that had a disproportionate impact 
on Scottish and Irish merchants. It was be­
lieved by the Federalists that the Republicans, 
supported by France, had instigated the revolt 
against the national tax.

The Federalist fears of internal forces 
threatening their administration and the re­
public itself—to them, synonymous terms— 
were supplemented by the outcry against John 
Jay’s treaty and peace with England. In addi­
tion to the support for the French Revolution, 
there was great support for war with Great

Britain because of British raiding of Ameri­
can shipping and the impressment of Amer­
ican sailors. In an effort to avoid war with 
Great Britain, Washington sent Jay to nego­
tiate a peace treaty settling long outstanding 
issues between the two nations. In November 
1794, a treaty was signed, and it was submitted 
to the Senate in June 1795. In essence, Jay’s 
treaty maintained the peace and ended British 
occupation of Western lands, but it did not 
recognize the right of freedom of American 
commerce on the seas or end the impressment 
of American sailors. As a result, it had very lit ­
tle wholehearted support from the Federalists 
and very strong Republican opposition. De­
spite its limitations, however, it was ratified 
by the Senate on June 24, 1795 by a vote of 
20 to 10, just meeting the two-thirds required 
by the Constitution.9 On April 30, 1796, the 
House of Representatives appropriated fund­
ing for the implementation of Jay’s treaty by 
an even closer vote of 51 to 48.

With the United States making peace with 
Britain, the French increased attacks on Amer­
ican ships. Such was the situation when John 
Adams took office as President in March 1797.
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By the s u m m e r o f 1797, the Fe de ralis ts we re 
advo cating fo r war with France . Se cre tary 
o f State Timothy Pickering had reported to 
Congress on June 21, 1797 that the French 
had captured 316 American merchant ships 
in the previous eleven months. The Repub­
licans, fearing that a war with France would 
strengthen the Federalists in the 1800 elections 
specifically and would increase the power 
of the national government generally, were 
completely opposed to any actions against 
France. Although Hamilton and other Feder­
alists wanted war, President Adams did not. In 
October 1797, he sent a delegation to France 
in an effort to negotiate a peace. When Charles 
Pickering, John Marshall, and Elbridge Gerry 
were informed by three agents representing 
French Foreign Minister Charles-Maurice de 
Talleyrand that a tribute was required before 
they would be received, however, the peace 
mission failed. President Adams so informed 
Congress in March 1798. Marshal and Picker­
ing returned home to a national celebration in 
June 179810 in which crowds yelled “millions 

for defense, but not one cent for tribute.”
The Republicans openly questioned why 

the delegation had failed and demanded an ex­
planation. Jefferson and the Republicans were 
sure that the peace mission had failed due 
to Federalists’ duplicity. While Adams had 
the diplomatic proof of the requested bribe, 
Jefferson did not. By a vote of 65 to 27, 
the Republicans in the House demanded full  
release of all of the diplomatic letters regard­
ing the mission.11 Adams published the diplo­
matic letters from the delegation and created 
an almost complete reversal of the public opin­
ion that had supported France. These events, 
known as the XYZ  Affair, left the Republicans 
in the position of appearing disloyal, rather 
than simply being on the wrong side of foreign- 
policy debate.12

Further adding to fears of external threats 
of invasion, in February 1798 the French at­
tacked a British ship in Charleston Harbor 
and implemented a new policy of attacking all 
neutral ships that conducted trade with Great

Britain. Congress quickly enacted a series of 
laws allowing for the raising of a regular army, 
the authorization and creation of the Depart­
ment of the Navy, the creation of the U.S. 
Marine Corps, the ordering of four additional 
warships for the naval department, the unilat­
eral abrogation of the 1778 treaty of alliance 
with France, and the authorization of priva­
teers and public vessels to attack French ships 
attacking or otherwise interfering with Amer­
ican commerce.13 The Quasi-War was in full  

operation, and between 1798 and 1800 the U.S. 
Navy captured eighty-five French ships.

With the advent of the Quasi-War with 
France, internal political battles further added 
to the national security fears of the Federal­
ists. During this period there was a new wave 
of immigration from France and other Euro­

pean nations and the Federalists feared that 
these new immigrants were supporters of the 
French Revolution and a threat to order and lib­
erty. The new immigrants were also feared as a 
potential voting bloc of support for the Repub­
licans, who were still supporters of France and 
opposed Federalist calls for war. In addition to 
fearing the growth of political support of the 
Republicans by the increasing number of for­
eign aliens, the Federalists feared that if  France 
invaded, these foreign aliens would provide 
support to an invading French army. Repub­
lican newspapers were full of attacks on both 
the policies of the Federalists and their virtues. 
Federalist fears were further amplified by the 
Republican failure to support increased mil­
itary preparations—not to mention their op­
position for war itself—in the face of French 
military, economic, and diplomatic assaults. 
If  the Republicans supported the existence of 
their nation, Federalist papers asserted, they 
would not oppose the actions of the Federal­
ists. In the eyes of the Federalists, the failure 
of the Republicans to support the Adams ad­
ministration, in general, and their opposition 
to the military preparations of the Federalists, 
in particular, was proof of Republican sup­
port for the enemies of order, freedom, and 
justice.
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During the Quasi-War against France between 1798 and 1800, the U.S. Navy captured eighty-five FrenchWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

ships. Pictured is a French artist’s drawing of American ships in the Philadelphia harbor.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

The meddling of the French in the Amer­
ican elections of 1796, France’s support of 
Jefferson in the first election between Adams 
and Jefferson, the increase of immigrants con­
sidered supportive of the Republicans, the 
XYZ  Affair, the military and economic attacks 
of the French against American commerce, 
and the long-growing political and philosophi­
cal divide between the Federalists and Repub­
licans all came to a head in the summer of 
1798, when the Internal Security Acts were 
passed.

The Internal Security Acts of 1798: It’s

Not as Simple as “Thou Shalt Not 

Speak III of President Adams”

The Internal Security Acts were designed to 
address the presence of enemy and friendly 
aliens in the country if war occurred with 
France, and the prevention of what the Fed­
eralists considered slanderous and seditious 
actions designed to bring the Adams admin­
istration into disrepute, which they believed

was synonymous with attempts to bring down 
the government of the United States itself. Al ­
though it may seem ridiculous at best and 
tyrannical at worst to equate Republican po­
litical attacks on the public policies of the 
Adams administration with wholesale treach­
ery and treason, Federalist political theory did 
not make so easy a distinction.14 The Feder­
alist theory of government held that the peo­
ple chose their leaders, and that public attacks 
upon the character and judgment of those lead­
ers were attacks on that process of choice 
and opposition to those chosen to govern. 
To the Federalists, opposition to policy was, 
in fact, opposition to the structure and pro­
cess of the constitutional governmental sys­
tem, a threat to order, and a call for anarchy. 
To oppose the government was to oppose the 
people.

Republicans had a different philosophical 
view of the American political system. They 
held the view that the process of democracy 
did not end with an election. To the Republi­
cans, democracy involved public confidence,
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no t s im p ly p u blic p articip atio n in e le ctio ns . 
Under Republican theory, an election was a 
statement of public opinion at one point in 
time. That support for and confidence in those 
elected to government could change between 
election cycles, and the questioning of elected 
public officials demonstrated not evidence of 
disloyalty to the Constitution, but fidelity to it, 
by requiring those elected to maintain public 
confidence and thus maintain the sovereignty 
of the people over the government.

Although Hamilton and the Federalists 
believed in liberty and government of the peo­
ple, they envisioned such a government based 
on a meritocracy, rather than on a completely 
free and open participatory democracy of the 
people, because they feared the unleashed 
power of the mob. Hamilton developed his 
aversion to the work of a politically whipped- 
up mob and its capacity for violence at the 
very early age of 21. In 1776, while he was 
still a student at King’s College (now Columbia 
University), a mob broke onto the campus de­
manding to take the president of the college, 
Dr. Myles Copper, into the night in order to 
tar and feather him due to his support of the 
British. Hamilton faced down the mob, arguing 
with them that to do such violence to Copper 
was a disgrace to the cause of liberty and to 
the honor of the Revolution.15 His intervention 
allowed Copper to escape with his life, which 
Copper acknowledged in the July issue of the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
Gentlemen’s M agazine.'6 The experience de­
veloped in Hamilton the view that liberty is 
only ensured through the assurance of law and 
order.17 The acts of violence by the Sons of 
Liberty, including the tarring and feathering of 
Tories and British customs officers during the 
revolutionary period, the French Revolution of 
1789 and Robespierre’s reign of terror18 that 
followed in 1793-1794, convinced Hamilton 
and the Federalists that the passions of less ed­
ucated men could be raised and unleashed to 
produce mobs of violence and the fall of the 
rule of law and reason.

The Federalists feared an unleashed press 
because it had the power to publish incendiary 
words and thus bring the government into dis-

Attorney General Charles Lee (pictured) feared thatWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

an unleashed press with the power to publish in­

cendiary words could threaten the destruction of the 

still-new and fragile United States.

repute and initiate violent revolution and the 
destruction of the still new and fragile United 
States. This aversion to the licentious behavior 
of the press was lamented by Attorney General 
Charles Lee in 1797, when he wrote the Sec­
retary of State:

With respect to national concerns 
among ourselves, as well as with re­
spect to foreign nations, our presses 
have been unlimited and unre­
strained. If  on those subjects the lib­
erty of the press can be excessive, 
or carried to licentiousness, it must 
be admitted that, in many instances, 
licentiousness of the press has pre­
vailed in our country. It is impor­
tant that this subject should be un­
derstood, when it is considered that 
the public mind is in a great degree 
formed by the press, and that the pub­
lic opinion is in a great measure di­
rected by the press.19
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The Bostonians Paying the Excise Man 1774. This picture captures the tarring and feathering of BostonWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

Commissioner of Customs John Malcolm a few weeks after the Boston Tea Party. The victim was stripped of 

his clothes and had hot tar poured on his back, chest, and legs before being rolled in feathers. Although not 

a regular occurrence in the colonies, this method of mob violence was used to intimidate supporters of the 

British during the revolutionary period and became infamous when Samuel Adams and the Boston Sons of 

Liberty used it to prevent the enforcement of the Stamp Act of 1765 by British Customs Officers.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

It was this fe ar o f the lice ntio u s p re s s ,20 

gu ide d by p hilo s o p hical vie ws o f hu m an 
natu re and the natu re o f de m o cracy , as we ll as 
p o litical m o tive s to is o late and de fe at the Re­
p u blicans in the 1800 elections, that produced 
the Internal Security Acts of 1798. The Nat­

uralization Act was passed on June 18, 1798. 
The Alien Act was passed on June 25, 1798. 
The Alien Enemies Act was passed on July 6, 
1798. And the flagship of the Internal Security 
Acts, The Sedition Act was passed on July 14, 
1798.
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The Naturalization Act increased the 
number of years of residency required before 
citizenship could be granted from five to four­
teen years. The Alien Act made it “ lawful for 
the President of the United States, at any time 
during the continuance of this act, to YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAorder all 
such aliens as he shall judge dangerous to the 
peace and safety of the United States, or shall 
have reasonable grounds to suspect are con­
cerned in any treasonable or secret machina­
tions against the government thereof, to depart 
out of the territory of the United States.”  Un­
der the Alien Enemies Act, in the event of “a 
declared war between the United States and 
any foreign nation or government, or [if]  any 
invasion or predatory incursion shall be per­
petrated, attempted, or threatened against the 
territory of the United States, by any foreign 
nation or government, and the President of the 
United States shall make public proclamation 
of the event, all natives, citizens, denizens,21 
or subjects of the hostile nation or govern­
ment, being males of the age of fourteen years 
and upwards, who shall be within the United 
States, and not actually naturalized, shall be 
liable to be apprehended, restrained, secured 
and removed, as alien enemies.”

Section 1 of the Sedition Act, which made 
it unlawful to impede the lawful execution of 
the laws or those who are responsible for their 
execution, received no serious opposition.22 
The Alien Enemies Act was also less offen­
sive than other parts of the Internal Security 
Acts, since it focused on aliens of a nation 
with which the United States was at war. The 
Alien Enemies Act, one of the two Internal 
Security Acts without an expiration date, is 
still law today.23 The Alien Act, which autho­

rized the President, on his own determination, 
“ to order all such aliens as he shall judge dan­
gerous to the peace and safety of the United 
States... to depart out of the territory of the 
United States,”  encouraged the Republicans in 
their belief that the Federalists were attempt­
ing to take the powers of a monarch for the 
national government and thus violate the free­
doms protected by the Constitution. But the 
seeds of the fall of the Federalists and the con­

sternation of history are found in Section 2 of 
the Sedition Act. Section 2 made it unlawful 
to

write, print, utter or publish, 
or... cause or procure to be writ­
ten, printed, uttered or publishing, 
or... knowingly and willingly  assist 
or aid in writing, printing, uttering or 
publishing any false, scandalous and 
malicious writing or writings against 
the government of the United States, 
or either house of the Congress of 
the United States, or the President of 
the United States, with intent to de­
fame the said government, or either 
house of the said Congress, or the 
said President, or to bring them, or 
either of them, into contempt or dis­
repute; or to excite against them, or 
either or any of them, the hatred of the 
good people of the United States, or 
to excite any unlawful combinations 
therein, for opposing or resisting any 
law of the United States, or any act 
of the President of the United States, 
done in pursuance of any such law, 
or of the powers in him vested by the 
constitution of the United States, or 
to resist, oppose, or defeat any such 
law or act, or to aid, encourage or 
abet any hostile designs of any for­
eign nation against the United States, 
their people or government...

Conviction under Section 2 carried a penalty 
of a fine not exceeding two thousand dol­
lars or imprisonment not exceeding two 
years.

Between 1798 and 1800, twenty-five in­
dividuals were arrested under the Sedition Act 
or under common law or both24 for slander­

ously publishing newspapers or pamphlets to 
bring disrepute upon the President or govern­
ment of the United States. The first arrest for 
sedition was of Benjamin F. Bache of the Au­

rora, on June 26,1798.25 Although there were 
twenty-five arrests, only about half of the ar­
rests resulted in trials, all of which resulted in
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Vermont Representative Matthew Lyon and Connecticut Representative Roger Griswold fought it out on theWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

floor of Congress in 1798 after trading insults. Lyon was one of twenty-five people arrested under the Sedition 

Act, which made it a crime to criticize the U.S. government or its leaders. The Act was enacted in 1798 with 

an expiration date of 1801.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

gu ilty ve rdicts .26 The first trial was brought 
against Matthew Lyon in October 1798, and 
the last was brought against William Duane 
in October 1800. With almost complete una­
nimity, the Sedition Act has been condemned 
as a political weapon used by the Federalists 
against the Republicans to maintain power and 
win the election of 1800. Their failure to win 
the election, the victory of the Republicans, 
the advent of Jeffersonian democracy, and the 
fall of the Federalists as a national party are 
heralded as vindication of the First Amend­
ment and the American constitutional system. 
Leaving aside for the moment this judgment 
of history, how the Sedition Act was enforced 
and how the judiciary interpreted and applied 
the Act is of separate interest. Although the 
Supreme Court never addressed the constitu­
tionality of the Act, two of the Justices of the 
Court, while on circuit, handled some of the 
most famous trials under the Act. Although 
the Justices did not provide a definitive ruling 
on the constitutionality of the Act, they en­

forced the Act with a presumed approval of its 
constitutionality.

The Internal Security Acts of 1798: The 

Judiciary and the Sedition Trials

In the trial of Matthew Lyon, a sitting Con­
gressman from Vermont, Lyon was indicted 
for publishing a letter in the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBASpooner’s Ver­

mont Journal in which he asserted that

[a]s to the Executive... whenever I 
shall, on the part of the executive, 
see every consideration of the pub­
lic welfare swallowed up in a con­
tinual grasp for power, in an un­
bounded thirst for ridiculous pomp, 
foolish adulation, and selfish avarice; 
when I shall behold men of real merit 
daily turned out of office, for no 
other cause but independency of sen­
timent; when 1 shall see men of firm­
ness, merit, years, abilities, and expe­
rience, discarded in their applications
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fo r o ffice , fo r fe ar the y p o s s e s s that 
inde p e nde nce , and m e n o f m e anne s s 
p re fe rre d fo r the e as e with which the y 
take u p and advo cate o p inio ns , the 
co ns e qu e nce o f which the y kno w bu t 
little o f—whe n I s hall s e e the s acre d 
nam e o f re ligio n e m p lo y e d as a s tate 
e ngine to m ake m ankind hate and p e r­
s e cu te o ne ano the r, I s hall no t be the ir 
hu m ble advo cate .27

During his campaign for Congress in 
1798, Lyon read the letter in various 
speeches.28 For the implication that under 

the Adams administration “ the public welfare 
[was] swallowed up in a continual grasp for 
power, in an unbounded thirst for ridiculous 
pomp, foolish adulation, and selfish avarice”  
and that men of quality were discarded in fa­
vor of men who acted and advocated with 
little knowledge of what they were saying 
and doing, Lyon was indicted for publishing 
the letter with the intent to “stir up sedition, 
and to bring the President and Government 
of the United States into Contempt.”29 Wit­
nesses were called and testified that Lyon had 
made these statements “ in public and private 
[and] had extensively used the letter for polit­
ical purposes, and in doing so had frequently 
made use of language highly disrespectful of 
the administration.”30 Lyon, acting as his own 
attorney, asserted that the letter was drafted 
before the passage of the Sedition Act, that 
the statements in the letter were innocent 
in publication, and that his statements were 
true.31 Lyon also argued to the jury that the 
Sedition Act was unconstitutional and that his 
words were mere words of political opposition 
and not sedition.

Justice William Patterson, presiding over 
the trial with District Judge Samuel Hitchcock, 
instructed the jury on two aspects of the law. 
Justice Patterson asserted to the jury that the 
constitutionality of the Sedition Act was not 
theirs to consider. “You have nothing whatever 
to do with the constitutionality or unconsti­
tutionality of the sedition law. Congress has 
said that the author and publisher of sedi­

tious libels is to be punished.... The only 
question you are to determine is... Did Mr. 
Lyon publish the writing... [and d]id he do 
so seditiously?” 32 Since Lyon had openly ad­
mitted the writing of the letter, Justice Pat­
terson informed the jury that the first ques­
tion of authorship “ is undisputed... As to the 
second point [regarding whether the publica­
tion was seditious,] you will  have to consider 
whether language such as that here complained 
of could have been uttered with any other intent 
than that of making odious or contemptible 
the President and the government, and bring 
them both into disrepute.”33 The jury found 

Lyon guilty within an hour of being released to 
deliberate.

Before imposing sentence, Justice Patter­

son admonished Lyon that “as a member of 
the federal legislature, you must be well ac­
quainted with the mischiefs which flow from 
an unlicensed abuse of government,”  and that 
his actions were such that if  a fine alone was 
imposed, the sanction would provide support 
for the view that such actions could be im­
plemented with impunity.34 Justice Patterson 

sentenced Lyon to four months in prison and 
fined him $1,000 and the costs of the trial.

Two years later, Justice Patterson charged 
the jury in the trial of Anthony Haswell that 
the Sedition Act allowed for the defense of 
truth but “unless the justification came up to 
the charge, it was no defense. Here it was for 
the jury to determine whether the violent lan­
guage applied to the marshal as descriptive 
of his treatment of Colonel Lyon, had been 
sustained by the evidence. If  it had not, no de­
fense had been made out.” 35 Haswell had pub­
lished in his newspaper, the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAVermont Gazette, 
a scathing editorial describing Jabez Fitch, the 
U.S. Marshal holding Lyon, as “a hard-hearted 
savage.”  The editorial in part was as follows:

To the enemies of political persecu­
tion in the western district of Ver­
mont:

Your representative [Lyon] is holden 
by the oppressive hand of usurped 
power in a loathsome prison,
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de p rive d alm o s t o f the right to re as o n, 
and s u ffe ring all the indignitie s which 
can be he ap e d u p o n him by a hard­
he arte d s avage , who has , to the dis­
grace o f Fe de ralis m , be e n e le vate d 
to a s tatio n whe re he can s atiate 
his barbarity o n the m is e ry o f his 
victim s . Bu t in s p ite o f Fitch [the 
m ars hal] and to the ir s o rro w... the 
m o nth o f Fe bru ary will arrive , and 
with it bring libe rty to the de fe nde r 
o f y o u r rights .36

In the conclusion of his instructions to the 
jury, Justice Patterson explained that if  they 
believed “beyond a reasonable doubt, that the 
intent was defamatory, and the publication was 
made, they must convict. Nor was it neces­
sary that the defendant should have written the 
defamatory matter. If  it was issued in his pa­
per, it is enough.”37 Haswell was convicted, 

sentenced to two months in jail, and fined 
$200.00.

A month before Justice Patterson con­
ducted the trial of Anthony Haswell, Justice 
Samuel Chase finished presiding over one of 
the more famous sedition trials, the trial of 
Thomas Cooper.38 Cooper was a lawyer and 
scientist who immigrated to the United States 
from England in 1794. He later became the ed­
itor of the Northumberland County, Pennsyl­
vania YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAGazette and aligned himself politically 
with the Republicans.39 Between April and 

June 1799, Cooper published various articles 
attacking Adams and the Federalists.40 But 
it was his farewell address that put him on 
the Federalist radar screen. In his address, 
he proposed himself to be the President “and 
then listed party measures he would follow if  
he wanted to increase executive power at the 
expense of the governed.... Cooper declared 
that if  he were a usurping President, he would 
first undermine the Constitution either by ex­
panding its grants of power... or by explain­
ing away the plain and obvious meaning of 
its words.... His chief weapon would be laws 
against libel and sedition, which would serve 
as legal fences to protect the sanctity of gov­

ernment officials.” 41 He wrote that through the 

use of sedition laws, he would brand all those 
who disagreed with him “as dangerous and 
seditious, as disturbers of the peace of society, 
and desirous of overturning the constitution 
[so as to] suppress all political conversation.”42 
His address was reprinted in the chief Repub­
lican newspaper, the Philadelphia Aurora, on 
July 12, 1799.43

On November 2, 1799, Cooper published 
a handbill in response to an anonymous letter 
that was published in the Reading W eekly Ad­

visor. The letter asked if  the Thomas Cooper 
who had published various letters against Pres­
ident Adams was the same Thomas Cooper 
who had, in 1797, applied for a government 
post in the Adams administration, and who 
had stated in that application that he shared 
the political views of the President—and the 
same Thomas Cooper who had not received 
appointment to that post.44 Clearly, the anony­

mous letter was intended to imply that Cooper 
was a hypocrite and a jilted applicant for a 
political post, not a man of principle. Cooper 
published his handbill within a week of the 
anonymous letter. His response formed the ba­
sis for his indictment under the Sedition Act.45 
After presenting these facts to the jury, he con­
cluded:

Nor is it true that my address orig­
inated from any motive of revenge.
Two years elapsed from date [of my 
application], before I wrote anything 
on the politics of this country.... Nor 
do I see the objection to taking any 
fair means of improving my situa­
tion. This is a duty incumbent on ev­
ery prudent man who has a family to 
raise....

Nor do I see any impropriety in 
making this request of Mr. Adams.
At the time he had just entered into 
office. He was hardly in the infancy 
of political mistake; even those who 
doubted his capacity, thought well of 
his intentions. He had not at that time 
given the public to understand that



12zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAJOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORYzyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

To the P D B L I C.

«•• r ••*'"-***  ^ ’ * k ..x c c j

»*♦

U •€.<» I  YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAt*f  #*<.« «!• »'•» MOM 
»* mmmmm MU u. t£b« t an

£~rx.':r~-‘?7. ^Stsvsjfjn 
Ssrcsrs.ir&s.- fertr.v

- •* ’*"  <« iM. . •<** 1
r - , . .... k i , ,,1<U. » W lu rtft-uW >' u »4w |-w* 1» «wi *. »**«*»  *«’»*>• ._ - -.---rt—.--^-

>.<» M 6-. t.  w t  w-*  u • •» ‘y •*J«wwj r*» Hr  r  »k  »«

,rt-rtt; 4* r#ur*»*«or4*»or»' t» iv u« o?u, .<Atr**  *$w Tr^a^tooTi I •• *•H.xau.uX,.,^. iwn-rnwiUY
,TC7w j  I*.*.  • • » '” "**•• >*»*.-««-« v •.., .u s m , ’  » "-*r —<m *

► *.- u,WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
..sal|».>. rjryrje *$**"•£  M

5!*E£St£. ~ b
. u». <-  «*r£  »»y  w.k-. *  •*.«.« «• ••>. •»«*

:« ■* •'• •» •'-I... . . ... ■ . .
-f-t. •«’ **•’ r^,, . 4«-rt«u.(

- - r.,

•AM  o*o»*»<», .-———.— r- r. u. «wi **  «* *f  w*  * ~f»' »• •?• tV. »<■’*  uo*»-< «**»Oio»kU»». «l .r*t OisU.H.1 J»-*oW »«■*«<*•  «▼ » >**» <«» ' t»A **  >***'
---- . r<H’ **- ’ •*■*
fom ta fteri-o-

ZJkrttt lW»« »t A» «***». - - .v< C*»‘ f-- • rt<0«-4»V»A wjr ^•^*^*h**£z  ,» n»s* tiiK  oJ-o- tut Arf»w»* ' »«•*!>*» t •

f  tv> *"  I»» w «u fcto.
1 »»«Va < <X«H

JSi k.B  '  };'■££}  ??w.’ i% ~

ySu~ SoirtM U-U—.U.UU-.

m.iu .u  r t —  .

Republican newspaper editor 

Thomas Cooper's arrest under 

the Sedition Act led to the 

publication of this anonymous 

broadside questioning whether 

Cooper was a man of principle or 

a hypocrite and a jilted applicant 

for a political post.

he would bestow no office but under 
implicit conformity to his political 
opinions. He had not declared that 
“a republican government may mean 
anything” ; he had not yet sanctioned 
the abolition of trial by jury in the 
alien law, or entrenched his politi­
cal character behind the legal bar­
riers of the sedition laws. Nor were 
we yet saddled with the expense of 
a permanent navy, or threatened un­
der his auspices with the existence 
of a standing army. Our credit was 
not yet reduced so low as to bor­
row money at eight per cent in time 
of peace, while the unnecessary vi­

olence of official expressions might 
justly provoke a war. Nor had the 
political acrimony which still poi­
sons the pleasures of private so­
ciety, been fostered by those who

call themselves his friends.... Mr.
Adams had not yet... interfered, as
President of the United States to in­
fluence the decisions of a court of jus­
tice. A stretch of authority which the 
monarch of Great Britain would have 
shrunk from; an interference without 
precedent, against law and against 
mercy!...

Most assuredly, had these trans­
actions taken place in August 1797, 
then President Adams would not have 
been troubled by any request from 
Thomas Cooper.46

At his trial before Justice Chase, Cooper 
presented himself to the jury, proclaiming that 
he had “published nothing which truth will  
not justify. That the assertions for which I 
am indicted are free from malicious imputa­
tion, and that my motives have been honest
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and fair.”47 Acting as his own lawyer, Cooper 

argued to the jury that “ the law requires it to 
be proved... that the passages for which I am 
indicted should be false and scandalous, and 
published from malicious motives.”48 Cooper 
maintained that he could not be found guilty 
for publishing a political assessment of the 
President’s performance of his public duties 
if  no implication of improper motives were 
made.

As to the motive of the handbill, Cooper 
explained to the jury that it was birthed as 
a result of the release of information regard­
ing his letter to the President, supported by 
a reference letter as to his character by Dr. 
James Priestley, requesting appointment to a 
federal post49 It was the publication of his ap­
plication by supporters of President Adams, 
with the support of the President—since only 
he could have released the information about 
the application—that fostered the need to pro­
duce the handbill. Cooper argued to the jury 
that the anonymous letter and the publication 
of his application had “ founded the base and 
cowardly slander which dragged me in the first 
instance before the public in vindication of my 
moral and political character, and has at length 
dragged me before this tribunal, to protect, if  
I can, my personal liberty... [The handbill] 
is not a voluntary, but an involuntary publi­
cation on my part. It has originated, not from 
motives of turbulence and malice, but from 
self-defense; not from a desire of attacking the 
character of the President, but of vindicating 
my own.” 50

To the first article of the indictment, that 
his statement that the President “was hardly in 
the infancy of political mistake”  and that such 
a statement was seditious, Cooper sarcastically 
asked, “ [H]ave we advanced so far on the road 
to despotism in this republican country, that we 
dare not say our President may be mistaken? Is 
a plain citizen encircled [with] political infal­
libility  the instant he mounts the Presidential 
chair?... I know that in England the king can 
do no wrong, but I did not know till  now that 
the President of the United States had the same 
attribute.” 51 To his backhand compliment to

the President that “even those who doubted his 
capacity, thought well of his intentions” rose 
to the level of sedition and libel, Cooper asked, 
“ Is it a crime to doubt the capacity of the Pres­
ident? ... Those who voted for his opponent 
must have believed Mr. Adams’ inferior capac­
ity to that gentleman.... If  it be a crime thus 
to have thought and thus to have spoken, I fear 
I shall continue in this respect incorrigible.”52 
To the third assertion in the indictment, that the 
nation had been “saddled with”  a navy, Cooper 
asserted that it was an objective fact that the na­
tion had a navy to support and that the creation 
of the navy had the support of the President. 
Cooper concluded, “ [I]f  the assertions I have 
made are true, whatever the motives of them 
may be, you cannot find me guilty.... I have, 
in the very outset of the paper, spoken well of 
the President. I have been in the habit of think­
ing his intentions right, and his public conduct 
wrong.” 53

In his charge to the jury, Justice Chase 
immediately let it be known that he consid­
ered Cooper guilty. Rather than starting with 
an explanation of libel, slander, or sedition, 
the Justice opened his remarks by stating that 
when “men are found rash enough to com­
mit an offense such as [Cooper] is charged 
with, it becomes the duty of the government 
to take care that they should not pass with 
impunity.”54 Explaining why men who voiced 
policy disagreement with the President were 
guilty of committing “ false, scandalous and 
libel against the President.” Justice Chase 
echoed the Federalist theory of government:

If  a man attempts to destroy the confi­
dence of the people in their officers, 
their supreme magistrate, and their 
legislature, he effectually saps the 
foundation of the government. A re­
publican government can only be de­
stroyed in two ways; the introduction 
of luxury, or the licentiousness of the 
press.... The legislature of this coun­
try, having this maxim, has thought 
proper to pass a law to check this li ­
centiousness of the press.55
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After explaining to the jury that it must be 
proven that Cooper intended to defame the 
President by his handbill and that his intent 
was to bring him into contempt and disrepute 
in the eyes of the American people, Chase as­
serted that the charge was proven by the state­
ment of lack of confidence in the President 
alone. As Chase explained, the seditious lan­
guage was established by negative assessments 
of the President’s performance. In this, the Fed­
eralists could not have achieved a more expan­
sive view of the Sedition Act. Chase explained 
to the jury:

Shall we say to the President you 
are not fit  for the government of this 
country? It is no apology for a man to 
say, that he believes the President to 
be honest, but that [he] has done acts 
which prove him unworthy the confi­
dence of the people, incapable of ex­
ecuting the duties of his high station, 
and unfit for the important office to 
which the people have elected him.

[S]peaking of the President in 
the following words: “Even those 
who doubted his capacity, thought 
well of his intentions.”  This [Cooper] 
might suppose would be considered 
as a compliment... but I have no 
doubt that it was meant to carry a 
sting... for it was in substance say­
ing of the President, “you may have 
good intentions, but I doubt your 
capacity.”56

After reviewing charges made by Cooper that 
the President “saddled” the country with a 
navy, encouraged the establishment of a stand­
ing army, and borrowed money at too high 
a price, Chase explained that such charges 
needed to be punished, because they were 
“made not only against the President, but 
against yourselves who elect the House of 
Representatives, for these acts cannot be done 
without first having been approved of by 
Congress.”57 Chase’s point was that Cooper 

claimed the President had done these things,

but he could not have done so—thus the 
false and seditious action—because an act of 
Congress is required for the establishment of 
a navy and army and the borrowing of money.

There is no subject on which the peo­
ple of America feel more alarm, than 
the establishment of a standing army. 
Once persuade them that the govern­
ment is attempting to promote such a 
measure, and you destroy their con­
fidence in the government. There­
fore, to say, that under the auspices of 
the President, we were saddled with 
a standing army, was directly calcu­
lated to bring him into contempt with 
the people, and excite their hatred 
against him...

This publication is evidently in­
tended to mislead the ignorant, and 
inflame their minds against the Pres­
ident, and to influence their votes on 
the next election.58

As a lawyer, Cooper knew that Congress—not 
the President—raises the army and the navy. 
Thus, he had written and published falsehoods 
in order to bring disrepute to the President by 
claiming that the President acted outside of his 
constitutional authority, thus violating the law. 
This is how prosecutions under the Sedition 
Act were conducted: political exaggeration or 
hyperbole formed acts of libel and sedition, 
because the statements were technically false 
or were exaggerations of a truth that could not 
be sustained in their exaggerated form.

In another example of criminalizing polit­
ical hyperbole, Cooper asserted that the Presi­
dent had interfered with a judicial proceeding 
and delivered Jonathan Robbins, an Ameri­
can citizen, to Great Britain for a “mock trial 
of a British Court martial” for a murder on a 
British ship.59 Cooper, Chase explained, had 

published his account of the case, stating the 
“case [is] too little known, but of which the 
people ought to be fully apprised before 
the election, and they shall be.” As Chase
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explained to the jury, “Here, then, the evi­
dent design of [Cooper] was, to arouse the 
people against the President so as to influ­
ence their minds against him on the next elec­
tion. I think... this... proves, that [Cooper] 
was actuated by improper motives to make 
this charge against the President. It is a very 
heavy charge, and made with intent to bring 
the President into contempt and disrepute, and 
excite against him the hatred of the People 
of the United States.”60 What was false and 
scandalous, Chase explained to the jury, was 
that by treaty the President was required to de­
liver Robbins upon formal request by Great 
Britain. Thus, Cooper’s statement that Adams 
delivered Robbins without precedent in law 
or mercy was factually false. As a lawyer, 
Cooper knew—or should have known—that, 
by treaty, the President acted within the rule of 
law, not outside of it. As to the charge of in­
terference with the judiciary, Chase explained 
that a federal district judge had heard the ev­
idence to establish that Robbins had commit­
ted the murder, and that the judge allowed the 
transfer. Rather than being interfered with in 
his judicial duty, the judge “was the instrument 
made use of by the President to ascertain [the] 
fact” 61 of the legality of delivering Robbins to 

the British. Chase, rhetorically, asked the jury 
“Was this, then, an interference on the part of 
the President with the judiciary without prece­
dent, against law and against mercy; for doing 
an act which he was bound by the law of the 
land to carry into effect... ?”62

Chase expanded that the burden of proof 
was on Cooper to “prove every charge he has 
made to be true.. .”63 after the prosecution 
had established falsehoods in the statements 
made by him. In other words, once the pros­
ecution had shown that the words of Cooper 
were technically or factually wrong, Cooper 
must prove each of them true. Further, accord­
ing to Chase, the burden of proof was both 
specific and general. Chase explained that all 
of the statements individually and collectively 
must be proven true. If  any of Cooper’s state­
ments were found to be false, or if  the entire

publication was found to have some false state­
ments, Cooper’s defense of truth would fall. “ If  
he fails, therefore, gentlemen, in this proof, 
you must then consider whether his intention 
in making these charges against the President 
were malicious or not.”64 Under such an appli­

cation of the Sedition Act, Cooper could not 
have been found anything but guilty. With po­
litical statements subjected to the test of tech­
nical truth and, when found to be technically 
false, found also to be, by definition, libel 
and seditious and thus, by definition, made 
with malice, Chase had effectively guaranteed 
a guilty verdict. The jury found Cooper guilty, 
and Chase sentenced him to a fine of $400, six 
months’ imprisonment and a surety of $2,000 
for good behavior.65

In the trial of James Callender,66 one of 

the more famous sedition trials, Justice Chase 
further elaborated on the enforcement of the 
Sedition Act and the burden of proof. He in­
formed the counsel for the defense that under 
the law,

The United States must prove the 
publication, and the fallacy of it. 
When these are done, you must prove 
a justification, and this justification 
must be entire and complete, as to 
any one specific charge; a partial jus­
tification is inadmissible.67

Callender’s trial was the only sedition trial in 
the South68 and Chase was determined to prove 

that the law could and would be enforced in the 
Republican-supported South.69

Callender was one of the most “vitri ­
olic of the Republican journalists,”70 who 
was encouraged and financially supported by 
Jefferson.71 Callender had long been on the 
Federalists’ radar. It was Callender who pub­
lished YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAHistory of the United States for 1796, 
in which he accused Hamilton of corrup­
tion by implying that Hamilton indulged in 
what today would be called insider trading of 
stocks.72 Callender, as did Jefferson, knew that 

Hamilton was making secret payments, not to 
commit illegal speculation with federal funds,
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Sedition cases were brought to silence vocal oppo­

sition to President Adams and the Federalist Party.WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

The way Justice Samuel Chase (pictured) interpreted 

the Sedition Act all but guaranteed convictions.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

bu t to p ay blackm ail du e to his affair with 
Maria Re y no lds . As a result of Callender’s 
assertion that Hamilton was stealing public 
funds, Hamilton published a pamphlet admit­
ting to the affair—proving it by publishing 
the love letters from the affair—and to the 
blackmail.73

Along with various articles published in 
the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAAurora, Callender published The Prospect 
Before Us in 1800, in which he stated that 
President Adams “has never opened his lips, 
or lifted his pen without threatening and 
scolding... to culminate and destroy every 
man who differs from his opinion.” 74 It was 
his publication of The Prospect Before Us 
that led to his indictment. Callender wrote 
that the Adams had contrived the war with 
France, created a standing Army and Navy 
and levied large, oppressive taxes.75 Callen­
der asserted that the election of 1800 was “be­
tween Adams, war and beggary, and Jefferson, 
peace and competency.” 76 He continued his 
attack on Adams, asserting that the “object of 
Mr. Adams was to recommend a French war,

professedly for the sake of supporting Ameri­
can commerce, but in reality for the sake of 
yoking us into an alliance with the British 
tyrant.”77 If  these words were not enough to 
bring the wrath of the Federalists down on Cal­
lender’s head, his summation of the election of 
1800 was: “You will  choose between that man 
whose life is unspotted by crime, and that man 
whose hands are reeking with the blood of the 
poor... ,” 78

The publication of The Prospect Before Us 
occurred in early 1800. By March 1800, the 
book had found significant publication out­
lets and had survived Federalist attempts to 
block its publication in Philadelphia.79 Hav­
ing moved to Virginia and feeling safe, Cal­
lender challenged the Federalists in an article 
published in the Richmond Examiner on May 
9, 1800, stating “ If  the author has affording 
room for an action, do prosecute him. But do 
not take such pitiful  behind the door measures 
in order to stop the circulation of the truth.”80 
The Federalists took the challenge and indicted 
him on May 28, 1800 for his writings in The 
Prospect Before Us.si

The trial became a national sensation, 
described by the case reporter as a “con­
test ... between the Republican lawyers of the 
Virginia bar and Judge Samuel Chase, the most 
reckless, the most partisan, the most fearless 
judge on the bench of the Circuit Court.... [A]  
struggle to the death between himself and the 
[three] distinguished lawyers which Virginia 
had sent against him.”82 Just coming off of 
the Cooper trial and the second treason trial 
of John Fries,83 Chase was ready to prove 
that in the Old Dominion, the law would be 
obeyed.84 Although the Virginians and Re­
publicans supported Callender, “what became 
of Callender was of little consequence,”85 for 
his case had become a symbol of resistance 
against the Federalists, the national govern­
ment, the Federalist judiciary, and the Sedi­
tion Act, rather than an actual trial over his 
guilt, because to “ read his book... and say 
the writer was not guilty of sedition was 
impossible.” 86
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The trial began on July 3, 1800, with 
the defense requesting a continuance for ad­
ditional time to prepare for a defense. Jus­
tice Chase refused, and he also rejected a 
defense strategy of arguing to the jury that 
the Sedition Act was unconstitutional. In the 
course of the legal propositions made by the 
defense and the responses from the bench, 
Chase made three rulings of interest to the 
law. One did not survive the fall of the Sedi­
tion Act, another has become a truism in crim­
inal law and procedure, and the remaining 
ruling foreshadowed a subsequent Supreme 
Court decision that would institutionalize the 
Supreme Court as a coequal branch of govern­
ment and the final determiner of constitutional 
law.

George Hay, one of Callender’s defense 
attorneys, asserted that the purpose of the sedi­
tious libel “was to punish a man, not for abuse 
nor for erroneous deductions or opinion, but 
for facts falsely and maliciously asserted.” 87 

The defense requested time to prepare wit­
nesses and counsel for arguments before the 
court, asserting that only the statements made 
by Callender that were “susceptible of direct 
and positive evidence” could be judged in re­
gard to libel, and that “everything else was 
opinion”  and opinion could not form a charge 
of sedition and libel.88 Hay asserted to the 

court that the distinction of opinion from fact 
is significant because opinion, by definition, 
cannot be measured by direct evidence. As an 
example, Hay explained that

[t]he circumstances to which the 
writer might allude, and which sat­
isfied his mind that Mr. Adams was 
intemperate and passionate [when the 
President said in a speech that the 
Republicans were] “dangerous and 
restless men misleading the under­
standing of well-meaning citizens, 
and prompting them to such measures 
as would sink the glories of America, 
and prostrate her liberties at the feet 

of France”  would only prove to a man

of different political complexion, that 
he was under the influence of a pa­
triotic, honest and virtuous sensibil­
ity. This was a question of opinion 
only, and therefore was open to end­
less discussion.89

Justice Chase would have none of the idea of 
making a distinction between fact and opinion. 

He answered,

Must there be a departure from com­
mon sense[?]... This construction 
admits the publication, but denies 
its criminality. If [Callender] cer­
tainly published that defamatory pa­
per, read it and consider it. Can any 
man of you say that the President is 
a detestable and criminal man? [Cal­
lender] charges him with being a mur­
derer and a thief, a despot and a 
tyrant! Will  you call a man a mur­
derer and a thief and excuse yourself 
by saying it is but mere opinion— 
or, that you heard so? Any falsehood, 
however palpable and wicked, may be 
justified by this species of argument.
The question here is, with what intent 
[Callender] published these charges?
Are they false, scandalous, and ma­
licious, and published with intent to 
defame? It is for the jury to say, what 
was the intent of such imputation, and 
this is sufficiently obvious.90

After losing on having the jury stricken 
and requesting additional time to secure var­
ious witnesses who could provide testimony 
to support the charge made by Callender that 
the President had changed his political views 
over time and that he was an aristocrat, the de­
fense proposed that they be allowed to assert 
to the jury that the Sedition Act was unconsti­
tutional and thus void of effect. William Wirt 
argued to the jury that its power to determine 
the constitutionality of the Sedition Act had 
been developed through the common law of 
England and maintained in Virginia law, and
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was e nfo rce able in the p re s e nt cas e .91 Wirt ar­
gu e d to the ju ry that

a ju ry in a co u rt o f the s tate wo u ld 
have a right to de cide the law and the 
fact, s o have y o u . The Federal Consti­
tution is the supreme law of the land; 
and a right to consider the law, is a 
right to consider the Constitution. If  
the law of Congress under which we 
are indicted, be an infraction of the 
Constitution, it has not the force of 
a law, and if  you were to find [Cal­
lender] guilty, under such an act, you 
would violate your oaths.92

Justice Chase was incensed by this assertion 
and ordered Wirt to take his seat during his 
argument to the jury. “ If I understand you 
rightly,” Chase said, “you offer an argument 
that the petit jury, to convince them that the 
statute of Congress... is contrary to the Con­
stitution of the United States, and, therefore, 
void. Now I tell you that this is irregular and 
inadmissible.”93

Both the defense and Justice Chase knew 
that this proposition would be made in court, 
and both were prepared. Upon invitation to 
make a formal argument supporting his propo­
sition, Wirt asserted that the jury was “sworn 
to give their verdict according to the evidence; 
if  the jury have no right to consider the law, 
how is it possible for them to render a gen­
eral verdict?”94 Philip Nicholas, the third at­
torney for Callender, provided a more detailed 
defense of the proposition that juries have the 
power to declare a law unconstitutional.

First, it seems to be admitted on all 
hands, that, when the legislature ex­
ercises a power not given them by the 
Constitution, the judiciary will  disre­
gard their acts. The second point, that 
the jury have a right to decide the law 
and the fact, appears to me equally 
clear. In the exercise of the power of 
determining law and fact, a jury can­
not be controlled by the court. The 
court have a right to instruct the jury, 
but the jury have a right to act as they

think right; and if  they find contrary 
to the directions of the court, and to 
the law of the case, the court may set 
aside their verdict and grant a new 
trial.

From this right of the jury to con­
sider law and fact in a general ver­
dict, it seems to follow, that coun­
sel ought to be permitted to address 
a jury on the constitutionality of the 
law in question; this leads me back 
to my first position, that if  an act 
of Congress contravene the Constitu­
tion of the United States, a jury have 
a right to say that it is null, and that 

they will  not give the efficacy of a law 
to an act which is void in itself; be­
lieving it to be contrary to the Consti­
tution, they will  not convict any man 
of a violation of it. If  this jury be­
lieved that the Sedition Act is not a 
law of the land, they cannot find the 
defendant guilty.95

Invoking the values of the Fifth and Sixth 
amendments, Nicholas continued his argu­
ments by asserting that

[t]he Constitution secures to every 
man a fair and impartial trial by jury, 
in the district where the fact shall 
have been committed: and to pre­
serve this sacred right unimpaired, it 
should never be interfered with. If  
ever a precedent is established, that 
the court can control the jury so as to 
prevent them from finding a general 
verdict, their important right, without 
which every other right is of no value, 
will  be impaired, if  not absolutely de­
stroyed. Juries are to decide accord­
ing to the dictates of conscience and 
the laws of the country, and to control 
them would endanger the right of the 
most invaluable mode of trial.... I 
do not deny the right of the court to 
determine the law, but I deny the right 
of the court to control the jury....
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The act of Congress to which I 
have alluded, appears to have given to 
the jury the power of deciding on the 
law and the fact; and I trust, that when 
this whole question comes into con­
sideration, the court will suffer the 
counsel for [Callender] to go on to 
speak to the jury, subject to the direc­
tion of the court.96

Hay concluded the arguments by asserting 
that “ the jury have a right to determine ev­
ery question which is necessary to deter­
mine, before sentence can be pronounced upon 
[Callender.]”97 He asserted that the jury has 
the power to determine if  the statements made 
by Callender are false, scandalous, malicious, 
and libel. He also announced that he intended 
to “convince the jury that [Callender’s state­
ments are] not a libel, because there is no law 
in force, under the government of the United 
States, which defines what a libel is, or pre­
scribes its punishment. It is a universal princi­
ple of law, that questions of law belong to the 
court, and that the decision of the facts belongs 
to the jury; but a jury have a right to determine 
both the law and fact in all cases.” 98

In a prepared written opinion, Justice 
Chase ruled that “ the petit jury have no right to 
decide on the constitutionality of the statute”  
that Callender was charged for violating, be­
cause such an action would “usurp the author­
ity entrusted by the Constitution of the United 
States to this court.”99 Thus, the court would 

not allow the defense to make an argument to 
the jury that they had a right to decide on the 
constitutionality of the Sedition Act. Justice 
Chase’s opinion included a detailed discus­
sion of judicial review that was echoed three 
years later in the seminal case of YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM arbury v. 
M adison,100 which established the power of 
the Supreme Court and the federal judicial de­
partment to declare an act of Congress uncon­
stitutional.

In his charge to the jury, Chase rejected 
the proposition that the right of the jury to 
decide the outcome of the case based on the

facts included the right to determine if  there is 
any law to apply to the facts in first place.

It is one thing to decide what the law 
is, on the facts proved, and another 
and a very different thing, to deter­
mine that the statute produced is no 
law. To decide what the law is on the 
facts, is an admission that the law ex­
ists. If  there be no law in the case, 
there can be no comparison between 
it and the facts; and it is unnecessary 
to establish facts before it is ascer­
tained that there is a law to punish 
the commission of them.

The existence of the law is a previ­
ous inquiry, and the inquiry into facts 
is altogether unnecessary, if  there is 
no law to which the facts can ap­
ply. By this right to decide what the 
law is in any case arising under the 
statute, I cannot conceive that a right 
is given to the petit jury to determine 
whether the statute (under which they 
claim this right) is constitutional or 
not.... Was it ever intended, by the 
framers of the Constitution, or by the 
People of America, that it should ever 
be submitted to the examination of a 
jury.... I cannot possibly believe that 
Congress intended, by the statute, to 
grant a right to a petit jury to declare a 
statute void. The man who maintains 
this position must have a most con­
temptible opinion of the understand­
ing of that body; but I believe the 
defect lies with himself.101

Chase then explained that Congress could not 
have given the jury the right to declare an 
act of Congress unconstitutional, because it 
has no such power to do so: “by the Con­
stitution (as I will  hereafter show), this right 
is expressly granted to the judicial power of 
the United States.” 102 The Justice explained 
to the jury that it “never was pretended, as I 
ever heard, before this time, that a petit jury 
in England... or in any part of the United
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State s e ve r exercised such power.” 103 Hav­
ing entered the Jeffersonian, Republican-held, 
freedom-loving, liberty-conscious, African- 
slave-trading, future capital of the Confeder­
acy, Chase commented that he had to enter the 
City of Richmond to hear the “contemptible 
opinion of the understanding” of the law that 
a jury can determine the constitutionality of a 
statute in open court. “ I declare that the doc­
trine is entirely novel to me, and that I never 
heard of it before my arrival in this city. It ap­
pears to me to be not only new, but very absurd 
and dangerous, in direct opposition to, and a 
breach of the Constitution.” 104 Two hours af­
ter the court released the jury to their deliber­
ations, they returned with a verdict of guilty in 
which Callender was sentenced to a $200 fine 
and nine months imprisonment.

The Callender case is best known for 
how Justice Chase handled the Virginia de­
fense team, which eventually withdrew from 
the case in protest of Chase and the politi­
cal firestorm105 that the case produced. It is 
not well remembered for its affirmance of the 
principle that the role of the jury is to apply 
the law to the facts of the case to determine 
the guilt or innocence of the accused, but that 
it does not have the power to make determina­
tions of the law itself. The determination of the 
law is for the court to make, and the court’s de­
termination of the law is obligatory on the jury. 
More significantly, although the court and the 
defense disagreed on the issues of the power 
of the jury, both were in complete congruence 
on the power of the judiciary to declare an act 
of Congress unconstitutional. Although Chief 
Justice John Marshall’s decision in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM arbury v. 
M adison is given credit for the establishment 
of judicial review, the Callender case makes 
clear that the principle of judicial review did 
not originate with Marshall, and that M arbury 
v. M adison was not a novel decision in 1803.106

But Callender’s conviction was no help to 
the Federalists in 1800. Rather than decreasing 
publications of pamphlets and articles attack­
ing the Federalists, it helped increase them.107 
None of the sedition trials resulted in what 
the Federalists had hoped for. In the end, the

Federalists lost the elections of 1800 for the 
House and Senate, as well as the Presidency. 
It is clear from a review of these cases that 

sedition charges were brought to silence vo­
cal political opposition to President Adams 
and the Federalist party. And Justice Chase 
and his interpretation of the Sedition Act all 
but guaranteed convictions on such charges. 
Callender’s attorneys were correct that there 
was a difference between political opinion and 
objective facts, and that the Sedition Act, as 
applied, punished both.

As the Federalists in Congress have re­
ceived the consternation of history, so has the 
Federalist judiciary.108 Although the Supreme 
Court never formally ruled on the constitution­
ality of the law, the Federalist Bench supported 
and enforced the law in various trials. To be 
balanced, however, the error of the judiciary 
lay, not in its failure to declare the law un­
constitutional, but in how the trials were con­
ducted: the practical reversal of the burden of 
proof from the government to the defendant, 
how evidence of sedition was introduced, how 
sedition was proved to juries, and the irregu­
larities of how juries were empanelled. These 
facts aside, history has judged the Sedition 
Act as an unconstitutional violation of the 
First Amendment. Although today, more than 
a century later they certainly would be, in the 
eighteenth century, the ability of the govern­
ment to outlaw and punish seditious libel was 
at the very worst open to debate as permissible 
under the American constitution and at best an 
accepted practice under English common law 
and western governmental theory.

The Internal Security Acts of 1798:

Hindsight Does Not Make ThemWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

Unconstitutional

Eighteenth-century law accepted the notion 
that a government had the legal right to protect 
itself against seditious libel and that punish­
ment of such libel was required to protect the 
government against the fostering of rebellion. 
Blackstone’s Commentaries, the predominant 
legal text and explanation of English common
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law and We s te rn le gal traditio ns , m ade cle ar 
that s e ditio u s libe l was p u nis hable and that 
s u ch p u nis hm e nt did no t vio late the fre e do m 
o f the p re s s .109 Fu rthe r, while the qu e s tio n o f 

whe the r Co ngre s s lacke d the p o we r to go ve rn 
the activitie s o f the p re s s was no t co m p le te ly 
s e ttle d, m any he ld it to be s e ttle d that the go v­
e rnm e nt had the right to , the p o we r o f, and the 
re s p o ns ibility fo r s e lf-p ro te ctio n, u nde r s p e­
cific clau s e s o f the Co ns titu tio n o r u nde r the 
inhe re nt p o we rs the re o f.110 Madis o n dis agre e d 
and argu e d that the Firs t Amendment provided 
an absolute denial to Congress of any power 
over the press or power to criminalize libelous 
attacks in the press, because no such power 
was “express [ly] delegated, and if  it be not 
both necessary and proper to carry into exe­
cution an express power—above all, if  it be 
expressly forbidden by a declaratory amend­
ment to the Constitution—the answer must be 
that the Federal Government is destitute of 
such authority.” 111 The Federalists answered 
that the Constitution did not say Congress shall 
make no law respecting the press, as it did with 
the exercise of religion. The First Amendment 
only stated that Congress shall not abridge the 
liberty of the press. Thus, the Federalists ar­
gued, Congress was not specifically proscribed 
from addressing seditious libel in the press.112 
Directly citing Blackstone, the Federalists ar­
gued that

the liberty of the press consists in 
laying no previous restraint upon 
publications, and not in freedom from 
censure for criminal matter when 
published... [E]very freeman has an 
undoubted right to lay what senti­
ments he pleases before the public; 
to forbid this is to destroy the free­
dom of the press; but if he pub­
lished what is unlawful, mischievous, 
or illegal, he must take the conse­
quences of his own temerity. To pun­
ish... dangerous or offensive writ­
ings ... of a pernicious tendency, is 
necessary for the preservation of the 
peace and good order of government

and religion, the only foundation of 
civil liberty.113

The Federalists argued that Blackstone’s view 
of the law in regard to seditious libel and the 
ability to prosecute the press for such action 
was not voided by the passage of the First 
Amendment.114 In 1794, answering a formal 
question from the Secretary of State on the le­
gality of the prosecution of a New York news­
paper for libeling the British Ambassador, At­
torney General William Bradford wrote, “ I am 
of the opinion that those paragraphs are YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAprima 
facie libelous, and [may] be made... the sub­
ject of a crim inal prosecution.... To repre­
sent in the public prints such an officer as a 

contemptible person... is, no doubt, a pub­
lication that may be made the subject of le­
gal prosecution.” 115 In 1797, Attorney Gen­

eral Charles Lee, answering a similar question 
by the Secretary of State regarding libel of 
the Ambassador of Spain, justified the sub­
mission of the incident for the prosecution of 
the editor of the newspaper. Citing Blackstone, 
Lee explained that the law of libel prohibited 
“malicious defamation of any person, and es­
pecially a magistrate, made public by either 
printing, writing, signs, or pictures, in order to 
provoke him to wrath, or expose him to public 
hatred, contempt, and ridicule.” 116 Although 
he considered the letters published by the edi­
tor to be libelous, he explained that “ [a]s yet, 
in the United States, the line between the free­
dom and the licentiousness of the press has not 
been distinctly drawn by judicial decision.” 117 
Citing Lord Mansfield for the proposition 
“ that the liberty of the press consists in printing 
without previous license, subject to the conse­
quence of law”  Lee concurred with Mansfield 
that under the law, there is “no infringement 
of the liberty of the press to bring a printer 
before the tribunal of justice to answer for his 
publications:—if  innocent in themselves, he 
will  not be punished; if  otherwise, the injury 
should be redressed.” 118

This understanding of the law was advo­
cated as settled under state law during the de­
bates over the passage of the Sedition Act.
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As one Congressman argued, “ in the several 
states... the legislators and judicial depart­
ments of those States had adopted the defi­
nitions of the English law, and had provided 
for the punishment of defamatory and sedi­
tious libels.” 119 Madison answered by assert­
ing that the Blackstone description of the law 
was not consistent with the nature of the con­
stitutional system of limited powers. Nor were 
Blackstone’s views consistent with the inher­
ent understanding that the government was not 
infallible and was subject to constant review 
by the people, as elected representatives of 
them for the purpose of governance. More im­
portantly, Madison explained that protection 
against prior restraint alone was no protec­
tion to the operation of the press, because “a 
law imposing penalties on printed publications 
would have similar effect with a law authoriz­
ing a previous restraint on them. It would be a 
mockery to say that laws might not be passed 
preventing publications from being made, but 
that laws might be passed for punishing them 
in case they should be made.” 120 On this point 
history has made Madison the victor, for his 
warnings of a “chilling effect” found reso­
nance in the landmark Pentagon Papers case 
in 1971.121

Although it did not do so uniformly, the 
Federalist judiciary generally upheld the view 
that the federal judiciary had the authority 
and jurisdiction to punish offenses under fed­
eral common criminal law,122 which included 
seditious libel. In the case of YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAUnited States 
v. W orrall,123 which involved an allegation of 
attempted bribery of Tench Coxe, the Com­
missioner of the Revenue, Philadelphia Circuit 
District Judge Richard Peters, held that

Whenever a government has been es­
tablished, I have always supposed, 
that a power to preserve itself, was 
a necessary, and an inseparable, con­
comitant. But the existence of the 
Federal government would be precar­
ious, it could no longer be called an 
independent government, if, for the 
punishment of offences of this nature,

tending to obstruct and pervert the 
administration of its affairs, an ap­
peal must be made to the State tri­
bunals, or the offenders must escape 
with absolute impunity. The power 
to punish misdemeanors, is originally 
and strictly a common law power; of 
which, I think, the United States are 
constitutionally possessed. It might 
have been exercised by Congress in 
the form of a Legislative act; but, 
it may, also, in my opinion be en­
forced in a course of Judicial pro­
ceeding. Whenever an offence aims 
at the subversion of any Federal insti­
tution, or at the corruption of its pub­
lic officers, it is an offence against the 
well-being of the United States; from 
its very nature, it is cognizable un­
der their authority; and, consequently, 
it is within the jurisdiction of this 
Court, by virtue of the 11th section 
of the Judicial act.124

Interestingly, it was Justice Chase who 
rejected the doctrine of a federal common 
law for criminal cases. While he supported 
the enforcement of the Sedition Act of 1798, 
he did not support the theory that sedition 
could be punished under common law with­
out a specific act of Congress authorizing the 
punishment of sedition. Sitting as the Circuit 
Judge, Justice Chase wrote in the same case 
that

... in my opinion, the United States, 
as a Federal government, have no 
common law; and, consequently, no 
indictment can be maintained in their 
Courts, for offences merely at the 
common law....

But the question recurs, when and 
how, have the Courts of the United 
States acquired a common law ju­
risdiction, in criminal cases? The 
United States must possess the com­
mon law themselves, before they 
can communicate it to their Judicial 
agents: Now, the United States did 
not bring it with them from England;
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the Co ns titu tio n do e s no t cre ate it; 
and no act of Congress has assumed 
it. [Although] it may be an inconve­
nience in the administration of jus­
tice, that the common law authority, 
relating to crimes and punishments, 
has not been conferred upon the gov­
ernment of the United States, which 
is a government in other respects 
also of a limited jurisdiction: but 
Judges cannot remedy political im­
perfections, nor supply any Legisla­
tive omission. [I]f  Congress had ever 
declared and defined the offence, 
without prescribing a punishment, I 
should still have thought it improper 
to exercise a discretion upon that part 
of the subject.125

Justice Chase’s opinion was not uniformly ac­
cepted by his colleagues on the federal bench 
or even on the Supreme Court at the time.126 

He was vindicated fourteen years later, how­
ever, when the doctrine of a federal common 
law for criminal crimes was formally rejected 
by the Supreme Court127 in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAUnited States v. 
Hudson and Goodwin in 1812.128

Although there was debate on the legit­
imacy of a federal common-law criminal ju­
risdiction, the Sedition Act of 1798 settled a 
separate legal debate in regard to the com­
mon law of libel regarding whether truth was a 
complete defense. The fault of the Bench dur­
ing the sedition trials lay in how it limited the 
power of the truth defense to the point of irrel­
evancy. Justice Chase made it quite clear that 
once a technical falsehood was established in 
any part of the speech or writing, the only way 
truth could be a defense would be if  the sedi­
tious statements were proved true in their en­
tirety. The error was not in the failure to declare 
the Sedition Act unconstitutional, because the 
prevailing legal understanding of freedom of 
speech allowed for the punishment of sedi­
tion against the government. Blackstone’s view 
was regarded as correct through the first two 
decades of the twentieth century. The error 
committed by Chase and the federal bench in

these cases was the disregarding of the distinc­
tion between politically exaggerated opinions 
and total intentional factual falsehoods with 
malicious intent—that is, sedition.

The Internal Security Acts of 1798:

Some Concluding Observations

What lessons are learned through the Sedition 
Act of 1798? When a nation is threatened by 
internal and external threats, its natural incli­
nation is to restrict freedoms and locate ene­
mies, both real and exaggerated.

The Founding Fathers, the authors of the 
Declaration of Independence, the drafters and 
ratifiers of the Constitution and the Bill  of 
Rights, found themselves on different sides of 
the meaning of the First Amendment when 
they were forced to implement principles of 
government in the real world, rather than on the 
pages of newspapers in calm debate. The state 
of politics presented them with the possibil­
ity of sedition, treason, and invasion from the 
most powerful army in the world. The Federal­
ists were confronted with an opposition party 
that found intellectual and political sympathy 
with the government of guillotine. The law was 
debatable on whether the First Amendment 
had changed the common-law understanding 
and legality of the law of seditious libel. The 
founding generation was faced with divergent 
theories of the American democratic system 
and the role of the “people” in a democracy. 
War—either with France or Britain—was at 
its door. In 1800, civil  war between the states 
supporting the Federalists and those support­
ing the Republicans was not an idle possibility.

But the nation held together because 
both parties supported the Constitution, its 
principles, and the American experiment.129 

The Federalist lost the election in 1800, gov­
ernmental power was transferred, and not a 
bullet was fired, not a head was lost, no army 
moved, and no mob assembled at the Bastille. 
The system held.

The events of the sedition trials have 
been integrated in our political and histori­
cal memory and into the meaning of the First
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Amendment. Before the Sedition Act and the 
trials of 1798-1800, the meaning of the First 
Amendment had not crystallized regarding 
whether it prevented punishment for what was 
printed, whether it prevented government in­
trusion into the actual publishing of the press, 
or both. The history of the Sedition Act of 
1798 initiated, rather than settled, the issue of 
the meaning of the First Amendment in times 
of national crisis. The power of the government 
to punish speech when such speech interfered 
with government policy in times of war would 
not be settled for more than a century and a 
half after the demise of the Sedition Act of 
1798.

History has judged the Federalist judi­
ciary harshly for enforcing the Sedition Act, as 
an example of judicial acquiescence in—if  not 
complicity with—violations of constitutional 
rights. In defense of the federal judiciary, aside 
from the fact that the Federalists had a plausi­
ble legal and philosophical justification for the 
passage of the Sedition Act, the judiciary had 
not yet developed into the institution it would 
become over the next century and a half. It 
would be three more years after the demise 
of the Sedition Act before the Marshall Court 
would assert its powers of judicial review and 
the ability to declare an act of Congress uncon­
stitutional. It would be well after the Civil  War 
cases of 1860s that the Supreme Court would 
fully  establish itself as an equal branch of gov­
ernment and the plenary arbiter on the issues 
of governmental power and constitutional in­
terpretation. In 1798, the federal judiciary was 
not viewed as and had not yet become the in­
stitutional constitutional bulwark against pres­
idential and/or congressional overstepping of 
constitutional boundaries that it is today. The 
Supreme Court itself ruled in 1827 that the 
constitutional system of elections, not judicial 
pronouncement, was the answer in the event 
of abuse of power by the President. That year, 
the Court held that “ [t]he remedy for this, as 
well as for all other official misconduct, if  it 
should occur, is to be found in the Constitution 
itself.... [T]he frequency of elections, and the

watchfulness of the representatives of the na­
tion, carry with them all the checks which 
can be useful to guard against usurpation or 
wanton tyranny.” 130 The Supreme Court would 

not begin to define the meaning of the First 
Amendment in times of war until the sec­
ond decade of the twentieth century.131 And 

it would be well into the middle of the twen­
tieth century before the federal judiciary and 
the Supreme Court would be appealed to as the 
primary branch of government responsible for 
the protection and defense of individual civil  
liberties and constitutional rights, in times of 
peace or war.
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JEREMY  M.  MCLAUGHLIN

I.  Introduction zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

He nry Clay’s tombstone reads: “ I know no North, no South, no East, no West.”  This transcen­
dence of boundaries seeped into many aspects of Clay’s life, especially his professional career. 
Clay did not confine his life ’s work to one area, or even one branch of the nascent government 
that he held so dear. Undoubtedly, his most significant contributions came from his time spent 
in Congress. When YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAAtlantic M onthly recognized Clay as number 31 out of the top 100 most 
influential Americans, it described him thus: “One of America’s great legislators and orators, he 
forged compromises that held off civil war for decades.” 1 And historians often discuss Clay’s 
executive-branch aspirations as he made multiple unsuccessful attempts for the Presidency. But 
the contributions Clay made as a lawyer and an advocate before the United States Supreme 
Court are often overlooked.2 Often ignoring personal predilections contrary to his argument, 
Clay was a fierce advocate on behalf on his client and lodged powerful arguments in significant 
cases.

Clay began his legal career in Ken­
tucky. His mindset of obfuscating geograph­
ical boundaries likely stemmed from residing 
in a Western frontier state. His residency there 
also gave him the chance to develop expertise 
in certain areas of law, such as land disputes 
and banking, which would serve as the basis 
for a majority of the cases he argued before 
the Court. Arguing during the first half of the 
nineteenth century gave Clay the chance to in­
fluence substantive areas of developing consti­
tutional law. The principles developed in some

of his cases serve as the foundations for cases 
decided by the Court today.

This paper focuses on this lesser-known 
portion of Clay’s life. To better understand 
what made him distinctively Clay, I first exam­
ine Clay’s background and early legal practice. 
This provides a foundation for understanding 
both Clay’s personality and how his early le­
gal pursuits gave him expertise in areas that 
would later help him before the High Court. 
I then touch upon the highlights of his polit­
ical career and any political aspects that later
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had an im p act o n his Su p re m e Co u rt p ractice . 
Finally , I examine Clay and the Court. After 
laying out a brief picture of the Court before 
which Clay argued, I sketch out some advocacy 
characteristics that can be lifted from various 
reports of Clay’s legal proceedings. All  of this 
leads up to seeing Clay’s advocacy animate it­
self before the Court as I examine his key cases 
before the tribunal.

II. Early Development

A. Background
Amidst the Revolutionary War, Henry Clay, 
the seventh of nine children, was born on April  
12, 1777.3 Directly experiencing the war had 
a profound effect on Clay and undoubtedly 
contributed to his strong sense of patriotism 
and aversion to war. Immediately following 
Clay’s father’s sudden death, troops attacked 
“ the house of [his] mother, and [ran] their 
swords into the newly made graves of [his] fa­
ther and grandfather.”4 Sixty years later, Clay 
stated that “ the circumstance of that visit is

vividly remembered, and it will  be to the last 
moment of my life.” 5

Clay was born in Hanover County, Vir ­
ginia, which locals referred to as the “slashes,”  
connoting its low and marshy soil.6 As a child, 

Clay was often spotted riding barefoot on the 
back of a pony, carrying supplies from the 
nearby mill back to his family.7 Thus, he be­
came known as the “Millboy of the Slashes,”  
a term he would use later in life to drama­
tize being a self-made man.8 Clay’s local trips 
also took him to places other than the mill— 
namely, the local courthouse. There he ob­
served renowned Hanover orators, including 
Patrick Henry, inspiring in him a love for ora­
tory and trips to the field, barn, or forest where 
he would practice tirelessly to emulate the or­
ators that he observed.9 Clay later acknowl­
edged that this developmental period was di­
rectly responsible for his success in politics 
(and presumably in the legal field).10

Captain Henry Watkins, Clay’s stepfather, 
perceived the talents Clay possessed. Presum­
ably believing it better for him than the move

Henry Clay was the seventh son of nine children born to Reverend John and Elizabeth Hudson Clay. As aWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

small child, he witnessed British troops ransacking the family home in Ashland, Kentucky (pictured).
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Clay's early legal ca­

reer was based in Rich­

mond, Virginia, whereWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

he passed the bar in 

1797. Pictured is a 

memorial the city of 

Richmond erected to 

honor Clay in 1865, 

thirteen years after his 

death.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

to Kentucky that the family was about to make, 
Watkins convinced a friend of his to make a 
place for Clay as a clerk in the High Court of 
Chancery at Richmond.11 Chiding from fel­
low clerks regarding his “country bumpkin”  
appearance quickly ceased after Clay proved 
himself with his sharp retorts, diligent work, 
and comradeship.12

Soon, Clay’s work habits and observ­
able intellect attracted the attention of George 
Wythe, Chancellor of the High Court. Wythe, 
now nearing seventy, was among the most 
learned jurists in Virginia and had taught the 
likes of Thomas Jefferson, John Marshall, and 
James Monroe.13 Suffering from rheumatism 
or gout and unable to write, Wythe sought 
Clay’s assistance as a scribe. As was becom­
ing a common theme in Clay’s life, he quickly 
impressed the Chancellor. For the next four 
years, Wythe took Clay under his wing as 
Clay labored through translations of Greek 
classics and lessons in law, literature, his­
tory, and social grace.14 Wythe also supported 
Clay in his passion for oratory by encouraging 
the formation of a debating society for pub­
lic speaking.15 This experience greatly honed 
Clay’s oratorical skill and garnered him an 
impressive reputation in Richmond society.16

Wythe’s final act was to arrange for Clay to 
study law under the direction of Virginia At­
torney General Robert Brooke. After a year of 
“ irregular exertions,” 17 Clay received his bar 
certification in November 1797 at the age of 
twenty.18

B. Early Legal Practice19

After receiving his law license, Clay decided to 
follow his family to Kentucky, where the legal 
landscape looked far more promising than the 
already prestigious bar of Virginia. Shortly af­
ter his arrival, he became well known in social 
circles and joined a debating club.20 One of 
Clay’s first orations in the club quickly height­
ened his reputation, as onlookers rose to their 
feet, cheering his masterful display.21 Clay was 
keenly aware of his intelligence, and vanity of­
ten got the best of him as he tried to display it 
for others in a bold and egotistical manner.22 
Nevertheless, recognizing the immense poten­
tial in the new lawyer, prominent area attor­
neys such as John Breckinridge used Clay for 
assistance on cases.23

Within the first couple of years of living 
in Lexington, Clay met and married Lucre­
tia Hart on April 11, 1799.24 By all accounts,
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Lu cre tia was no t a p articu larly attractive 
wo m an, bu t s he is co ns is te ntly de s cribe d as 
a lo y al wife and du tifu l m o the r to the e le ve n 
childre n the co u p le wo u ld have .25 The mar­

riage also provided Clay with a tremendous 
asset, as the Hart family was part of the Ken­
tucky upper class.26

Once Clay started taking his own cases,27 
they often dealt with criminal matters.28 His 

success in these initial cases can largely be at­
tributed to his theatrical powers and his ability 
to relate to the jury.29 Glyndon Van Deusen ex­
plains that oratorical skills, rather than the rule 
of law, carried the day in Kentucky courts of 
the time, and this set a perfect stage for Clay, 
who did not have a deep grasp of the crimi­
nal law.30 With Clay as counsel, jurors gazed 

“ into a face that could mirror every emotion, 
and they felt the spell of a voice whose magic 
subdued the most obdurate heart.” 31 Records 
indicate that out of a random selection of thirty 
of his earliest cases, Clay lost only one.32

Having risen to the top of the state bar, 
Clay soon became involved in the myriad of 
land-dispute cases that plagued the Western 
frontier.33 He proved himself extremely apt in 
handling these disputes, having been person­
ally involved in several,34 and his unmatched 

expertise in land issues would later enhance his 
reputation at the Supreme Court bar.35 Indeed, 

years later, after receiving Clay’s report on the 
public lands, Chief Justice Marshall responded 
that he read it “with attention” and noted that 
he “concur[red] entirely” with Clay’s senti­
ments and urged that it “be approved by a great 
majority of Congress.”36

With Clay’s rising popularity and pres­
tige came increased wealth, which brought 
Clay’s less desirable qualities to the fore­
front. He was known among his contempo­
raries as an inveterate gambler throughout 
his life.37 John Quincy Adams remarked that 
“ ‘ [i]n politics, as in private life, Clay is es­
sentially a gamester,” ’38 and Andrew Jackson 

commented that Clay was a ‘“ typical western 
gambler.’” 39 There is also little doubt that Clay 
was very fond of alcohol and was known for

his frequent social romps. But since he was 
no longer surrounded by Virginia’s aristoc­
racy, this common-man behavior only height­
ened his popularity among the Westerners.40 
Indeed, his popularity was so great that he was 
elected professor and later trustee of Transyl­
vania University in Lexington.41 And this was 

only the humble beginning of his life in elected 
posts.

C. Political Career

Undoubtedly, Clay is most widely known for 
his political accomplishments. During his for­
mative years in Lexington, Clay made a name 
for himself by engaging in debates dealing 
with the political questions of the day. These 
helped him carry the day in 1803 when he 
was elected to the Kentucky legislature, where 
he served several prosperous years, only to 
eventually be elected speaker of the lower 
house.42 Then, when Senator John Adair re­
signed his post in the U.S. Senate, the legisla­
ture overwhelmingly elected Clay to serve out 
the remainder of Adair’s term.43

Clay was sworn into the Senate on De­
cember 29,1806,44 and his initial trip to Wash­
ington was largely unceremonious. He had no 
ambition to be re-elected to the Senate, prefer­
ring the turbulence of the lower house to the 
“solemn stillness of the Senate Chamber.”45 

He wanted to spend this time enjoying the ex­
citement of a new city and to make money; 
clients had supplied him with three thousand 
dollars to represent their interests before the 
U.S. Supreme Court.46 Nevertheless, Clay, un­
like many first-time Senators, did not shy away 
from delivering rousing speeches on the Sen­
ate floor.47 Moreover, in defending his posi­
tion, he did not hesitate to use his wit and 
deliver “biting”  responses to his opponents.48 

In keeping with his histrionic style, Clay did 
not hesitate to use props—such as a handker­
chief, eyeglasses, or a snuffbox—to effectively 
deliver his speeches on the chamber floor.49 

As was typical, Clay made an overall great 
impression on his colleagues: Senator John
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Clay was appointed  to  the U.S. Senate  from  Kentucky at age twenty-nine. He was later elected to the U.S.WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

House of Representatives, serving as its Speaker in the Twelfth through Sixteenth congresses. In this picture, 

Clay addresses the U.S. Senate, with Daniel Webster, his political ally and occasional opponent before the 

Supreme Court, seated to his left.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Quincy Adams remarked that the “new mem­
ber from Kentucky ... is quite a young man— 
an orator—and a republican of the first fire.”50

Clay’s term expired after one year, and 
he returned to Kentucky, where he was re­
elected to the state legislature.51 Then, in 1810, 
the legislature again elected Clay to fill  out 
the term of a resigning Kentucky U.S. Sen­
ator. Now teeming with goals of higher of­
fice, he happily returned to Washington with a 
more deeply held sense of beliefs: “ intense na­
tionalism ... commitment to government en­
couragement and support for domestic man­
ufacturers and internal improvements.” 52 An 
“active unionist,”  Clay also sought to unify the 
country with the advancement of strong for­
eign policies.53 One of Clay’s most important 
arguments during this term was his fierce crit­

icism of rechartering the Bank of the United 
States (BUS).54 With the tie-breaking vote of 
the Vice President, Clay won the debate.55

Pleased with his handling of the BUS is­
sue, Kentuckians granted Clay’s wish to serve 
in the lower chamber, electing him to the 
U.S. House of Representatives in 1811, where 
he was immediately chosen Speaker.56 Over 
the next several years, Clay transformed the 
Speakership into an unprecedentedly power­
ful position, as he used it to ensure success 
for his political will. 57 Even John Randolph, 
political opponent of Clay’s, conceded that the 
“Speaker of the House of Representatives [had 
become] the second man in the Nation.” 58

Upon Clay’s return to Congress, the coun­
try became embroiled in a debate about 
whether to go to war with Great Britain. Clay
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fie rce ly advo cate d fo r President James Madi­
son to take action, delivering some of his most 
powerful and moving speeches—speeches that 
made many fear he had eclipsed the adminis­
tration as the leadership of the party.59 Towards 

the end of the war, Clay, already aspiring to be 
Secretary of State—in his view, a sure way to 
the Presidency—was given a chance to try his 
diplomatic hand. Madison sent him as part of 
the American contingent to negotiate a peace 
treaty with the British.60 Despite frequent out­

bursts between Quincy Adams and Clay, and 
despite Clay’s occasional outlandishly petty 
behavior, the contingent managed to negotiate 
the Treaty of Ghent, which, as Clay explained, 
“certainly reflect[ed] no dishonor on us.” 61

Amidst fervid patriotism, the next politi­
cal battle Clay faced dealt with an old issue: 
the national bank. Since the closing of the 
first BUS, state banks had flourished, caus­
ing wide-ranging problems. So, in 1816, Clay 
reversed his previous position and advocated 
the rechartering of the BUS, discounting the 
arguments he had originally advanced to de­
feat it. As to his previous argument that the 
Constitution did not provide the authority to 
create a bank, Clay advanced a theory of con­
stitutional interpretation mostly unheard of for 
his time: “The force of circumstances and the 
lights of experience may evolve to the fallible 
persons charged with [the Constitution’s] ad­
ministration, [demonstrating] the fitness and 
necessity of a particular exercise of construc­
tive power today, which they did not see at a 
former period.”62 The Bank began operating in 
1817 and would have frequent encounters with 
Clay. Ultimately, Clay would play a prominent 
role in its destruction.

Throughout the next several years, Clay 
busily criticized President Monroe and his for­
eign policy. In part, this is likely attributable 
to his disdain at not being chosen Secretary of 
State.63 When Speaker Clay became vindic­
tive, little in his path was spared. In delivering 
a speech harshly criticizing Jackson’s military 
exploits against the Indians in the Southeastern 
colonies, Clay received shouts, applause, and

days of praise after “one of the ablest speeches 
ever delivered in the House.”64 Unbeknownst 

to Clay at the time, this speech sparked the 
beginning of an intense political rivalry and 
hatred between himself and the future eighth 
President.

In 1820, much of the political debate sur­
rounded issues of the Missouri Compromise. 
Clay, of course, had strong views on the slavery 
question. Though he held an abundant num­
ber of slaves, he regarded the institution as 
the “deepest stain” on the “character of our 
country.” 65 He steadfastly believed that slaves 

should be slowly emancipated and recolonized 
in Africa.66 These are views he had his en­
tire political career, and they likely stemmed 
from the influence of Wythe, Madison, and 
Jefferson.67

After a three-year retirement from polit­
ical life, during which Clay worked to im­
prove his finances, he returned to Congress 
in 1823.68 His time away from Congress was 

spent bolstering his legal practice and secur­
ing for him some cases that he would argue 
in the U.S. Supreme Court.69 But that was not 
Clay’s primary focus. During his time away 
from political life, he decided it was time to 
start implementing his burning ambition to be 
elected President.

The election of 1824 resulted in none 
of the four candidates—Jackson, Adams, 
William Crawford, and Clay70—having a ma­

jority, so the election was thrown into the 
House of Representatives.71 Having received 

the fewest votes, Clay was excluded from 
consideration and instead had the ironic and 
“painful duty ... [of presiding over] deciding 
between the persons who are presented to the 
choice of the H. of R.”72 The House voted 
for Adams as President, despite Jackson hav­
ing received a majority of the popular vote. 
Immediately after the election, Adams offered 
Clay the position of Secretary of State.73 The 
political scene roared with accusations of a 
corrupt bargain between Adams and Clay.74 
Clay’s countermajoritarian vote for Adams, 
coupled with talks of his conspiracy, would
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p lagu e him the re s t o f his life . Fu tu re p o­
litical o p p o ne nts did no t he s itate to re invig­
o rate the s e charge s , and it is like ly this that 
de nie d him the o ffice that he s o avidly s o u ght: 
the Presidency.75 Clay would later admit that 

his acceptance of the office was the stupidest 
mistake of his life.76 At the end of Adams’ 

presidency, Adams sought to bestow contin­
ued prominence on his Secretary of State by 
appointing him to the Supreme Court.77 Clay, 
however, turned down the request.78

By now, Clay had clearly become a na­
tional fixture in American politics. Despite 
losing presidential elections in 1832 and 1844 
and the party nomination in 1840 and 1848, 
Clay continued to have a prominent politi­
cal career both in the House and in subse­

quent elections to the Senate. After the deba­
cle with the election of 1824, the fiercest ha­
tred existed between Jackson and Clay79; thus, 
anti-Jackson tactics defined much of Clay’s en­
suing career. Indeed, this led to a coalition be­
tween Clay and Daniel Webster as they fought 
against many Jacksonian policies.80 For ex­
ample, Webster praised a speech delivered by 
Clay as “a clear and well stated argument... 
certainly at the head of all [Clay’s] efforts”  
and could not countenance that “General Jack- 
son will ever recover from the blow.” 81 At 
times, though, the two oratorical giants did 
clash and the result was often “one of the 
great pleasures afforded Washington society 
during”  that period.82 For example, one of their 

most widely watched debates dealt with a tariff 
bill  in the Senate. Webster delivered a charac­
teristically moving speech, but he was outdone 
by the “ far superior debater” from Kentucky, 
who succeeded in passing the bill.83 Clay him­

self recognized as much by stating that Web­
ster had “gained nothing”  from the debate and 
that spectators assured Clay that he had “com­
pletely triumphed.”84

A final noteworthy showdown occurred 
between the Jacksonians and Clay over the 
issue of, unsurprisingly, the BUS. Jacksoni­
ans despised the Bank and saw it as stand­
ing for aristocratic monopoly and control. The

Bank’s charter was to expire in 1836, but, hop­
ing to embarrass the President and defeat his 
re-election, Clay led Congress in passing a 
bill rechartering the Bank four years before 
that date.85 At the urging of his Attorney Gen­

eral, Roger Taney, however, Jackson vetoed the 
bill.86 But the Bank had originally been char­

tered to exist for four more years. So, again 
acting on Taney’s recommendation, Jackson 
took action to remove the government’s de­
posits from the Bank, hoping to permanently 
kill  the institution.87 When Jackson’s Treasury 
Secretary would not comply with his com­
mands, Jackson replaced him with Taney.88 
The “Great Triumvirate”  of Clay, Webster, and 
John C. Calhoun joined forces on the Sen­
ate floor, eloquently lambasting the adminis­
tration for its unconstitutional acts.89 After a 

debate of unprecedented length, the Senate re­
jected Taney’s appointment and censured the 
President.90

In the aftermath of this intense political 
showdown, the Whig party emerged with Clay 
as its leader. The party stood in staunch oppo­
sition to Jackson and emulated many of Clay’s 
personal views.91 Though Clay would never 
ride his party’s ticket to the Presidency, both 
William Henry Harrison and Zachary Taylor 
were successful in their efforts.92

The strengthening opposition to Jack- 
son did not stop his pursuit of his goals. In
1835, Jackson nominated Taney as an Asso­
ciate Justice on the Supreme Court, which the 
Clay-controlled Senate promptly rejected.93 In

1836, however, with the death of Chief Justice 
Marshall and with Jacksonian Democrats hav­
ing seized control of the Senate, Taney was 
confirmed as the new Chief Justice.94 Clay 
would now have to argue several of his cases 
before a Chief Justice whom he had voted 
against on multiple occasions.95

One of Clay’s final political acts, the one 
for which he is perhaps most famous, granted 
him the name “Great Compromiser.” By the 
mid-nineteenth century, the United States was 
consumed with the slavery question and with 
debating the terms of admittance for several



HENRY CLAY  AND THE SUPREME COURTZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA35

Clay vied  unsuccessfully  for  the Whig  party ’s presidential  nomination  in 1848. This  cartoon  shows  Horace WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

Greeley,  one  of  Clay's  most  influential  Northern  supporters,  driving  the  party  wagon  downhill  toward  political  

doom  (the  horse  has  Clay's  face) while  Uncle  Sam whips  a horse  with  Taylor ’s face uphill  to  victory.

This  cartoon  shows  the disappointment  and anger  of Clay ’s supporters  after  he failed  to become  the Whig  

party ’s presidential  candidate.  He is pictured  in his  library  while  treacherous  conspirators  stalk  the unsus ­

pecting statesman.
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ne w s tate s , s u ch as Califo rnia. Clay’s intense 
love of the Union compelled him to seek a so­
lution amenable to both sides. He presented 
his solution—which called for eight different 
resolutions dealing with different aspects of 
slavery—to the Senate in January 1850.96 Af ­
ter nearly nine months of intense debate in the 
Senate, Congress enacted almost all of Clay’s 
resolutions.97 For the time being, Clay had 
saved the nation. Indicating the faith that his 
fellow politicians had in Clay, years later Sena­
tor Foote remarked that “ ‘ [h]ad there been one 
such man in the Congress of the United States 
as Henry Clay in 1860-61 ... there would, I 
feel sure, have been no civil war.”98

Superlatives describing the masterful dis­
plays Clay delivered on the floors of Congress 
could fill  volumes. Equally prominent among 
historical material are details of Clay’s strong 
nationalistic views and the positive results of 
those for the American people. Indeed, serv­

ing as a leading statesman during the forma­
tive years of the country enabled Clay to play 
a prominent role in legislation that still has ef­
fects today. But Clay did not leave his mark 
solely in the halls of Congress. It must be re­
membered that he was, first and foremost, a 
lawyer. As passionate in his legal arguments 
as in his political ones, Clay lobbed equally 
impressive and consequential displays before 
the Supreme Court.

III. Clay  and  the  Supreme  Court

A. Clay’s Stage: The Court He FacedYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
1. The Courtroom

Fortunately for Clay, who often served as 
a Senator or Congressman while representing 
clients before the Court, he did not have far to 
travel for his arguments. For Clay’s entire legal 
career, the Court met in the Old Supreme Court 
Chamber in the Capitol building. Indeed, this

Known as the “Great Compromiser,” Clay helped pass several antislavery resolutions in 1850 that kept theWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

country from going to pieces over divisive issues. Pictured are the politicians who worked on the Compromise 

of 1850, with Clay sitting to the left of center.
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wo u ld p ro ve ve ry he lp fu l fo r Clay’s arguments 
after the 1830 January Term. As of that Term, 
the Court promulgated a rule that it would be­
gin calling cases for argument based on the 
order in which they stood on the docket." If  

counsel were not present or prepared, the case 
would go to the bottom of the docket absent 
some satisfactory showing.100 Clay’s proxim­
ity to the Court surely helped him prevent his 
cases from being cast to the bottom of the 
docket.

The chamber’s proximity to Clay was 
probably its only positive characteristic. Quite 
the opposite of the Court’s awe-inspiring build­
ing today, the chamber was cramped and 
uncomfortable.101 Fortunately, the bar at this 
time was quite homogeneous, and thus the 
advocates were somewhat accustomed to the 
less than desirable conditions. Three windows 
behind the counsel table served as the cham­
ber’s main source of light, and the low-arched 
ceiling further hampered conditions.102 Argu­

ments would typically begin by eleven o’clock, 
by which time most of the Justices had wan­
dered out to their seats and put on their black 
robes in the courtroom.103 For high-profile 
cases, the lack of seating was obvious, as spec­
tators squeezed beside and around the Jus­
tices and attorneys and in the aisles to see the 
arguments.104

The development of the Court rules il ­
luminates a Court that was increasingly rely­
ing on written materials for the cases before 
it. This reliance started in 1795 and would 
continue through Clay’s career. In 1795, the 
Court demanded a statement with the material 
points from each side of the case.105 Twenty- 
six years later, just before Clay had some of his 
most significant arguments, the Court height­
ened this requirement by calling for a “printed 
brief or abstract” of the case, complete with 
all the materials and points of law and fact 
upon which each party intended to rely.106 

Finally, the Court addressed full printed ar­
guments when it noted in 1833 that it would 
receive such materials if  either side chose to 
submit them, and later instructions provided

that if  submitted, they would stand on equal 
footing as if an appearance were made by 
counsel.107

Examination of a few of Clay’s more 
prominent cases raises doubts as to how strictly 
the Court enforced its rules. Rule 15, promul­
gated in 1801, explained that where a defen­
dant fails to appear, the plaintiff could nev­
ertheless proceed.108 It was precisely for the 
defendant’s lack of counsel, however, that Clay 
got the Court to rehear YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAGreen v. Biddle.109 An­
other rule, promulgated before Clay’s rise, pro­
vided that only two attorneys could argue for 
each party in a case.110 But in just the five cases 
below, Clay appeared with more than one co­
counsel in three of them {Osborn v. Bank ofthe 
United States, Ogden v. Saunders, and Groves 
v. Slaughter).111

One rule Clay did legitimately manage to 
escape was the rule limiting oral arguments 
to two hours per counsel. That rule certainly 
would have proved detrimental to the advo­
cate’s routine; for example, it took six days to 
argue Green v. Biddle.112 But this rule was not 
enacted until 1848.113 Indeed, this rule would 
have been detrimental to a majority of the 
Supreme Court bar at the time. As the rules 
indicate, there was only a gradual develop­
ment in the reliance on written materials in the 
Court. During the practices of the time, writ­
ten materials were not needed, because oral 
argument was a principal part of handling busi­
ness for the Court.114 The populace of the time 

strongly supported this, as visitors sought the 
entertainment of the arguments in the cramped 
chamber.115 Given that a solid body of law had 
yet to develop for the country, references to 
Blackstone, Coke, and English common law 
were frequent, alongside references to Amer­
ican volumes of law—for instance, by Joseph 
Story.116

2. The Justices

Two predominant characteristics formed 
the basis of many appointments to the Supreme 
Court, especially the Marshall Court: geogra­
phy and political affiliation.117 This was a time
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whe n the Co u rt was s till s tru ggling to m ark 
its te rrito ry o n the natio nal s ce ne . It m u s t be 
re m e m be re d, tho u gh, that o the r facto rs we re 
als o s till co m ing to fru itio n in the co u ntry . 
There was still a good deal of rancor about 
the group of unelected judges issuing bind­
ing judgments, so diversifying the Court’s per­
sonnel to represent the views of various geo­
graphical regions helped validate the Court’s 
ruling. At the same time, various Presidents 
were determined to see their visions come to 
pass and thus needed Justices that were sym­
pathetic to their political affiliations. This re­
sulted in a practice similar to today’s Court. 
Advocates knew of the judicial leanings and 
influence of particular Justices and could ad­
vance arguments accordingly. While today’s 
knowledge of the Justices is largely based on 
their legal writings, Clay and his contempo­
raries could base their knowledge on a Jus­
tice’s political conduct, as well as on his ge­
ographic roots. These divergent backgrounds 
produced relatively few sharp divides in the 
Court’s legal expositions, however, due in large 
part to the unprecedented influence of John 
Marshall.

In all of Marshall’s tenure, there were 
only three constitutional cases that did not 
bear his imprint.118 One of those cases was YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
Green v. Biddle, from which Marshall re­
cused himself because of family connections 
to the matter.119 In his absence, Clay faced 

Justices Story, Bushrod Washington, Gabriel 
Duvall, and Thomas Johnson (two other Jus­
tices were ill). From Massachusetts and ap­
pointed by James Madison (though he was 
Madison’s fourth choice),120 the most promi­
nent of this bunch was undoubtedly Justice 
Story, who was second only to Marshall in 
terms of judicial influence. Story was indeed 
unbelievably accomplished, even by modern 
standards. Among other things, he was a thirty- 
four-year member of the Court, a sixteen-year 
professor at Harvard Law School, author of 
thirteen legal commentaries, and author of sev­
eral legislative bills.121 On the Court, Story 
had generally warm relations with all of his

colleagues except Johnson and Henry Bald­

win, which helped add to the cohesiveness of 
the Court.122 In a case such as Green, where 

Marshall was absent, Story was indeed the 
Justice whom advocates were hoping to win 
over.

Both Justices Washington and Johnson 
were nevertheless prominent members of the 
Court, if not to the levels of Story and 
Marshall.123 Having relatively extensive for­
mal legal training, Washington, like Clay, 
served under the tutelage of Chancellor Wythe 
in Virginia.124 Once on the Court, Washing­
ton undertook his duties seriously and sought 
to strengthen the Court’s role. He and Story 
would often correspond during their circuit du­
ties, keeping each other informed of the cases 
they had decided and any important matters 
they saw arising.125 Washington remained a 
devout Federalist throughout his career and 
thus strongly adhered to most of Marshall’s 
opinions for the Court and on the Court’s 
proper role.126 Johnson, on the other hand, 
was not a Marshall prototype. This is not sur­
prising, as Johnson was appointed by Jeffer­
son, a man who largely despised the work of 
Marshall’s Court. Johnson certainly dissented 
more than any other Justice during this time of 
unprecedented cohesiveness,127 but he never 

reached the level of disruption that he sought 
in halting the efforts of the Court.128 This fact 

was much to the dismay of his prime advo­
cate, Jefferson.129 Perhaps due to his differ­
ent legal ideologies, or perhaps due to his 
caustic nature, or perhaps as a result of both, 
Johnson never developed close ties among his 
colleagues.130

For Clay’s next major case, Osborn v. 
Bank of the United States,131 Marshall heard 

the case and wrote the opinion. Little can be 
said in a cursory fashion about Marshall’s in­
fluence on the Court. Throughout his tenure 
as Chief Justice, Marshall transformed the na­
tional stature and power of the Court. A strong 
believer in Federalist policies, Marshall not 
only wanted the Court to become a coequal 
branch of government, but he also wanted the
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Co u rt its e lf to s p e ak s tro ngly . These goals 
explain his strong discouragement of sepa­
rate opinions from the Court. The develop­
ment of cohesiveness did not come with a lack 
of cordiality, however.132 Rather, all accounts 

emphasize how Marshall’s sense of humil­
ity, humor, and flexibility  helped produce the 
harmony within the Court.133

Justice Thomas Todd, recovering from 
sickness, also returned to the Court to hear 
arguments in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAOsborn.134 Todd was the repre­
sentative Justice from the West and hailed from 
Kentucky.135 In Osborn, Todd decided for his 

fellow Kentuckian, despite the strong oppo­
sition against their position from their home 
state. Nonetheless, Clay could not always find 
support in his fellow statesman, for Todd was 
a strong adherent to the Court’s consolidation- 
ist operations and only dissented from Mar­
shall once on a constitutional issue.136 So, as 

was the case for so many Justices, the key to 
winning Todd’s vote was to win Marshall’s. 
Being from Kentucky also helped Todd—and 
thus the Court—in dealing with the plethora of 
land-title cases before it, since his prior legal 
practice had given him much exposure to these 
issues.137

Todd died before Clay’s next significant 
case, Ogden v. Saunders,™ and was replaced 
by another Kentuckian, Robert Trimble.139 

Though Trimble only served on the Court two 
years before dying, he played a role in this sig­
nificant case. Trimble fell in step with most 
of the Marshall Justices, but he did not hesi­
tate, where his conscience demanded, to part 
ways with the Chief. In Ogden, for the first and 
only time in his career, Marshall found him­
self in dissent in a constitutional case. Trimble 
was among the majority, which issued seri­
atim opinions.140 Many of Trimble’s contem­
poraries thought that he would have emerged 
as a strong voice on the Court had his service 
not been limited to only a few years by his 
early death. This is supported by the fact that 
during the 1827 and 1828 Terms, Trimble was 
second only to Marshall in issuing majority 
opinions.141 In a Court dominated by Marshall

and with able jurists such as Story, this was no 
small feat for a new Justice.142

By the time of Clay’s next case, Briscoe 
v. Bank of Kentucky,™ the biggest change in 

personnel was Taney’s assumption of the Chief 
Justiceship. As discussed above, Clay unsuc­
cessfully put forward no small effort to deny 
this position to Taney, though he later came to 
retract his admonitions—whether that retrac­
tion was genuine or not.144 Unlike his prede­
cessor, Taney was a well-known supporter of 
states’ rights and Jacksonian policies. Addi­
tionally, in contrast to his predecessor’s Court, 
Taney’s Court was an ideologically fractured 
one.145 For example, still on the Court was 
Justice Story, who more than any other em­
bodied the ideals of the prior era.

Few of the Justices that sat for Clay’s 
two major cases during this period are exten­
sively noteworthy. For instance, Justices John 
McLean and Baldwin are renowned, not for 
their contributions to the Court, but rather 
for their political aspirations and interests in 
matters outside the judicial realm.146 On the 
other hand, Justices James Wayne and Philip 
Barbour did contribute to the Bench.147 Both 
of these Justices were decidedly in Taney’s 
camp as defenders of Jacksonian policies and 
typically ruled in favor of states’ rights and 
against the Bank of the United States.148 A fi ­
nal noteworthy change occurred in the Court 
for Clay’s last two cases. Due to concern at 
the growing number of states in which the Jus­
tices had to preside as circuit judges, two more 
seats were added to the Court during Jackson’s 
presidency.149 Justices John Catron and John 
McKinley took these two seats, and Clay faced 
both of them during his arguments in Groves 
v. Slaughter.™

During his array of arguments, Clay faced 
no fewer than sixteen different Justices. Ear­
lier in his career, the Court was typically more 
cohesive. Gradually, however, divergent opin­
ions arose, and Justices were no longer so 
concerned about speaking with one voice. For 
Clay the advocate, this demanded arguments of 
the highest quality, so that even Justices with
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dive rge nt ap p ro ache s wo u ld ado p t his p o s i­
tio n. The details of Clay’s advocacy abilities 
certainly illuminate how he approached the 
stage before him and garnered a reputation as 
one of the great advocates of his time.

B. Advocacy Characteristics

Both in court and on the Senate floor, Clay 
was a performer. He possessed a supreme abil­
ity to “stampede”  audiences with the authority 
of his presentation.151 When he lodged an ar­
gument, the delivery was distinctively Clay. 
His speaking and advocacy style was different 
from other great orators of the time. For ex­
ample, Webster could outmatch Clay in the art 
of declamation, but Clay would often outshine 
Webster in the art of debate.152 Though Web­
ster is rightfully regarded as one of the most 
prominent advocates before the Court, “ [h]e 
never thundered with the wild vehemence of 
Clay.” 153 Three elements enabled Clay to com­
mand respect for his positions: a deep loyalty 
to his client; the intellectual force of his argu­
ment; and, his theatrical yet warm delivery.

Lawyering was Clay’s chief source of 
livelihood. He knew that to succeed, he needed 
to passionately argue for his clients’ interests. 
And he utilized any means necessary to try and 
secure a victory for his client. For instance, he 
ventured to the Virginia legislature to try and 
secure a compromise for his client in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAGreen 
v. Biddle,154 and he sought to use his political 
influence to secure a Court nomination that 
would advance his client’s interest in Groves 
v. Slaughter,155 In all of his cases, he argued 
ardently to defeat his opposition. He enthu­
siastically advanced the merits of his clients’ 
position as if  they were his own.156 Being un­
characteristically modest, Clay once described 
his own performance in an argument by noting 
that “his nature was warm, his temper ardent, 
his disposition enthusiastic.” 157 Of course, one 
would expect this kind of dedication out of any 
modem lawyer. What makes Clay’s unyielding 
dedication unique is the particular juxtaposi­
tion of his political life and his cases.

This was a time when governments and 
institutions were defining their role in the new 
republic, and Clay knew that some of his cases 
would set the direction for the new govern­
ment. This awesome responsibility did not dis­
tract Clay from his lawyerly dedication, how­
ever. For example, though Clay once urged 
Congress not to renew the charter for the BUS, 
he later helped that same Bank secure victories 
in the Court, and though he fought politically 
for strengthening the federal government, he 
argued for Kentucky’s right to enter a contract 
without congressional approval. Furthermore, 
from the beginning of his political career, Clay 
hoped slowly to eviscerate the institution of 
slavery, but this did not prevent him from win­
ning a case upholding the validity of a sales 
contract for slaves. In short, though Clay was 
astutely aware that the political consequences 
for many of his cases could be adverse to his 
personal beliefs, an observer in the courtroom 
with counsel Clay would never know.

Regardless of how well a speech is de­
livered, it cannot make up for a lack of sub­
stance. This was not a problem that plagued 
Clay. The intellectual force of his arguments 
was unquestionable during his lucid exami­
nations of legal questions. Whether speaking 
to a jury of Kentuckians or to Justices of the 
Supreme Court, Clay deconstructed his argu­
ment into distinct, simple points to which ev­
eryone could relate. Robert Remini states the 
point well: “ [H]e made uncommon good sense 
when he spoke. He persuaded listeners; he did 
not bamboozle them.” 158 In court proceedings, 
Clay knew the critical point on which his op­
ponent’s case turned and took little time in 
discrediting it.159 If  necessary, he would not 
hesitate to directly attack his adversary if  he 
thought it would help his point.160

The third and final element of Clay’s pre­
sentation was his reliance on histrionics. The 
gaunt, six-feet-tall advocate would emphasize 
his points, dramatically yet gracefully, with 
various movements of his hands, legs, torso, 
and head.161 Along with his body, he used 
dramatic effect in his enchanting bass voice,
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Clay  was  a brilliant  oral  advocate.  One observer  mar ­

veled at “his magic manner, the captivating tones ofWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

his voice, and a natural grace, singular in its influ­

ence, and peculiarly his own.” He is photographed 

here as an old man in the 1850s by Mathew Brady.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

which dre w in the lis te ne r as Clay’s voice 
rose to high pitches before sinking to a low 
whisper.162 In referring to Clay’s voice, a con­
temporary asked, “Whoever heard one more 
melodious?” 163 These pyrotechnics engaged 

the audience, so that even when Clay uttered 
a hushed aside, they listened intently “so as 
not to miss these delicious morsels.” 164 For the 
emotional Clay, crying was not out of the ques­
tion in passionately delivering a point.165 This 
emotional performance cast Clay in a friendly, 
compassionate light, such that his jurors and 
jurists could more easily relate to his points. In 
essence, he had an acute understanding of psy­
chology and knew how to convincingly excite 
his audience.

Clay’s abilities were well known through­
out the nation. Throngs of people would ap­
pear to hear him speak. Newspapers covering 
the otherwise unremarkable case of YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAHouston v. 
City Bank of New Orleans'66 in 1848 detailed 
the fervor surrounding Clay’s appearance:

At an early hour, the avenues lead­
ing to the Capitol were thronged with 
crowds of the aged and young,... all 
anxious to hear, perhaps for the last 
time, the voice of the sage of Ash­
land. On no former occasion was the 
Supreme Court so densely packed.
... It has been often said, and truly, 
that he never was and never could 
be, reported successfully. His magic 
manner, the captivating tones of his 
voice, and a natural grace, singular in 
its influence, and peculiarly his own, 
can never be transferred to paper.167

Another report of the argument relayed that

[i]t mattered not to the audience, 
however, how dry or intrinsically un­
interesting the subject. It was Mr.
Clay they wished to hear. ... They 
hung upon his words as if  each was an 
inspiration. [The years] have passed 
over him without diminishing the 
brilliancy of his eye or his towering 
form.168

A final story reported that “Mr. Clay exhibited 
as much vigor of intellect, clearness of eluci­
dation, power of logic and legal analysis, as he 
ever did in his palmiest day.” 169

It should be noted that there is no uni­
versal consensus on all aspects of Clay’s legal 
abilities. Some would look beyond Clay’s the­
atrics and question the depth of his knowledge, 
especially when discussing a complex legal 
doctrine.170 Even Webster, close political ally 
and sometimes co-counsel to Clay, once com­
mented that Clay was really “no lawyer” and 
“no reasoner.” 171 Clay himself helped promul­
gate this view by commenting on his educa­
tional laziness as a youth.172 Notwithstanding 
the criticism, however, Clay often succeeded 
in his advocacy roles and was aided by the fact 
that winning arguments in the courts of the 
time—even the Supreme Court—were often 
based on common-law principles and common 
sense.173 A closer look at some of Clay’s chief 
cases helps animate Clay the lawyer.
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C. Major  CaseszyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
During Clay’s legal career, he argued twenty- 
three cases before the Supreme Court, winning 
thirteen of them.174 The cases below repre­

sent those dealing with particularly important 
issues at the time of the case, or those that 
still significantly affect jurisprudence today. 
Of the five cases discussed, Clay won all but 
the first. Details on Clay’s other cases are much 
sparser.175

1. Green v. Biddle, 21 U.S. 1 (1823)

Land issues were Clay’s unquestioned 
specialty, which benefited him before a 
Supreme Court docket preoccupied with such 
cases.176 To understand the circumstances of 
this case, one needs to understand the circum­
stances of Kentucky’s independence. The state 
had previously been a part of neighboring Vir ­
ginia. During that time, in exchange for mil­
itary service and money, Virginia recklessly 
made large, ill-defined land grants in its West­
ern lands.177 Since many Virginian families, 
including that of Chief Justice Marshall,178 
made a living by trading Kentucky lands, some 
assurances were necessary in order to gain 
independence.179 This assurance came in the 

form of an agreement between the states: “All  
private rights and interests of lands within the 
said district [Kentucky], derived from the laws 
of Virginia prior to such separation, shall re­
main valid and secure under the laws of the 
proposed state, and shall be determined by 
the laws now existing in [Virginia].” 180 Af ­
ter independence, however, Kentucky wanted 
to encourage settlement in the state, so the leg­
islature promulgated laws requiring compen­
sation for past improvements made by a Ken­
tucky farmer being displaced by a Virginian 
claimant under the state agreement.181

Remarkably, these conflicting laws went 
unchallenged until decades later, when Vir ­
ginian John Green sued Kentuckian Richard 
Biddle. Green sought to eject Biddle and 
claimed that the interstate compact voided the 
Kentucky law and thus Biddle was not enti­

tled to compensation.182 When the case made 

its way to the Supreme Court in January 1821, 
Biddle appeared without an attorney.183 Justice 

Story delivered the opinion of the Court, find­
ing the Kentucky laws unconstitutional by vi­
olating that state’s agreement with Virginia.184 
Within a week, Clay intervened as YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAamicus cu­

riae, urging the Court to rehear the case; this 
was the first amicus intervention in Supreme 
Court history.185 Since the titles of “numerous 
occupants of land”  would be “ irrevocably de­
termined”  by the Court’s decision, he argued, 
it should have the benefit of counsel on both 
sides.186

The Court agreed to rehear the case, but 
not before Clay tried to utilize his powers of 
compromise. First, he convinced the Kentucky 
legislature to appoint himself and George Bibb 
as commissioners to Virginia.187 The two ad­
dressed the Virginia legislature, proposing that 
Virginia either accept Kentucky’s fair laws or 
establish an independent commission to settle 
the disputes (the compact between the states 
required such a commission).188 Virginia re­
jected both options, as well as a later effort 
by Clay and Benjamin Watkins Leigh, a Vir ­
ginian, to establish a commission.189 All  Clay 

had left was his argument combating Justice 
Story’s opinion in the 1821 case, which had 
provoked severely adverse reactions through­
out the Western frontier.

In Story’s first opinion, he mainly re­
lied on common-law principles of land regula­
tion, citing no constitutional authority voiding 
Kentucky’s laws. During re-argument, Green’s 
counsel supplied this missing link: the Con­
tract Clause.190 The interpretation they urged 

was novel; previously, the Clause had been 
invoked only to protect private parties from 
a state, not one state from another.191 But 
Clay did not attack this novel theory. In­
stead, he lodged a states’-rights argument,192 
undercut the enforceability of the agreement 
by pointing out that Congress had not ex­
pressly approved the interstate compact as con­
stitutionally required,193 and highlighted the 
fact that Virginia itself had failed to adhere
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to the co m p act whe n it re fu s e d to ap p o int 
a co m m is s io n.194 After emphasizing this last 
point, which called the Court’s jurisdiction into 
question, he appealed to “ the political consid­
erations and consequences,” stressing that the 
Court should use the “most deliberate cau­
tion” in deciding cases between two states 
because the authority of the Court depended 
“upon the prudence with which this high trust 
is executed.” 195

Perhaps heeding Clay’s warnings about 
the consequences of its decision, the Court 
delayed its decision for a year. Indeed, the 
Court seems to have struggled mightily with 
the questions before it, intimating that the Jus­
tices wanted the result to uphold the validity of 
the laws.196 But in 1823, Justice Washington 
delivered an opinion that again invalidated the 
Kentucky law, though making a more moder­
ate argument about the Court’s ability to scru­
tinize state legislation.197 Washington rejected 
Clay’s arguments and found that Congress had 
implicitly approved the agreement by approv­
ing Kentucky’s statehood.198 Moreover, rely­
ing on YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAFletcher v. Peck,199 the Court adopted 

the theory for which the case would later be 
famous: “ [T]he duty... of this Court... [is] to 
declare a law unconstitutional, which impairs 
the obligation of contracts, whoever may be 
the parties to them.”200

The effects of the decision were monu­
mental, and sharp criticism quickly surfaced. 
Shortly after the decision, Virginia invoked a 
states’-rights argument in another unrelated 
case before the Court, prompting a lamenta­
tion from Clay to longtime Virginian corre­
spondent Francis Brooke:

When, in the case of Cohans and Vir ­
ginia, [Virginia ’s] authority was alone 
concerned, she made the most stren­
uous efforts against the exercise of 
power by the Supreme Court. But 
when the thunders of that Court were 
directed against poor Kentucky, in 
vain did she invoke Virginian aid.
[The Court’s decision] cripples [Ken­

tucky] more than any other measure 
ever affected the independence of any 
State in this Union, and not a Virginia 
voice is heard against the decision.201

The complaints mainly came in two forms.202 
First, the Court had decided a major constitu­
tional case with a minority of the Judges,203 

and of the four present, only three joined the 
main opinion.204 The second criticism was in 

the form of states’-rights arguments that the 
Court was legislating communities’ municipal 
codes.205 Under the consultation of Clay and 
John Rowan, the Kentucky legislature pub­
lished a remonstrance against the decision,206 
and the U.S. Senate undertook debate about 
possible revisions to the Court’s personnel, ju­
risdiction, and internal procedures.207 These 
efforts understandably startled the Chief Jus­
tice, who wrote Clay that it is a “most dan­
gerous thing[]” to alter a law in the heat of 
passion.208

The loss of the case was not due to a lack 
of superior advocacy. Indeed, after oral argu­
ments, Justice Story wrote to the absent Justice 
Todd: “Your friend Clay has argued before us 
with a good deal of ability and if  he were not 
a candidate for higher offices, I should think 
he might attain great eminence at this Bar. But 
he prefers the fame of popular talents to the 
steady fame of the Bar.”209

In the end, no drastic actions were taken 
against the Court. Later cases handled by Clay 
indicate that the Court learned some political 
lessons from this case. Overall, Clay took his 
loss in stride and tried to temper his state’s 
political reactions.210 Of course, this could 
partly be attributable to the fact that Clay was 
largely arguing against his personal predilec­
tions. In Green, he found himself arguing for 
states’ rights contravening his highly nation­
alistic views, and also arguing for squatters’ 
rights despite his strong belief in land titular 
rights. But, as noted above, Clay’s fierce com­
mitment to his client—especially when the 
rights of his home state were involved—was 
a driving force for the advocate.
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2. Osborn v. Bank of the United States,zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 
22 U.S. 738 (1824)

It was no t lo ng u ntil Clay’s next signif­
icant appearance in the Old Supreme Court 
Chamber. This case dealt with another hot- 
button issue in Kentucky: the Bank of the 
United States. But this time, as longtime coun­
sel for the Bank and friend of Nicholas Biddle, 
its president, Clay was on the wrong side vis- 
a-vis his Kentucky constituents.

This case arose out of Ohio, where a slip­
ping economy created a financial crisis that 
many debtors, as they had done in other states, 
blamed on the Bank. To effectively doom the 
institution, the state imposed a $50,000 an­
nual tax on the Bank and empowered Ralph 
Osborn, the state auditor, to seize the money 
in the event of a refusal to pay.211 Osborn later 
took such action, directing his agents to seize 
over $100,000 and deposit it with the state 
treasurer.212 Prior to this, the Bank had pre­

dicted Osborn’s actions and obtained a tempo­
rary injunction against seizure of the money.213 
Shortly thereafter, Osborn’s agents, ignoring 
the federal injunction, retrieved the money and 
were imprisoned for trespass and for violating 
the order.214

The Bank then sought damages from the 
state officials, which resulted in a ruling in 
favor of the Bank.215 Rejecting settlement of­
fers after the officials refused compliance,216 

the case went to federal circuit court, which 
found that Ohio had no authority to tax the 
Bank.217 Ohio promptly appealed this decision 
to the Supreme Court, questioning whether 
Ohio could constitutionally tax the Bank and 
whether the Eleventh Amendment prevented 
the Bank from bringing a claim against the 
state in federal courts. The Bank retained Clay, 
and after a few days of argument, the Court 
consolidated the case with one from Geor­
gia and sought re-argument on the jurisdic­
tional question concerning the provision in the 
Bank’s charter authorizing it to sue in federal 
courts.218 For this re-argument, Webster and 

John Sergeant joined Clay in defending the 
Bank.219

In both sets of arguments, Clay focused on 
the question of whether the federal courts had 
jurisdiction in Marshall’s Court; Clay under­
standably felt that YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM cCulloch was secure.220 

His argument stressed that the suit was brought 
against Osborn individually and that the state 
was the “party omitted.”221 Relying on the 
Court’s decision in United States v. Peters,222 
he argued that “ the suit concerns the public 
acts of an officer of the State government, who 
is one of the defendants, [and] does not make 
the State itself a necessary party.”223 Thus, he 
concluded the Eleventh Amendment did not 
bar the suit. Then, arguing that the charter 
of the Bank granted jurisdiction to the fed­
eral courts, Clay remarked that the language 
was “ free from all ambiguity”  and the purpose 
was to correct this very defect—denying the 
Bank the ability to sue in federal courts—in its 
prior charter.224 Moreover, Congress had con­
stitutional authority to bestow this jurisdiction. 
Congress had passed the law chartering the 
Bank, meaning that “but for the law, the case 
would never have existed,” and thus this was 
a case “arising under” the laws of the United 
States.225 After all, “ the power to create a fac­
ulty of any sort, must infer the power to give it 
the means of exercise.” 226

The Supreme Court, via Chief Justice 
Marshall, agreed entirely with Clay. Marshall 
cursorily explained that where an officer of 
the state is named in the action’s title, he 
cannot claim immunity under the Eleventh 
Amendment.227 That a state had an interest 

in the outcome was inapposite; the state itself 
had to be named in the record for immunity 
to apply.228 The Court perceived no ground on 
which to sustain Osborn’s claim that Congress 
could not bestow jurisdiction upon the fed­
eral courts, and it upheld the constitutional­
ity of that action in chartering the Bank. It 
formulated a test for determining when the 
“Arising Under” Clause granted jurisdiction: 
“ [  W]hen a question to which the judicial power 
of the Union is extended by the constitution, 
forms an ingredient of the original case, it 
is in the power of Congress to give [federal]
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ju ris dictio n, altho u gh o the r qu e s tio ns o f fact o r 
law m ay be invo lve d.”229 Echoing YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM cCulloch, 
the opinion concluded by affirming the power 
of Congress to create the Bank and denying 
Ohio’s right to tax it.230 Though agreeing with 
the Court regarding the validity of the Bank, 
Justice Johnson dissented, expressing concern 
about the broad reading given the “Arising 
Under” Clause and seeing no reason why the 
Bank could not first litigate its conflicts in 
state courts before appealing to the Supreme 
Court.231

Naturally, the Bank was overjoyed with 
the decision, since it did not have to ini­
tially fight its battles in typically unsym­
pathetic state courts. Thus, the decision is 
credited with establishing the theory of protec­
tive jurisdiction.232 But the decision rightfully 
alarmed states’-rights supporters, as it effec­
tively ruled that no contested federal question 
need exist for federal jurisdiction to attach to 
the Bank. Even in suits not dealing with the 
Bank, once a federal issue was present, the 
federal courts could incidentally decide other 
nonfederal issues of the case.233 Clay, who had 
argued with “more than ordinary ability,”  had 
seemingly settled the questions surrounding 
the Bank’s propriety once and for all.234 Os­

born continues to carry major implications to­
day, sometimes serving a foundational purpose 
in a case.235 Indeed, between 1981 and 1996, 
it was cited twenty-six times by the Supreme 
Court.236

3. Ogden v. Saunders, 25 U.S. 213 

(1827)

In 1808, George Ogden, a New York res­
ident, assigned a bill of exchange to Lewis 
Saunders, a nonresident.237 Later, Ogden, re­
lying on a state bankruptcy law from 1806, de­
clared bankruptcy and did not pay Saunders.238 

Though the Court had struck down a state 
bankruptcy law in Sturges v. Crowninshield2V) 

because it applied retrospectively, the law 
at issue here applied prospectively and dis­
charged state debtors from debts to out-of- 
state creditors.240 The Court had yet to ad­
dress the constitutionality of prospective state

bankruptcy laws, and thus there was great in­
terest in the case. The New York Statesman 
proclaimed that next to one other case of the 
Term, it “will  be of more importance to the 
future welfare of the State than any other 
which will  be” argued.241 It explained that “ if  
Congress declines passing any bankrupt law 
and the States are prohibited from adopting 
laws for themselves, the commercial state of 
the country will  present a spectacle not found 
in history.”242

After Saunders prevailed in a suit he 
brought in federal court, Ogden appealed to 
the Supreme Court, pressing the validity of 
the state bankruptcy law.243 In February 1824, 
Clay, along with Charles Haines and Ogden 
himself, argued the case against Webster and 
Henry Wheaton.244 Though Clay was gener­
ally in favor of federal power, he also rec­
ognized the disparity of the situation, since 
there was no national bankruptcy law. Indeed, 
he was seeking to remedy this situation in 
Congress.245

Webster and Wheaton argued that 
Congress had the exclusive authority to im­
pose “uniform” bankruptcy laws, and thus 
states had no authority in this realm, regard­
less of whether such laws were prospective 
or retrospective.246 Clay’s chief goal was to 
distinguish the immediate case from Sturges 
and argue that states were prevented only from 
enacting retrospective bankruptcy laws.247 He 

stressed that though some powers of Congress 
are exclusive by their terms, the power to pass 
bankruptcy legislation is not such a power, and 
thus a state can enact one “provided such law 
does not impair the obligation of contracts, and 
provided there be no act of Congress in force to 
establish a uniform system of bankruptcy con­
flicting with such law.”248 Webster argued that 
the obligation of a contract was an obligation 
to the “principles of natural justice.”249 Clay 
quickly retorted that no such power invoking 
natural law “has been recognised and reserved 
in our constitution.”250 Instead, the obligation 
was to the actual contract entered into, sub­
ject to state law.251 Clay finally commented 

on the terrible practical effects of a ruling
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adve rs e to his clie nt by warning that “ if  the 
Co u rt s ho u ld p ro no u nce the State bankru p t 
co de s invalid, and Co ngre s s s ho u ld re fu s e to 
s u p p ly the ir p lace by the e s tablis hm e nt o f u ni­
fo rm laws thro u gho u t the Union, the country 
would present the extraordinary spectacle of a 
great commercial nation, without laws on the 
subject of bankruptcy.”252

After arguments, the Court could not 
reach a consensus and thus carried over the 
case for several Terms. In the intervening 
Terms, Justice Todd died. Clay knew that 
Todd had disagreed with Clay’s recent efforts 
on state bankruptcy legislation.253 Given that 
Todd had been the Justice from Kentucky, Clay 
had even more than his usual influence in se­
curing his replacement. As such, Clay took 
the opportunity to have John Quincy Adams 
appoint Trimble, whom Clay believed would 
help the Court decide in favor of his client.254 
When re-argument occurred in 1827, Clay, 
who was now busy with duties as Secretary of 
State, did not participate.255 When the Court 
finally issued its opinion, it became clear that 
Clay’s maneuverings had paid off: Preserving 
the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBASturges precedent, Trimble joined with a 
majority of the seriatim opinions, which ac­
cepted Clay’s distinction on the timing of the 
law, upholding state bankruptcy laws that only 
applied prospectively.256

It was the first and only time in the Mar­
shall Court that Marshall was in dissent and 
unable to forge a majority in a constitutional 
case.257 He took the Court to task, arguing that 

“superior strength may give the power, but can­
not give the right.”258 In addition, the Court, 
in a part of the case often overlooked,259 also 
held that the New York law could not discharge 
this specific contract, as Saunders was an out- 
of-state resident:

[Wjhen ... the States pass beyond 
their own limits, and the rights of 
their own citizens, and act upon the 
rights of citizens of other States, 
there arises a conflict of sovereign

power, and a collision with the ju­
dicial powers granted to the United 
States, which renders the exercise of 
such a power incompatible with the 
rights of other States, and with the 
constitution of the United States.260

Short of a long legal analysis, the opinions 
in the case are hard to capture, as the Justices 
were far from unified in their justifications. 
In spite of the disparate opinions, however, 
the case was an important one, as it was the 
first obligation-of-contracts case in which the 
Court upheld a state debtor law against con­
stitutional attack.261 And though Clay lost the 
specific case for his client, the ruling com­
plied with his political beliefs: States could 
enact bankruptcy laws, but the Court limited 
the applicability of such laws.

4. Briscoe v. Bank of Kentucky, 36 U.S. 
257(1837)

Given his long career of legal service to 
the BUS, it was unsurprising that Clay would 
argue another important banking case before 
the Supreme Court, now under the direction of 
Chief Justice Taney. The case, in which Clay 
was not originally counsel, was initially  argued 
in 1834, but given absences, it resulted in a 3- 
2 decision.262 Likely learning a lesson from 

Green, the decision announced that unless ab­
solutely necessary, the Court would not decide 
constitutional questions “unless four judges 
concur in opinion, thus making the decision 
that of a majority of the whole court”  and thus 
set the case for re-argument.263

The case dealt with a loan made by the 
Bank of Kentucky264 to John Briscoe in the 
form of state bank notes that the bank had re­
ceived from debtors.265 Attempting to avoid 
repayment of these notes, Briscoe argued that 
they were essentially bills of credit, which the 
state was constitutionally forbidden from is­
suing based on Article I, Section 10 of the 
Constitution.266 Critical to his argument was 

his proposition that the bank was the agent 
of the state, as all of its stock was owned by
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the s tate .267 Notably, in the early 1820s Clay 

himself held many of these notes, which he 
was unsuccessful in redeeming.268 But, being 
a dedicated advocate, this fact did not interfere 
with the defense of his client.

Clay’s chief goal in argument was distin­
guishing YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBACraig v. M issouri?69 a recent Mar­
shall Court decision finding that loan cer­
tificates were considered bills of credit and 
thus unconstitutional.270 Even though Clay 

had recently lobbied against Taney’s Chief 
Justiceship, he thought the realignment of 
the Court was in his favor.271 Two of the 

Craig dissenters—Thompson and McLean— 
were on the Bench, as well as Taney, Barbour, 
and Wayne, all Democratic appointees and 
presumably states’-rights advocates. So here 
was the nationalistic Clay advocating states’ 
rights—a position native to his political ad­
versaries now looking at him from the other 
side of the Bench. These striking positions 
do not surface today in a legal climate where 
elected representatives—especially those at 
Clay’s level—do not argue cases.

Clay’s argument focused on distinguish­
ing the Kentucky notes from the Missouri bills 
of credit and stressing the disastrous effects of 
a negative decision for the bank. Though the 
state owned all the stock and appointed all 
the directors of the bank, Clay argued that the 
bank was a separate institution because its of­
ficial acts were in its own name, not that of 
the state.272 Thus, when performing the offi ­
cial act of issuing notes, the bank was issuing 
notes of the corporation, not of the state. He 
also lamented on policy reasons for a decision 
in his favor and thus urged a strict reading of 
the “bills of credit” constitutional text. Point­
ing out that the bank’s notes resembled those 
used by state banks throughout the nation, he 
predicted that it would be “disastrous”  were the 
court to rule against him, since “ large and pros­
perous commercial operations of our country 
are carried on by bills of exchange, notes, and 
bank notes.”273 To avoid such a quandary, he 
argued, the Court should insure that “all will  be 
safe”  by “keepfing] to the plain meaning of the

terms of the constitution, and... not seeking], 
by construction, to include in its prohibitions”  
the notes here in question.274

In an opinion by Justice McLean, a Craig 
dissenter, the Court found that the notes were 
not bills of credit. Narrowing the holding of 
Craig and adopting Clay’s state-bank distinc­
tion, the Court explained that a bill of credit 
had to be “ issued by the sovereign power, con­
taining a pledge of its faith, and designed to 
circulate as money.”275 The Court also seemed 

to pay heed to Clay’s premonitions of disaster. 
Given that Jackson had nearly dismantled the 
BUS, state banks were becoming more eco­
nomically vital. McLean acknowledged this, 
counseling against a decision that would strike 
“a fatal blow against the State banks, which 
have capital of near four hundred millions 
of dollars and which supply almost the en­
tire circulating medium of the country.”276 
Justice Story issued a powerful dissent, ar­
guing that the state merely had its agent, 
the bank, issue the notes, and that they were 
bills of credit, since they were “designed to 
circulate as currency.”277 Seeking to “vindi­
cate [Marshall’s] memory,” Story made fre­
quent references to the late Chief Justice, not­
ing that he would be in agreement on the 
question.278

Most agree that neither Clay’s arguments 
nor the Court’s opinion in Briscoe are wa­
tertight. One can imagine that Clay knew it 
was a stretch to argue that the bank was inde­
pendent of the state. After all, this paralleled 
Osborn, in which Clay had argued that since 
Congress chartered the bank, it had the abil­
ity to affect its operations. Without a doubt, 
however, Clay knew the members of the Court 
that he was addressing and was confident that 
they would latch onto his distinction for both 
practical and politically ideological reasons. 
In fact, the opinion in Briscoe, which some 
charged as the beginning of the destruction 
of Marshall and his court, caused little uproar 
among most. Ironically, though not unexpect­
edly, most of the criticism came from Clay’s 
own Whig party.279
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5. Groves v. Slaughter, 40 U.S. 449zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 
(1841)

Clay’s final significant case before the 
High Court dealt with the issue of slavery, 
which by now had taken center stage in na­
tional politics. In an effort to keep capital 
within the state, the Mississippi constitution 
of 1832 forbade the introduction of slaves 
as merchandise for sale.280 In 1836, Robert 

Slaughter, a non-Mississippi resident, entered 
the state and sold a group of slaves to Moses 
Groves, who subsequently refused to pay for 
the slaves, claiming that the sales contract was 
illegal under the state constitution.281 In fed­
eral court, Slaughter prevailed once the court 
found that the constitutional provision was not 
self-executing and, at the time of the sale in 
question, the legislature had not enacted an 
implementing statute.282 Without this imple­
menting statute, the court declared, the provi­
sion was ineffective and thus did not bar the 
interstate transactions. Groves appealed to the 
Supreme Court. Not only did the Court have to 
decide whether the note itself was void, but it 
also had to grapple with whether the constitu­
tional provision itself was an unconstitutional 
restriction on Congress’s interstate commerce 
power. The enormity of the question beck­
oned the nation’s “most talented counsel to 
the case” : arguing on behalf of Slaughter were 
Clay, Webster, and Walter Jones.283

Throngs of people, including many “dis­
tinguished counselors ... and scores of men 
eminent in other professions,” packed the 
courtroom.284 Many had come “ to mark the 

contrast between Mr. Clay’s and Mr. Webster’s 
mode of address.”285 The New York paper re­
ported that “Mr. Clay spoke for some three 
hours, and with a patient audience to the end. 
With a jury, he would be irresistible. With 
grave Judges to address, of course he is less 
successful; but many who heard him today 
pronounced his argument to be a very able 
one.”286 Indeed, a Massachusetts report noted 

that Clay’s argument was “one of the most 
forcible legal arguments that I ever heard. ... 
Before he had done he established the position

fully, to my satisfaction, and I am inclined to 
believe also, to that of most of his auditors, 
whatever effect it might have had upon the 
Court.” 287 Finally, the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBASouthern Patriot fell in 
favor of Clay, calling his performance “a splen­
did argument.”288

Jones opened the argument for the team, 
contending that the state constitutional provi­
sion was self-executing and that the later im­
plementing statute did not abrogate the pro­
vision because, as the Court had previously 
held, the Contract Clause of the federal Con­
stitution prohibited state laws affecting agree­
ments retrospectively.289 He then deferred to 
“ the Ajax and the Achilles of the bar” to ar­
gue the constitutional questions involved.290 
Picking up where Jones left off, Clay began 
his argument elaborating on the effects of a 
decision for Groves. He maintained that mil­
lions of dollars were at stake for contracts be­
tween Mississippians and out-of-state sellers 
and that a ruling in favor of Groves would evis­
cerate these debts.291 He then contended that 

Congress had the “exclusive”  right to regulate 
interstate commerce.292 The effect of Missis­
sippi’s provision, he argued, was to “annihi­
late” commerce, which was a far cry from 
“ regulation.” States could only control “ the 
condition of slaves within their borders.”293 
Webster finished the argument by stressing 
that per Gibbons v. Ogden, Congress had ex­
clusive regulatory power, and that in the ab­
sence of regulation, commerce was to be wide 
open and uninhibited by the states.294 Notably, 

both Clay and Webster regarded slavery as a 
property right that should be accorded consti­
tutional protection in commerce between the 
states.295

The Court, per Justice Thompson, sided 
with Slaughter and upheld the contracts, ex­
plaining that the state constitutional provi­
sion was not self-executing and thus required 
the implementing statute in order to become 
effective.296 The Court avoided addressing the 

tumultuous issues of federal commerce power 
and the legal status of slaves. Though conced­
ing it was not necessary for the resolution of
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the im m e diate cas e , ho we ve r, Ju s tice McLe an 
tho u ght it “ fit  and p ro p e r”  to express his opin­
ion on the broader questions, since they had 
been argued extensively over seven days.297 
Thus, in a short opinion he expressed his be­
lief that states have the right to regulate slav­
ery within their own borders “ to guard [their] 
citizens against the inconveniences and dan­
gers of a slave population.”298 This exposi­
tion prompted reluctant statements from Taney 
(agreeing that states could regulate slavery 
without congressional interference) and Bald­
win (finding Congress’s regulatory powers to 
be exclusive but, relying on the police pow­
ers of the states, finding slave introduction to 
be a state matter).299 Thus, though the Court 
had decided the issue on narrow grounds, the 
multitude of judicial opinions on the slave is­
sue helped ignite the debate throughout the 
country.

IV. Conclusion

Clay died of tuberculosis in June 1852, but he 
“died with no enemies.” 300 He had developed 
a presence that was distinctively his own. He 
reached the highest levels of national stature, 
and was greatly admired due to his common- 
man roots. There was something about Clay 
that enabled people to relate to him and appre­
ciate even his faults. Perhaps one of the best 
indications of this is that upon his death, the 
“most popular man in America” was grieved 
through an unprecedented number of congres­
sional eulogies, and was the first to lie in state 
at the U.S. Capitol.301 America had lost its 

hero.
Volumes of books discuss the significant 

contributions that Clay made in the develop­
ment of early American government and pol­
itics. A decidedly smaller volume, however, 
discuss Clay’s advocacy. But Clay’s contribu­
tions to legal developments are not overlooked 
because they are insignificant, but rather be­
cause he was so dedicated in so many areas that 
they are simply outshone. Clay held back noth­
ing in advocating his clients’ positions. Clay’s

personal and political beliefs were brushed 
aside when it came to the good of his clients. 
Clay was good and he knew it. He drew on his 
natural intelligence to dissect arguments into 
commonsense solutions and then used his un­
rivaled ability to dramatically and confidently 
deliver his point. And without question, his 
delivery left a mark each and every time. It 
left a mark on a Court that often ruled in his 
favor in cases that still affect us today, and it 
left a mark on a populace that would wait for 
hours just to see the oratorical fireworks of the 
master himself—the sage of Ashland.
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Contesting Commerce:

Gibbons v. Ogden, Steam Power,WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

and Social ChangeZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

THOMAS  H. COX zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

The U.S. Supreme Court case YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAGibbons v. Ogden (1824)' represents one of the most signif­
icant yet least understood cases in the history of American jurisprudence. Most accounts depict 
the case as a constitutional showdown between former New Jersey Governor Aaron Ogden and 
his estranged business partner, a Georgian businessman and planter named Thomas Gibbons. 
Ogden charged Gibbons with operating a steamboat on the Hudson River in violation of the 
Fulton-Livingston Steamboat monopoly that controlled steam travel in the state of New York. 
In March 1824, Chief Justice John Marshall ruled for the Supreme Court that Gibbons’ federal
coasting license trumped a state grant issued to

As the first Supreme Court case to up­
hold congressional power over interstate com­
merce, Gibbons joined the ranks of other 
landmark Marshall Court cases that promoted 
federal power over states’ rights. Yet unlike 
M arbury v. M adison (1803)3 and M cCulloch 
v. M aryland (1819),4 Gibbons was widely pop­
ular with large groups of Americans at the time 
it was handed down.

This study asserts that Gibbons became 
such a unique precedent because it involved at­
tempts by three different groups of Americans 
to control the development of steam power, a 
scientific wonder of the age that many believed 
could bring social process through technolog-

Ogden by the Fulton-Livingston syndicate, 

ical innovation. The origins of Gibbons v. Og­

den were grounded in a series of legal disputes 
between early steamboat entrepreneurs. From 
the 1790s to the 1820s, businessmen such as 
Chancellor Robert R. Livingston, Robert Ful­
ton, Gibbons, and Ogden sued each other in 
state and federal court over their steamboat 
monopolies and federal patents. In such legal 
controversies, steamboat promoters portrayed 
themselves as noble inventors struggling to 
bring the benefits of steam travel to ordinary 
Americans. They used these images not merely 
to sway judges and juries, but also to give their 
business reputations an additional veneer of 
legal respectability, a valuable commodity in
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Wealthy New York patriarch Robert R. Livingston wasWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

a member of the Second Continental Congress, chan­

cellor of the New York court system, and a well- 

known patron of science. He agreed to be a partner 

in the steamboat business to supplement his family 

fortune and to secure his reputation as a gentleman 

scientist.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

the cutthroat world of the early steamboat in­
dustry.

When such legal disputes entered state 
courts, judges such as New York Chancellor 
James Kent argued that state-granted monop­
olies could best encourage inventors to de­
velop steam power on a local level. When liti ­
gants appealed their cases to the federal level, 
nationalistic-minded judges such as Marshall 
and William Johnson asserted that steamboat 
entrepreneurs engaging in free trade across 
state lines could best promote a national mar­
ket economy and strengthen the cultural bonds 
of the Union.

In 1824, many Americans agreed with 
Marshall’s views on free trade and federalism. 
Yet the original meaning of YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAGibbons v. Og­

den, as a broad but popular decision, became 
subject to interpretation over time. In future 
decades, temperance workers, trustbusters, so­
cial progressives, civil-rights activists, labor 
activists, and gun-control enthusiasts would

invoke Gibbons as a precedent for the regu­
lation, not merely of commerce, but of social 
issues as well. By placing Gibbons within the 
context of its own time, this article explores 
the ways that a landmark Supreme Court case 
became a popular constitutional precedent that 
influenced long-term legal and social change.5

Gibbons v. Ogden sprang from Amer­
ica’s first attempts to import steam technology 
from Great Britain in the late 1700s. In 1782, 
John Fitch, a working-class Connecticut engi­
neer, built the first operational steamboat in 
North America. He soon encountered opposi­
tion from James Rumsey, a Virginia innkeeper 
and inventor who was backed by George 
Washington and Thomas Jefferson. Both Fitch 
and Rumsey secured federal patents for their 
steamboat plans in 1793. However, both in­
ventors quickly realized that state-granted mo­
nopolies and pamphlets designed to influence 
public opinion were more practical methods 
of protecting their interests. Fitch won a cru­
cial battle in his struggle against Rumsey in 
1787, when he secured a New York legisla­
tive monopoly on all steam travel in state wa­
ters. Yet, plagued by business failures and alco­
holism, Fitch committed suicide in Kentucky 
before he could make use of his New York 
grant.6

John Stevens, a New Jersey landowner 
who teetered on bankruptcy due to failed land 
speculation schemes, sought to regain his rep­
utation by imitating Fitch’s experiments. In 
1797, Stevens struck up a partnership with 
Nicholas Roosevelt, a brilliant but impulsive 
engineer. After several failed attempts to cre­
ate a workable steamboat, Stevens persuaded 
his brother-in-law, Robert R. Livingston, to 
join the partnership. Livingston was the patri­
arch of one of New York State’s oldest, largest, 
and wealthiest families, a member of the Sec­
ond Continental Congress, chancellor of the 
New York court system, and a well-known 
patron of science. Livingston felt that a suc­
cessful steamboat business would supplement 
his family fortune and secure his reputation as 
a gentleman scientist who had brought steam
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A shameless self-promoter, Robert Fulton (pictured)WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

charmed wealthy patrons into funding his scientific 

schemes. He hoped to secure both federal patent 

rights for his steamboat plans and his reputation as a 

western visionary who had revolutionized river trans­

portation on the Mississippi. Robert R. Livingston 

was skeptical of Fulton’s grandiose visions, however, 

and insisted on a New York company based on his 

steamboat monopoly.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

power to the people of New York. In 1798, Liv ­
ingston accordingly pressured his allies in the 
New York legislature to grant him—but not 
his partners—Fitch’s still valid 1787 steam­
boat monopoly.7

After repeated failures with Stevens and 
Roosevelt, Livingston traveled to France in 
1802 to negotiate with Napoleon Bonaparte 
for American access to the Mississippi River. 
While in Paris, Livingston formed a part­
nership with a gifted young engineer named 
Robert Fulton. A shameless self-promoter, 
Fulton excelled at using his wit, charm, and 
scientific knowledge to attract wealthy pa­
trons. He hoped to secure federal patent rights 
for his steamboat plans and solidify a repu­
tation as a western visionary who had revo­
lutionized river transportation on the Missis­
sippi. Livingston remained skeptical of Ful­

ton’s grandiose visions, however, and he in­
sisted on a New York company based on his 
steamboat monopoly.8

Livingston’s political clout won out in the 
short run, for in spring of 1807 Fulton jour­
neyed to New York to create the North River 
Steam Boat Company and construct a pro­
totype vessel steam-powered. On August 17, 
1807, Fulton led a group of potential investors 
and Livingston family members up the Hud­
son on the maiden voyage of his experimen­
tal YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBANorth River Steam Boat. While they were 
stopping at Livingston’s Clermont estate, the 
Chancellor announced the engagement of Ful­
ton to his niece, Harriet Livingston. Several 
days later, Fulton remarked to his friend, poet 
Joel Barlow, that “ [t]he power of propelling 
boats by steam is now fully proved.” Cloak­
ing his success in the language of patriotism, 
the jubilant inventor maintained, “Although 
the prospect of personal emolument has been 
some inducement to me, yet I feel infinitely 
more pleasure in reflecting on the immense 
advantages that my country will draw from 
the invention.” 9

Angered that Livingston had taken on a 
new partner, Stevens threatened to legally un­
dermine the New York monopoly by securing 
a federal coasting license and running his own 
steamboat on the Hudson River. He asked Liv ­
ingston, “ [Wjill  a Jury in the State of New 
Jersey be much inclined to give very heavy 
damages for the infringement of a law grant­
ing a monopoly so injurious of the public?” 10 
In response, Livingston grudgingly offered his 
brother-in-law a one-fifth partnership for nine 
thousand dollars, provided that Stevens con­
fined his steamboat service to the New York 
and New Jersey coastline. He also pressured 
Stevens to quickly accept the offer with the 
knowledge that Fulton held a federal patent on 
his steamboat. To raise the stakes even higher, 
Livingston reminded Stevens of his financial 
responsibilities, which “every man of honor 
considers a sacred obligation,”  in repaying sev­
eral bank notes that the Chancellor had previ­
ously endorsed.11
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Despite these veiled threats, Stevens hesi­
tated to accept the offer of partnership. Fulton 
and Livingston upped the ante by granting the 
Chancellor’s brother, John R. Livingston, the 
rights to construct and run a steam ferry be­
tween New York City, Staten Island, and New 
Brunswick. Livingston also anonymously pub­
lished a letter in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAthe American Citizen titled “A 
Friend to Useful Invention and Justice,”  which 

rhetorically asked “Did Stevens have a fed­
eral patent that could prevent competition from 
other vessels?” Furthermore, “Didn’t Fulton 
and Livingston have a federal patent and a state 
monopoly?” The article damaged Stevens’ 
reputation and forced him into bankruptcy.12

Stevens was suspicious and requested a 
copy of Fulton’s alleged patent from U.S. 
Patent Office Chief William Thornton. A for­
mer partner of Fitch’s, Thornton informed 
Stevens that Fulton possessed merely a patent 
for a simple steam-powered pole boat, not 
for a paddle-driven steamboat. Stevens was 
furious and penned his own article for the 
American Citizen that exposed Fulton and Liv ­
ingston’s duplicity. He also asserted that “ [i]t  
is the genius and tendency of monopoly to 
discourage and defeat, instead of encourag­

ing improvements.” 13 Fulton consoled Stevens 
with the promise that “ the race of science is a 
noble exertion of humane faculties, and he who 
fastest runs should win,”  while secretly apply­
ing for a new federal patent. However, Thorn­
ton cunningly registered a steamboat patent 
for himself before issuing one to Fulton eleven 
days later.14

In spring 1809, Roosevelt and his father- 
in-law, famed architect Benjamin Henry 
Latrobe, sought an interview with Fulton. 
Aware that his steamboats’ designs drew heav­
ily  from Roosevelt’s experiments with paddle- 
wheels, Fulton quickly suggested a partner­
ship to develop steamboats on the Mississippi 
River. Fulton and Livingston also hastily came 
to terms with Stevens. They promised to limit  
their steamboat services to the Hudson, Ohio, 
and Mississippi rivers if  Stevens would pur­
sue options on the Delaware and Connecticut

rivers. Facing complete insolvency, Stevens 
agreed to the arrangement, even though it 
meant acknowledging Fulton’s patent rights.15

Fulton’s Mississippi plans faced setbacks 
when the Indiana, Ohio, Kentucky, Tennessee, 
and Mississippi state and territorial legisla­
tures denied their requests for monopolies 
on steam travel. Yet, with the help of Chan­
cellor Livingston’s younger brother, Edward 

Livingston, a leading New Orleans attorney, 
and William Charles Cole Claiborne, the Or­
leans territorial governor, the partners secured 
a steamboat monopoly over the lower Missis­
sippi River in April 1811.16

Although his patent rights and personal 
reputation remained in doubt, Fulton pro­
ceeded with his plans to create a Western 
steamboat company. In spring 1809, he com­
missioned Roosevelt to construct and pilot a 
steamboat from Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, to 
New Orleans. Fulton also hired John Dev- 
eraux Delacy, a lawyer and land speculator, 
to incorporate steamboat companies on rivers 
in Virginia, the Carolinas, and Georgia. Af ­
ter an exploratory voyage down the Missis­
sippi on a flatboat, Roosevelt and his wife, 
Lydia, returned to Pittsburgh to construct a 
four-hundred-ton steamboat, the New Orleans. 
Roosevelt faced numerous construction prob­
lems, channeled corporate funds into risky 
investments, and even bartered away his part­
nership with Fulton in return for a salaried po­
sition. Nevertheless, in 1811, Roosevelt and 
his family departed Pittsburgh aboard their 
newly completed vessel. The journey of the 
New Orleans down the Ohio and Mississippi 
rivers provided all the ingredients fit for a 
Washington Irving novel complete with dis­
plays of steam power before amazed locals 
and navigational problems caused by a massive 
earthquake. Yet, on January 10,1812, the New 
Orleans safely arrived in the city that shared 
its name.17

With victory secured in the West, Fulton 
soon faced a new challenge from the East. 
In spring of 1811, a group of Albany busi­
nessmen led by James Van Ingen constructed
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two steamboats, aptly named the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAHope and 
the Perseverance, to challenge the New York 
steamboat monopoly. Fulton and Livingston 
promptly launched a suit in federal circuit 
court against the “Albanians.” The inventors 
may have sought to pursue a federal law­
suit knowing that U.S. Supreme Court Justice 
Henry Brockholst Livingston, Chancellor Liv ­
ingston’s cousin, was scheduled to preside over 
the case.18

Cadwallader D. Colden, an attorney and 
close friend of Fulton, represented the mo­
nopolists at trial. On July 26, Colden as­
serted that the Albany Company’s construction 
of the Hope and Perseverance on the Hud­
son River violated his clients’ federal patent 
rights. Yet, wary of favoritism charges, Justice 
Livingston ruled that federal courts wielded 
no jurisdiction over cases in which both par­
ties were residents of the same state. He fur­
thermore asserted, “A court, constituted like 
this, is not to reason itself into jurisdiction 
from considerations of hardship, when a plain 
and safe rule is prescribed by the Supreme 
Court, which is, to examine on all occasions, 
what powers are committed to it, by the laws 
of the United States.” State court remained 
the proper forum in which to resolve the 
dispute.19

In frustration, Fulton and Livingston 
launched another suit in the New York state 
supreme court. On November 18, 1811, Chan­
cellor John Lansing, a rampant land speculator 
who secretly held financial ties to the Albani­
ans, ruled that New York could regulate com­
merce but not steam travel. After all, steam en­
gines merely combined natural elements, such 
as fire, air, and water, which could not be reg­
ulated by any legislative body. If  a state court 
could regulate steam power, then it could also 
control sailboats or rowboats. Under such cir­
cumstances, “ [wjould it consist with the intent 
of the constitution of the United State, that any 
portion of the citizens of an individual state, 
described by their age, their occupations, or 
estates, should have the exclusive right of us­
ing the navigable waters of each state?” He

Chief Justice James Kent, a staunch Federalist andWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

social conservative, handed down a decision in Liv­

ingston v. Van Ingen that upheld the steamboat 

monopoly. Kent held that the Founders had created 

a federal government of limited, enumerated powers.

did not think so, and accordingly declared the 
steamboat monopoly unconstitutional.20

The public reacted favorably to Lansing’s 
decision. At a New York State Artillery Regi­
ment dinner, opponents of the monopoly raised 
a toast to “ [cjommerce, the main spring to the 
whole: may it meet no impediment but the 
winds, no resistance but the waves.” A New 
York Columbian article similarly boasted, “The 
excellence of the accommodations and the cer­
tainty and rapidity of the passage, on this great 
thoroughfare, are unquestionably without par­
allel and example in the habitable globe.” 21

Fulton and Livingston pinned their hopes 
on one final appeal with the New York 
Court of Errors. A more conservative body 
than the New York supreme court, the Court 
of Errors consisted of both state supreme 
court justices and senators, many of whom 
were landowners sympathetic to Chancellor 
Livingston’s monopoly rights. At trial, their
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counsel, Thomas Addis Emmet, tried a new 
legal strategy. He argued that the New York 
legislature had granted his clients a monopoly, 
not for inventing the steamboat, but rather 
for importing valuable steamboat technology 
into the Empire State. Attorney Abraham Van 
Vechten countered for the defense that state 
regulation of commerce would create endless 
legal confusion. Furthermore, “ [tjhe appel­
lants claim this monopoly against all the world, 
and the respondents, though not patentees, 
have a right to call their claim into question.”22 
Emmet retorted that a fragile, young nation 
such as the United States needed to import 
foreign technology to fulfill  its national des­
tiny. Emmet asked, “Has not the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAsteam-boat 
cleared the Hudson of the bar of ignorance 
and prejudice, and conferred an equal benefit 
on the public?” As such, if  a state court were 
to strike down the monopoly, “ [s]uch a breach 
of good faith would level genius, public honor 
and integrity in the dust.” 23

On March 12, 1812, the Court of Er­
rors delivered a series of seriatim opinions in 
favor of Fulton, Chancellor Livingston, and 
the North River Steamboat Company. Justices 
Joseph Yates, William Van Ness, and Smith 
Thompson defended the New York steamboat 
monopoly as a legitimate expression of state 
power no different from a state monopoly on 
stagecoach travel, public roads, or other inter­
nal improvements. All  eyes in the courtroom 
then turned towards Chief Justice James Kent 
to see how he would rule.24

Kent was a staunch Federalist and sup­
porter of the U.S. Constitution. But he also be­
lieved strongly in common-law property rights 
and strict constitutional interpretation. As a 
social conservative, Kent also worried about 
the rising generation of professional politi­
cians and pragmatic businessmen, whom he 
considered a threat to civic virtue. Not sur­
prisingly, Kent handed down a decision in Liv­

ingston v. Van Ingen that upheld the steam­
boat monopoly. In his opinion, Kent observed 
that the Founders had created a federal govern­
ment of limited, enumerated powers. Although

commerce was a nebulous issue, it would be 
a “monstrous heresy” to strike down a state 
monopoly because it might conflict with fed­
eral power. He concluded that the principle of 
limited government “ought to be kept stead­
fast in every man’s breast; and above all, it 
ought to find an asylum in the sanctuary of 
justice.”  The state senate reinforced Kent’s de­
cision by a unanimous 30-to-0 vote to uphold 
the monopoly and grant the injunction.25

Fulton and Livingston were now armed 
with a legal victory that sustained their 
monopoly rights. Yet they continued to face 
problems from all directions. In spring of 
1812, Fulton fired Delacy and Roosevelt 
for embezzlement. As a final insult, Ful­
ton offered Roosevelt’s position to his own 
father-in-law, Henry Latrobe. Ironically, Chan­
cellor Livingston apprehended Fulton soon af­
terward for secretly skimming profits from the 
steam ferry Jersey for his wife, Harriet. The 
estranged partners quickly reunited, however, 
to fend off another challenge from Stevens, 
who now sought monopoly rights from the 
North Carolina legislature. Fulton retaliated 
by threatening to publish his steamboat plans 
and “ take my reward in the honor of having 
extended steam boats to every navigable wa­
ter in the United States.” Stevens could avoid 
this fate only by painting in large letters “Liv ­
ingston’s and Fulton’s Patent”  on the top beams 
of his engine frames.26

In addition to conflicts with Stevens, Ful­
ton received a request from Colonel Aaron 
Ogden for a license to operate steamboats in 
New York waters. Ogden was no stranger to 
the intricacies of either state politics or steam 
technology. In the 1790s, he had parlayed his 
Continental Army service into a successful 
political career as Governor of New Jersey. 
As a Federalist in an increasingly Republi­
can state, however, Ogden retired from politics 
in 1804 and returned home to Elizabethtown, 
New Jersey, to build a reputation as a success­
ful steamboat promoter. He invested his for­
tune in a steamboat named the Sea Horse and 
partnered with Thomas Gibbons. In contrast
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to Ogden’s patriotic credentials, Gibbons was 
a former Loyalist from Georgia who had fled 
north to escape charges of dueling and political 
corruption. But the Southerner was extremely 
wealthy, and he owned a large private dock 
facility in Elizabethtown.27

Wary of such competition, Fulton de­
manded an exorbitant fee from Ogden to par­
ticipate in the New York steamboat monopoly. 
The Colonel indignantly declined and used his 
contacts in the New Jersey legislature to se­
cure his own steamboat monopoly. In spring 
1811, he also journeyed to Albany to petition 
the New York legislature to end the Fulton- 
Livingston monopoly. In a six-hour speech, 
Emmet brilliantly defended Fulton as the vic­
tim of a noble, but naive heart. The attor­
ney chided his client, “You expect too much 
from your well-earned reputation and the ac­
knowledged utility to mankind of your life 
and labors.”  The New York senate agreed and 
voted 51 to 43 to uphold the monopoly.28

Fulton’s victory in court was mitigated by 
the death of Chancellor Livingston in Febru­
ary 1813. While Fulton squabbled with his 
heirs and sons-in-law, Robert L. Livingston 
and Edward P. Livingston, John R. Livingston 
launched his own petition to the New Jer­
sey legislature to rescind Ogden’s steamboat 
monopoly. New Jersey officials agreed to hold 
hearings into the matter on January 24,1815.29

Fulton and Emmet journeyed to Trenton, 
New Jersey, to find a rogues’ gallery of for­
mer associates eager for revenge. Over the 
next several days, Delacy, Roosevelt, Stevens, 
and Ogden all testified that Fulton had stolen 
his paddlewheel and steamboat designs from 
previous inventors. When Fulton circulated a 
letter detailing paddlewheel experiments that 
he had purportedly written in 1793, Ogden 
held the letter up to the light to reveal a 1796 
watermark.30

Ogden’s lawyer, Joseph Hopkinson, sens­
ing weakness, asked Fulton what need he had 
for a state monopoly if  his federal patent claims 
were valid. Fulton burst out that “Regardless 
of how the legislature ruled, he would seize

the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBASea Horse and personally shoot Ogden if  
he ventured on to the Hudson.” Hopkinson, 
taking a conciliatory stance, admitted that his 
opponent deserved some measure of credit. 
Yet Fulton was not a heroic scientist, but an 
unscrupulous “capitalist”  who used fraud and 
perjury to advance his interests.31 Despite this 

devastating critique, in early February 1814, 
Jeffersonian Republicans and their allies in the 
New Jersey Assembly and Council rescinded 
the steam boat monopoly by margins of 21-18 
and 7-6, respectively.

On his victorious journey home, Fulton 
stopped at the Jersey City shipyard to inspect 
his recently completed steam frigate, Fulton. 
Fulton and several friends attempted to walk 
back to New York City across the frozen Hud­
son River. When Emmet fell through the ice, 
Fulton became soaked in an attempt to save his 
friend. The young inventor contracted pneu­
monia and died several weeks later. The fol­
lowing May, John R. Livingston granted Og­
den a license to run steam ferries from New 
York City to Elizabethtown in return for six 
hundred dollars annually.32

Ogden and Gibbons’ steam ferry busi­
ness, armed with legal protection, began to 
expand. Disagreements over their business and 
domestic disputes within the Gibbons house­
hold, however, soured the partners’ relations. 
In 1812, Gibbons had given in trust to his 
only daughter, Ann, and her husband, John 
M. Trumbull, half of his ferry service shares 
and control of his dock facilities in Elizabeth­
town. When Ogden demanded a cheaper lease 
agreement for use of the landing from the 
Trumbulls, Gibbons retaliated by attempting 
to destroy the Colonel’s business interests and 
reputation.33

Two days after Christmas in 1815, Gib­
bons sponsored a town meeting to discuss 
plans to dredge the Elizabethtown creek, build 
a new drawbridge, and establish a publicly 
owned steamboat company. A state-chartered 
bank capitalized at sixty thousand dollars 
would fund these projects. Such a plan would 
cripple the privately owned Elizabethtown
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Bank, Ogden’s primary source of income and 
credit. On February 3, 1816, Ogden convened 
his own town meeting to “ remove from the 
minds of the people in this Town, improper 
impressions in regard to his private transaction 
with Thomas Gibbons.” When the Colonel 
asked the assembled townsfolk if  they intended 
to challenge his ferry service, he received a 
chorus of denials.34

While Ogden struggled with Gibbons in 
Elizabethtown, the Livingstons fought a los­
ing battle to defend their steamboat interests 
on the Mississippi River. In 1814, Edward Liv ­
ingston sued Henry Miller Shreve, a river­
boat captain and engineer, in federal district 
court for running his steamboat YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAEnterprize on 
the Mississippi in violation of the Louisiana 
steamboat monopoly. In two separate cases, 
U.S. district court Judge Dominick Hall ruled 
that Louisiana could not regulate a public high­
way such as the Mississippi River.35

To help bolster the fortunes of the Liv ­
ingston and Fulton families, and to shore up

his own legal interests in preserving the New 
York monopoly, Ogden petitioned Congress in 
February 1816 on behalf of Harriet Fulton and 
her children for a liberal extension of Fulton’s 
steam-engine patents. Alarmed by this turn 
of events, Gibbons hired attorney Fernando 
Fairfax to distribute to various congressmen a 
pamphlet titled “A Memorial ... Against the 
Extension of Patents Granted to Robert Ful­
ton,” which depicted Fulton as the usurper of 
Fitch’s patent claims. This attempt failed, and 
in April Congress agreed to extend Fulton’s 
patent rights.36

In July 1817, Ogden retaliated by hav­
ing Gibbons arrested on board the Sea Horse 
for fraudulently selling him a defunct bank 
note. A humiliated Gibbons informed Ogden 
that “ to arrest me, and hold me to bail, on 
the fancied existence of a note, for a pal­
try sum of $2,000 is conduct unwarrantable 
in a Gentleman of the Law.”37 Consumed 
with fury, Gibbons reported Ogden and Trum­
bull to John McDowell, a local Presbyterian
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the experiments ot Mr. Miller of UaJswinton, and had
furnished him with drawings of machinery, resolved to

Fig . 49.—Th e “ Cl e r mo n t,” 1807.

engage in the enterprise of starting a steam boat on 
the Clyde at his own risk. The building of his boat 
was commenced in October, 1811, and it was launched

Robert Fulton's North River Steam Boat (later referred to as the Clermont) was conceived in 1807, provingWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

that boats could be consistently powered by something other than wind and manpower.

minister, for discussing legal strategy on the 
Sabbath.38

In late July 1816, Trumbull convinced his 
mother-in-law to visit Elizabethtown. Before 
Ann Gibbons could even unpack her luggage, 
however, an enraged Gibbons forced her from 
their house. She sought sanctuary from the 
Trumbulls, received legal advice from Ogden, 
and hired attorney Richard Stockton to initiate 
divorce proceedings. Such a procedure would 
publicly humiliate Gibbons, as legal separa­
tions were notoriously rare at the time and re­
quired state legislative permission.39

Gibbons was infuriated by these attacks 
on his character, and he approached Ogden’s 
house on July 16, 1816, to settle matters 
personally, armed with a horsewhip. As the 
Colonel was not at home, Gibbons tacked a 
printed handbill to his front door. The docu­
ment accused Ogden of plotting on the Sabbath

“ like Nicanor upon Judas,”  labeled the colonel 
“RASCALLY,” and challenged him to a duel 
for his interference in Gibbons’s family affairs. 
That Gibbons took the time to print a handbill 
and waited nearly six weeks before delivering 
it suggested a deliberate spectacle to tarnish 
Ogden’s reputation. Ogden did not rise to the 
provocation, but delivered a written apology 
and filed trespass charges against Gibbons in 
state court.40

Gibbons avoided arrest by taking an im­
promptu vacation in Saratoga Springs, New 
York. He was undistracted by the scenic re­
sort town and channeled his anger into a pam­
phlet calculated to destroy the reputation of his 
perceived enemies. The treatise condemned 
Trumbull for seducing “ the only daughter of 
the defendant within his walls,”  and Ann Gib­
bons Trumbull and Ann Gibbons for support­
ing Trumbull. It concluded, “Trumbull ought
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to be hanged for the injustice he has done his 
children. Amen.”41 Gibbons threatened to dis­
tribute fifty  copies of the document to family 
and friends unless his wife promised to drop 
her divorce suit. Ann Gibbons relented, but 
Trumbull obtained several of the pamphlets 
and promptly sued Gibbons for libel in New 
York Chancery Court.42

On June 1, 1817, Ogden and Trumbull 
separately called on Gibbons and begged him 
to visit his daughter. Momentarily putting 
aside his anger, Gibbons found Ann Trum­
bull dying from a failed pregnancy. Shortly 
before her death, Gibbons promised that he 
would provide for her children. In September 
1817, true to his word, Gibbons sought cus­
tody of William and Thomas Trumbull from 
the New Jersey Orphan’s Court. When Trum­
bull objected, Gibbons claimed he was merely 
fulfilling  Ann Trumbull’s dying wishes. Gib­
bons bellowed, “Taking a death Bed figure to 
your aid, you and Aaron Ogden made me make 
a covenant with death... You are now endeav­
oring to make me disannul that covenant made 
at the gates of Death; it shall not be so.”43 
Gibbons, eager to seek revenge on Ogden, pur­
chased a steamboat named the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAStoudinger and 
hired a young sloop captain named Cornelius 
Vanderbilt to ferry passengers from Elizabeth­
town to New York City in competition with 
Ogden’s Sea Horse.44

In late May, Gibbons v. Trumbull appeared 
before New York State Supreme Court Justice 
Ambrose Spencer in New York City. Emmet, 
speaking for Gibbons, depicted his client as an 
elderly gentleman who had merely succumbed 
to righteous anger in lashing out at his oppo­
nents. The prosecution countered that Gibbons 
had deliberately written the pamphlet over sev­
eral weeks, coldly manipulated his wife, and 
tarnished the honor of his own family. Justice 
Spencer concurred that the pamphlet was “a 
production fraught with so much indecency, 
immorality, and he might almost add, of blas­
phemy.” The jury ruled accordingly in Trum­
bull’s favor and demanded that Gibbons pay 
fifteen thousand dollars in damages.45

Having lost to Trumbull, Gibbons sought 
to lure Ogden and his New York monopoly li ­
cense into a confrontation in federal court. In 
1818, Gibbons ordered Vanderbilt to take the 
steamboat Bellona on repeated trips directly to 
New York City. On October 20, 1818, Ogden 
took the bait and filed a motion in New York 
Chancery Court. Chancellor James Kent is­
sued an injunction against Gibbons the next 
day.46

Bound by the terms of the injunction, Gib­
bons signed a contract with U.S. Vice President 
Daniel D. Tompkins, who also held a license 
from the Fulton-Livingston syndicate. Tomp­
kins’ steamboat, Nautilus, would rendezvous 
with Gibbons’ Bellona at Great Kills Harbor 
on Staten Island and exchange passengers and 
cargo. To save expenses, Vanderbilt ran the 
Bellona from New Jersey to New York City 
whenever feasible.47

Ogden quickly learned of this plan and 
demanded that the New York sheriff ar­
rest Gibbons and Vanderbilt for violation of 
the monopoly. After six weeks of dodging 
New York City officials, on July 4, Van­
derbilt quietly surrendered to authorities on 
the New York waterfront. When brought be­
fore Chancellor Kent, Vanderbilt produced a 
signed contract from Tompkins allowing him 
to rent the Bellona to travel from Staten Is­
land to New York City every Sunday for 
the month of June, including the date of his 
capture. Kent was caught in an embarrass­
ing situation and had no choice but to free 
Vanderbilt.48

In spring 1821, Gibbons forced Ogden, 
who was financially desperate, into an un­
easy truce. Ogden agreed to transport passen­
gers on board his vessel Atlanta from New 
York to Elizabethtown, where they would be 
transferred to Gibbons’ Bellona for a voy­
age to New Brunswick. John R. Livingston 
was afraid of such an alliance, and he sued 
Gibbons and Ogden in New York Chancery 
Court. In two separate rulings, Chancellor 
Kent dismissed charges against Ogden be­
cause he still possessed a license from the
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Fulton-Livingston syndicate and issued yet 
another injunction against Gibbons.49

Even as Gibbons played Ogden against 
Livingston, he secretly prepared a suit in 
New York Chancery Court against his for­
mer partner. In September 1819, Gibbons’ at­
torney, William Henry, argued that Ogden’s 
1815 monopoly license controlled only steam 
travel from New York City to Elizabethtown 
Point. Gibbons’ vessels were not technically 
in violation of Ogden’s contract, as they re­
supplied at a nearby dock called Halstead’s 
Point. On October 6, Chancellor Kent ruled 
that a federal coasting license possessed by 
Gibbons merely enrolled his vessel for federal 
taxation purposes and did not conflict with 
the New York monopoly law. Furthermore, 
Ogden’s monopoly rights could only gener­
ate profit if  they included access to the en­
tire Elizabethtown shore. In retaliation, Gib­

bons petitioned the New Jersey legislature for 
a new monopoly law. On February 25, the leg­
islature passed a law that barred New York­
ers from steam travel in state waters. Un­
der the terms of this act, Gibbons promptly 
secured injunctions against both Ogden and 
John R. Livingston in New Jersey Chancery 
Court.50

Ogden fought back by asking Chancellor 
Kent for an arrest warrant against Gibbons, 
with damages set at ten thousand dollars. In a 
tersely worded decision delivered on Decem­
ber 4, Kent stated that Ogden’s license as an 
exclusive monopoly “meant to embrace the 
whole stream of intercourse” between Eliza­
bethtown and New York. Kent admitted the 
vagueness of his previous ruling and ordered 
Gibbons to pay merely Ogden’s legal fees and 
refrain from operating steamboats in New York 
waters. Ogden had greater success in obtaining 
five thousand dollars in damages for his tres­
pass suit against Gibbons in the New Jersey 
Court of Common Pleas.51

In February 1821, Gibbons’ appeal 
of Chancellor Kent’s decision reached the 
Supreme Court in Washington, D.C. Gibbons 
had good reason to hope for a favorable ruling

from Chief Justice John Marshall. As a Rev­
olutionary War veteran, Virginia Federalist, 
Adams appointee, and biographer of George 
Washington, Marshall supported a strong fed­
eral government. Over the past twenty years, 
during his tenure as Chief Justice, the Supreme 
Court had played a central role in the eco­
nomic and legal transformation of the young 
nation. Recent decisions such as YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM cCulloch 
v. M aryland (1819)52 and Cohens v. Virginia 
(1821)53 had protected the Second Bank of 

the United States and the appellate jurisdic­
tion of the federal courts from state control. 
Yet these cases had proved unpopular with 
large sections of the American public. A sim­
ilar decision in Gibbons v. Ogden could un­
dermine the already strained credibility of the 
Supreme Court.54 As Joseph Story remarked 
to his colleague, Brockholst Livingston, “We 
have already had our full share of the public 
irritations, [and] have been obliged to decide 
constitutional questions, which have encoun­
tered much opposition—I had hoped for a little 
repose; but I perceive it is not to be allowed us. 
Whichever way we decide the Steamboat case, 
it will  create a great sensation—We must con­
tent ourselves however in doing our duty &  
leave to time to decide the consequences.” 55 
Marshall may have shared Story’s weariness 
but not his stoicism. For upon hearing the facts 
of the case, the Chief Justice ruled that, as 
Chancellor Kent had not given a final decree 
in the 1819 injunction that formed the basis for 
the current appeal, the Supreme Court could 
not hear the case.56

Gibbons quickly appealed the decision to 
the New York Court of Errors, where Chancel­
lor Kent issued yet another injunction against 
him. Although Ogden dropped his suit against 
Gibbons to prevent further conflict, Gibbons 
nevertheless planned to “enjoin as many of the 
Steam Boats belonging to the monopolists as 
are required by the laws of N. Jersey, so long 
as the Citizens of N. Jersey are deprived their 
right of freely navigating the waters between 
the ancient shores of the States of N. Y. [and] 
N.J.” 57
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On its first trip, Fulton's steamboat North River Steam Boat went up the Hudson River to Albany. It operatedWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

under a monopoly granted by the State of New York, which was later contested by Ogdens and Gibbons.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

In fall 1823, YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAGibbons v. Ogden once again 
appeared before the Supreme Court. At that 
time, the public mood was, if  anything, more 
hostile toward the Marshall Court than it had 
been before. In the recent federal circuit court 
case Elkison v. Deliesseline (1823),58 Asso­
ciate Justice William Johnson, a Jeffersonian 
appointee and frequent critic of Marshall, had 
struck down a South Carolina law passed in the 
wake of the Denmark Vesey Conspiracy. The 
measure in question imprisoned black sailors 
aboard their ships while in port. Johnson 
overturned the law as a violation of the Com­
merce Clause. This decision inflamed South­
ern states’ rights supporters who were worried 
about possible federal control of the interstate 

slave trade.
Against this backdrop, the Supreme Court 

first heard arguments in the much anticipated 
“steamboat case” on the morning of Febru­
ary 4, 1824. Congressman Daniel Webster 
and Attorney General William Wirt served as 
lead counsel for Gibbons. In his opening ar­

guments, Webster asserted that the Founders 
had created a Constitution to prevent economic 
conflicts between states. To give states con­
current power over interstate commerce now 

would lead to endless legal disputes. The New 
York monopoly was a moneymaking scheme, 
rather than a public safety measure. As such, 
Gibbons’ federal coasting license provided un­
fettered access to New York waters.59

Former New York attorneys general 
Thomas Oakley and Thomas Addis Emmet 
spoke for Ogden. Oakley reiterated the claim 
that neither Livingston nor Fulton had ever 
claimed to be inventors of the steamboat. They 
had merely imported such useful technology 
into New York and received a monopoly over 
local steam travel for their noble efforts. Thus, 
the steamboat monopoly was not as a com­
mercial regulation, but rather a navigation law 
akin to New York’s quarantine, inspection, and 
licensing laws.60

Emmet followed by arguing that the 
New York courts had consistently upheld the
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steamboat monopoly and that many states had 
similar monopoly agreements. The Founders 
had specifically granted Congress broad com­
merce power so that the states could practically 
regulate the local economic affairs of a grow­
ing, diverse nation. To micromanage the na­
tional economy from Washington, D.C. would 
lead to chaos and disunion. Congress had con­
sistently upheld this notion by recognizing 
state-sponsored internal improvements, tax 
laws, and health measures. Emmet concluded 
that New York should take pride in its techno­
logical achievements. Emmet concluded with 
a quote from Virgil ’s epic the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAAeneid, in which 
the hero Aeneas observes paintings in the 
palace of Carthage depicting the destruction of 
his come city of Troy and laments, “ Quae re­

gio in terris nostri non plena laborisj”  (What 
region of the earth is not full of our calami­
ties?) Whereas Aeneas had used the phrase to 
mourn the fact that the entire ancient world had 
heard of the fall of Troy, Emmet invoked the 
passage to remind his audience that countries 
throughout the modern world had witnessed 
New York’s success in steam power.61

In response, Wirt reminded the court that 
regardless of any state commerce powers, 
Congress still held broad authority over com­
merce and patent rights. Because Fulton had 
frequently claimed to be the inventor of the 
steamboat, attempts by Ogden’s lawyers to de­
pict the New York monopoly as a public-safety 
measure were shallow attempts to bypass fed­
eral patent laws. Although states certainly 
held police powers, they surrendered control 
over interstate trade to Congress through their 
ratification of the Constitution. The Federal 
Coasting Act of 1793 therefore trumped the 
state monopoly.62

Wirt concluded by chiding Emmet for so 
poorly invoking the Aeneid. He reminded the 
court that Aeneas’s statement had been made 
in a moment of despair while remembering 
the fall of Troy in a civil war that pitted Tro- 
jons against their distant Achean cousins. If  
the federal government allowed state economic 
rivalries to go unchecked, the United States

might suffer a similar fate. Under such cir­
cumstances, “New-York shall look upon this 
scene of ruin ... with shame and confusion— 
drooping under the weight of her sorrow, with 
a voice suffocated with despair, well may she 
then exclaim, ‘ Quis jam locus, Quae regio in 
terris nostri non plena laboris!” '6^

The delicate issues surrounding the case 
and the unexpected injury of Chief Justice 
Marshall postponed a decision in the Gibbons 
case for nearly a month. At last, on March 2, 
1824, Marshall handed down a sweeping deci­
sion that declared the New York monopoly un­
constitutional. The Chief Justice began by not­
ing that, regardless of their own sovereignty, 
the states had granted the federal government 
broad grants of power by ratifying the Con­
stitution. To limit Congress to its enumerated 
powers under the Constitution “would cripple 
the government, and render it unequal to the 
object, for which it is declared to be instituted, 
and to which the powers given, as fairly under­
stood, render it competent.”64

The Commerce Clause of the Consti­
tution clearly gave Congress the power to 
regulate interstate commerce. Furthermore, 
“ [cjommerce, undoubtedly, is traffic, but it 
is something more; it is intercourse,” which 
could include trade between nations and trade 
between different parts of the same nation 
across state boundaries.65 Although the state 
and federal governments could concurrently 
regulate commerce, states could do so only 
through their police powers. Congress had 
created the Federal Coasting Act in ques­
tion to allow enrolled vessels to trade in 
American ports, regardless of state bound­
aries or the nature of their propulsion. The 
New York monopoly obviously conflicted with 
this act.66 Marshall concluded with a swipe at 

“ [pjowerful and ingenious minds”  who sought 
to “explain away the constitution of our coun­
try, and leave it, a magnificent structure, in­
deed, to look at, but totally unfit for use.”67

Despite a unanimous vote by the Supreme 
Court in the Gibbons case, Justice William 
Johnson insisted on a concurring opinion.
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Johnson eschewed constitutional interpreta­
tions in general and insisted that the plain, 
concise language of the Constitution was de­
signed “ to unite this mass of wealth and power, 
for the protection of the humblest individ­
ual; his rights, civil and political, his inter­
ests and prosperity, are the sole end; the rest 
are nothing but the means.”68 The Framers 

had clearly given Congress broad commerce 
powers to stabilize trade between states. If  
Congress could not regulate both navigation 
and commerce, then it could not carry out its 
enumerated powers to control interstate trade 
at all. The Commerce Clause was therefore all 
that was needed to strike down the New York 
monopoly.69

Public reaction to the outcome of the 
case was overwhelmingly positive. Within 
a month of Marshall’s decision, twenty 
steamboats—many from other states—cruised 
New York waters. Middling Americans, such 
as businessmen, merchants, artisans, and 
farmers, quickly took advantage of the cheaper 
fares and better service brought by the destruc­
tion of the monopoly. Northern papers, such 
as the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBANew York Commercial Advertiser, re­
ported that Marshall’s decision “presents one 
of the most powerful effects of the human mind 
that has ever been displayed from the bench of 
any Court.” 70 The Elizabethtown Gazette of 
Elizabethtown, New Jersey, similarly boasted, 
“The galling shackles with which a few lordly 
monopolists have, for some years past, con­
trived to fetter our navigation and intercourse 
with our sister state, have been at length broken 
by the Ithuriel spear, whose-all-powerful touch 
makes every unrighteous decision to crumble 
into dust.” 71

Many Southerners reacted favorably to the 
decision, although some planters worried that 
the case could prove a dangerous precedent 
regarding federal regulation of the interstate 
slave trade. For instance, the states’ rights 
Richmond Enquirer stated that if Congress 
wielded complete power over interstate com­
merce, then “ [t]he state Governments would 
molder into ruins, upon which would rise

up one powerful, gigantic and threatening 
edifice.” 72

In May 1824, John R. Livingston, with 
the support of Gibbons, ran his steamboat, 
Olive Branch, between New York City and Al ­
bany. In the course of such voyages, Livingston 
stopped briefly at Jersey City, New Jersey to 
exchange passengers and cargo and to main­
tain the status of “ interstate commerce.” 73 
The North River Steamboat Company filed 
suit against Livingston in New York Chancery 
Court. At  trial, Emmet argued that Livingston’s 
voyage had primarily taken place within New 
York state boundaries and therefore had vi­
olated the Fulton-Livingston monopoly. On 
June 16, Chancellor Nathan Sanford agreed 
that states should have spheres in which to 
regulate commerce. Nevertheless, the Gibbons 
case was now binding precedent and had to be 
obeyed.74

Despite this setback, the stockholders of 
the North River Steamboat Company made 
one last appeal to the New York Court of Er­
rors. On February 28, 1825, before a packed 
courtroom, Chief Justice John Savage an­
nounced, “The state law is annihilated, so far as 
the ground is occupied by the law of the Union; 
and the supreme law prevails, as if  the state law 
had never been made.”  In a startling reversal of 
Livingston v. Van Ingen a mere fourteen years 
earlier, Savage and twenty-eight state senators 
defeated two state supreme court justices and 
seven senators to deny the injunction.75

In March 1825, the Albany Argus re­
ported, “Since the late decision of the court 
of errors, steam boats on our rivers have be­
come as thick as blackberries.”76 After twenty- 
five years of domination over the waters of 
New York, the steamboat monopoly was fi ­
nally dead. Yet the appearance of victory was 
deceptive, as Gibbons succumbed to diabetes 
and died less than two years later. Gibbons, 
bitter at Ogden and the Trumbulls until the 
end, maintained in his will  that neither Trum­
bull nor his descendents would ever “acquire 
or inherit one cent of my estate.”77 Ogden, on 

the other hand, went bankrupt and served time
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in a New York debtor’s prison, where he be­
came a cause celebre as a Revolutionary War 
hero who had fallen on hard times. The el­
derly Ogden was eventually released and died 
peacefully at home in 1839, with his reputation 
as a gentleman intact.78

As Marshall’s YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAGibbons decision left the 
issue of concurrent federal-state regulation 
unanswered, the issue appeared repeatedly 
before the Supreme Court over the next 
decades. For instance, in Brown v. M aryland 
(1827),79 Marshall stated that Congress con­
trolled goods during commercial transactions 
across state lines, but that when sold, such mer­
chandise could be taxed by the states. Two 
years later in W illson v. Black Bird Creek 
M arsh Company (1829), the Marshall Court 
agreed that a dam constructed over a naviga­
ble branch of the Delaware River did not hinder 
interstate commerce.80

Throughout the Jacksonian era, the Taney 
Court cited Gibbons to argue that states had the 
right to regulate commerce for the local good 
in the absence of federal legislation. In the Li ­

cense Cases (1847),81 the Supreme Court up­
held several prohibition laws aimed at foreign 
immigrants. In Cooley v. Board of W ardens 
(1852),82 Taney and his colleagues reaffirmed 
a Pennsylvania law that mandated the hiring 
of local pilots for ship voyages in state waters 
as a local, rather than a national, commercial 
matter.

Both the late nineteenth and the early 
twentieth centuries witnessed rapid industrial 
growth that held important repercussions for 
interstate commerce. With Gibbons and Coo­

ley as precedent, the Supreme Court upheld 
federal commerce power over railroads in 
W abash Railway v. Illinois (1886) and stock- 
yards in Swift v. United States (1905), but it 
limited such authority over agricultural com­
panies in United States v. E. C. Knight Com­

pany (1895) and child labor laws in Hammer 
v. Dagenhart (1918). Congress also began to 
slowly assert its commerce powers in 1887 
with the creation of the Interstate Commerce 
Commission, the first federal agency designed 
to oversee trade between states.83

The Great Depression of 1929 and the 
subsequent presidency of Franklin Delano 
Roosevelt brought about drastic changes for 
the legacy of Gibbons v. Ogden. When the 
Supreme Court refused to uphold New Deal 
legislation such as the National Industrial Re­
covery Act in Schechter Poultry Corporation 
v. United States (1936), Roosevelt threatened 
to increase the number of Supreme Court Jus­
tices and introduce mandatory retirement for 
court members. Although this “court-packing”  
plan proved unpopular, the Supreme Court 
gradually accepted a broader definition of the 
Commerce Clause through decisions such as 
National Labor Relations Board v. Jones &  
Laughlin Steel Corporation (1937).84

In the 1930s, New Deal scholars began to 
depict Gibbons v. Ogden as a harbinger for the 
rise of a regulatory state. In 1937, two years 
before his appointment to the Supreme Court, 
Felix Frankfurter published The Commerce 
Clause Under M arshall, Taney, and W aite. 
Frankfurter’s work suggested that Marshall’s 
Gibbons decision had tentatively promoted the 
doctrine that “ the Commerce Clause, by its 
own force and without national legislation, 
puts it into the power of the Court to place lim­
its on state authority,”  which in turn reinforced 
the notion that “ though we are a federation of 
states we are also a nation.” 85

Frankfurter’s interpretation of Gibbons v. 
Ogden helped justify the expansion of con­
gressional commerce power over a wide vari­
ety of subjects. In United States v. Carolene 
Products Co. (1938) Associate Justice Harlan 
Fiske drew from Gibbons to assert that 
Congress wielded complete power over in­
terstate trade. The federal government could 
furthermore ban products it deemed harmful 
(in this case filled or skimmed milk) to pro­
tect the public health. The fourth footnote of 
Stone’s decision suggested that in future cases 
the Supreme Court could use “more exacting 
judicial scrutiny”  in examining cases in which 
“prejudice against discrete and insular minori­
ties may be a special condition.”86

In W ickard v. Filburn (1942), Justice 
Robert Jackson likewise upheld the 1938
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Agricultural Adjustment Act on the precedent 
of YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAGibbons. Noting that Marshall had granted 
Congress broad commerce powers under Gib­

bons, Jackson stated that the Depression had 
created a need for “broader interpretations of 
the Commerce Clause destined to supersede 
the earlier ones, and to bring about a return to 

the principles first enunciated by Chief Justice 
Marshall in Gibbons v. Ogden.” * 1

Twenty years later, in Heart of Atlanta 
M otel, Inc. v. United States (1964), Justice 
Thomas Campbell Clark adopted a similarly 
broad interpretation of Gibbons and the prin­
ciples laid down in “ footnote four” to strike 
down segregation laws in hotels that catered 
to interstate traffic. Clark ruled, “Although the 
principles which we apply today are those first 
formulated by Chief Justice Marshall in Gib­

bons v. Ogden, the conditions of transportation 
and commerce have changed dramatically, and 
we must apply those principles to the present 
state of commerce.”  Recent increases in inter­
state traffic alone made segregation laws an 
undue burden on interstate commerce.88

Yet beginning in the 1990s, the Rehn­
quist Court launched a substantive attempt 
to sharply limit congressional commerce au­
thority. In United States v. Lopez (1995), the 
Supreme Court struck down a federal statute 
based on the notion that possession of guns 
near public schools, if repeated throughout 
the nation, could have a negative impact on 
interstate trade.89 Five years later, in United 
States v. M orrison, the Supreme Court in­
validated a portion of the Violence Against 
Women Act, which provided for federal civil  
suits for victims of gender-motivated violence 
based on the contention that violence against 
women inhibited travel and commerce across 
state lines.90 In both Lopez and M orrison the 
Rehnquist Court argued that state laws already 
provided for control of firearms near schools 
and punishment for those convicted of rape, 
making federal statutes in these areas based 
upon the authority of the commerce clause un­
necessary. Yet even these precedents appeared 
to have limits for in Gonzales v. Raich (2005)

the Court upheld a federal controlled sub­
stances act that banned the transportation of 
marijuana, even for medical purposes, across 
state lines.91

When looking back on Gibbons v. Ogden 
from the perspective of nearly two centuries 
later, one is struck by the ironies at work in its 
creation and enduring role as a binding prece­
dent. Livingston, Fulton, Gibbons, and Ogden 
each invoked notions of civic virtue to promote 
their economic interests in state and federal 
court. Chancellor Kent and James Marshall 
likewise agreed that steam power could bring 
about social progress; they differed merely on 
which legal forum could best aid this devel­
opment. Yet each of these individuals helped 
popularize the notion that government could 
regulate commerce on a number of levels to 
improve the world around them. Later gener­
ations of social reformers would draw from 
this legacy and invoke Gibbons to justify the 
regulation of alcohol, immigration, labor stan­
dards, minimum-wage laws, and civil rights. 
Although the Rehnquist and Roberts courts 
have moved toward a narrower interpretation 
of the Commerce Clause in recent years, Gib­

bons v. Ogden remains a vital precedent in the 
ongoing debates over the nature and scope of 
commerce regulation in American life.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
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Justice Brandeis and His Law ClerksZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

TODD  C. PEPPERS*

Introduction zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

It canno t be s aid that Lo u is Dembitz Brandeis has suffered from a lack of scholarly attention. 
Brandeis is considered to be one of the most influential Justices in the history of the U.S. 
Supreme Court, and scores of books and law-review articles have been written about Brandeis 
the lawyer, the political insider, the Zionist, and the Justice. A case can be made, however, that 
history has not fully recognized the important and lasting contribution that Brandeis made to 
the development of the institutional rules and norms surrounding the Supreme Court law clerk, 
an oversight that this essay seeks to rectify.

Brandeis was not the first Supreme Court 
Justice to hire law clerks. Upon his elevation 
to the Supreme Court in 1882, Justice Horace 
Gray started the practice of hiring recent Har­
vard Law School graduates to serve as his legal 
assistants.1 Justice Gray instituted the tradi­
tion of hiring law clerks while serving as the 
Chief Justice of the Massachusetts supreme 
judicial court, and one of the young Harvard 
Law School men Gray hired was Brandeis him­
self. Nor was Brandeis responsible for much of 
the early mythology surrounding the relation­
ship between Justice and law clerk. It was the 
“Magnificent Yankee,”  Justice Oliver Wendell

Holmes, Jr., who summoned a generation of 
Harvard Law School graduates to serve as pri­
vate secretaries, social companions, surrogate 
sons, and caretakers to “God’s grandfather.”2 It 

would be Brandeis’ clerkship model, however, 
that led to the professionalization of the clerk­
ship institution. From the hiring of his first 
law clerk, Brandeis demanded that each law 
clerk have a strong work ethic, possess supe­
rior legal writing and research skills, and abide 
by the fiduciary relationship between Justice 
and law clerk. While future Justices have dif­
fered from Brandeis in the type of substan­
tive job duties assigned to their law clerks, the
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expectations about the duties of confidentiality 
and loyalty as well as the skills to be possessed 
by law clerks remain unchanged. This essay 
will  explore the Brandeis clerkship model, ar­
guing that Brandeis’ rules for and expecta­
tions of his law clerks not only were unique for 
their time, but also forever shaped the clerk­
ship models adopted by future generations of 
Justices.

Before turning to Justice Brandeis, a brief 
aside about one of the primary sources used 
in this essay. In the early 1980s, author and 
attorney Lewis J. Paper had the rare oppor­
tunity to interview twelve surviving Brandeis 
law clerks as he prepared to write his book 
on the late Justice? His interview notes offer a 

fascinating peek into the world of the Brandeis 
clerkship and contain many details and tidbits 
never before discussed in any book or arti­
cle. Mr. Paper donated his interview notes to 
the Special Collections Department at Harvard 
Law School, and he has graciously allowed me 
to quote from them in this article.

The Selection of Justice Brandeis’WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

Law Clerks

The selection of law clerks by the Justices 
on the White, Taft, and Hughes courts var­
ied dramatically from the selection practices 
of the modern Court. While today’s Justices 
pore through hundreds of applications, often 
assisted by a screening committee, in the early 
years of the clerkship institution law students 
at Harvard, Yale, and Columbia found them­
selves tapped by faculty members to work 
at the Supreme Court for such Justices as 
Holmes, William Howard Taft, and Harlan 
Fiske Stone. Upon arriving at the Supreme 
Court, Brandeis began following Holmes’ 
practice of having Harvard Law School profes­
sor Felix Frankfurter select his clerks. In a De­
cember 1,1916, letter to Frankfurter, Brandeis 
wrote that Frankfurter’s selection of Calvert 
Magruder as his first law clerk strengthened 
the Justice’s confidence in Frankfurter,4 and 
two years later Brandeis stated that Frankfurter

now had unlimited discretion to select his 
clerks—while adding that “ [w]ealth, ances­
try, and marriage, of course, create presump­
tions; but they may be overcome.” 5 Brandeis 
later supplemented his list of non-binding hir­
ing preferences, telling Frankfurter that “other 
things being equal, it is always preferable to 
take some one whom there is reason to believe 
will  become a law teacher.” 6

The twenty-one men selected by Frank­
furter had a few common characteristics. Of 
course, they were all Harvard Law School men. 
Eighteen of the twenty-one clerks were mem­
bers of the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAHarvard Law Review, many had 
worked—either during their third year of law 
school or during a subsequent year of grad­
uate school—as Professor Frankfurter’s re­
search assistants, and a few had prior clerk­
ship experience with such appellate court 
judges as Learned Hand and Julian Mack.7 
Another characteristic that many of the law 
clerks shared was religion. Brandeis biogra­
pher Philippa Strum states that the “over­
whelming majority”  of Brandeis’ clerks in the 
1920s and 1930s were Jewish. Strum writes 
that Brandeis’ selection practices stemmed 
from the fact that (1) he preferred clerks who 
had the potential to be law professors, and 
(2) he believed that ‘“a great service could 
be done generally to American law and to 
the Jews by placing desirable ones in the law 
school faculties,” ’ given the fact that “ ‘ in the 
Jew [there is] a certain potential spirituality 
and sense of public service which can be more 
easily aroused and directed, than at present is 
discernible in American non-Jews.’” 8

Typically, Brandeis never interviewed— 
or even met with—potential law clerks prior 
to their selection by Frankfurter. At least one 
law clerk found Brandeis’ habit of not in­
terviewing prospective law clerks to be odd. 
Adrian S. Fisher, who clerked during Octo­
ber Term 1938, asked then-Professor Frank­
furter “ if  I could meet the Justice before, just 
to make sure he didn’t think he was getting a 
pig in the poke or anything, but Felix looked 
at me like that was a real strange request, and



BRANDEIS AND HIS CLERKSZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA77zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

s o I ne ve r m e t Brande is be fo re m y cle rks hip 
be gan.” 9 David Riesman (October Term 1935) 
was one of the few clerks to meet with Bran­
deis prior to his clerkship.10 After traveling to 
Washington, D.C. and meeting with Justices 
Brandeis, Benjamin Cardozo, and Holmes in 
1934, Riesman returned to Cambridge and im­
mediately contacted Frankfurter. “ I wrote to 
Felix that I would much prefer to clerk for 
Cardozo instead of someone who reminds me 
of my stern father [to wit, Brandeis]. Felix 
Frankfurter rejected this in a very stern letter 
to me. He said it was precisely for those rea­
sons that it would be good for me.” 11 The idea 
of somebody declining an offer to clerk for Jus­
tice Brandeis is a bit astonishing, and, as dis­
cussed below, Riesman’s entire clerkship ex­
perience can be viewed as the exception to the 
norm.

Perhaps because the law clerks did not 
interview prior to their clerkship, they found 
their first encounter with the legendary jurist 
to be daunting. Former law clerk H. Thomas 
Austern (October Term 1930) describes Bran­
deis as a combination of “Jesus Christ and 
a Hebrew prophet,” confessing that “ in the 
first few months I was scared to death of 
him.” 12 Austern’s description is echoed by 
Fisher, who recalls that his first impression 
was that Justice Brandeis “seemed to be a 
combination of Isaiah the prophet and Abra­
ham Lincoln. A raw-boned characteristic. He 
had a rough-hewn look, [and] a grave, al­
most diffident courtesy.” 13 Even former law 
clerk Dean Acheson (October Terms 1919 and 
1920), writing his memoirs after a career on the 
international stage, remains struck by Bran­
deis’ appearance:

The Justice was an arresting fig­
ure; his head of Lincolnian cast 
and grandeur, the same boldness and 
ruggedness of features, the same 
untamed hair, the eyes of infinite 
depth under bushy eyebrows, which 
in moments of emotion seemed to jut 
out. As he grew older, he carried a

Dean Acheson, who clerked for Brandeis in the 1919WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

and 1920 Terms, went on to serve as Secretary of 

State under Harry S Truman. "Please remember that 

your function is to correct my errors, not to introduce 

errors of your own,” Brandeis once admonished him.

prophetic, if  not intimidating aura. It 
was not in jest that later law clerks 
referred to him as Isaiah.14

Given such a description of Justice Brandeis, it 
is hardly surprising to learn that it would take 
months before the clerks felt entirely comfort­
able in the presence of such a biblical figure.

The law clerks received little, if any, 
advice or instruction from Frankfurter. “He 
[Frankfurter] did say you were expected to 
work very hard, meaning mornings, afternoons 
and evenings, and you would have to cut 
down on your social life,”  recalls Fisher. “ [It]  
was also implied that you should not be mar­
ried. Nothing explicit, but it seemed clear.” 15 
Through Frankfurter, Brandeis issued warn­
ings and assigned homework to his future 
law clerks. Brandeis instructed Frankfurter
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to info rm inco m ing law cle rk Willard Hu rs t 
(Octo be r Term 1936) “ that he will  be expected 
to be familiar with all my opinions by Sept. 
15th and that the pass mark is 99 */4 percent. 
Also say that he should otherwise familiarize 
himself with the tools of the trade,”  lamenting 
the fact that an earlier law clerk did not fully  
appreciate the scope of Shepard’s Citations.16 
Brandeis subsequently added to the reading 
list, writing later that “ [w]ould it not be well 
to have Hurst read, before the Autumn, ‘Busi­
ness of the USSC,’ 17 and Charles Warren’s 
‘S.C. in U.S. History’ 18 so as to get in the 
background.” 19

The Brandeis Clerkship Model

The Brandeis law clerks reported for duty at 
Justice and Mrs. Brandeis’ private residence— 
originally at their Stoneleigh Court apartment 
on Connecticut Avenue, and later at a second 
apartment building at 2205 California Street 
Northwest. At both locations, Justice Brandeis 
used a smaller, second apartment to house of­
fices for himself and his clerk. Regarding the 
California Street apartment, Brandeis biogra­
pher Strum writes: “Willard Hurst found the 
office apartment overflowing with papers and 
books. The bathtub was filled with folders of 
clippings and references to bits of irrelevant 
information Brandeis came across while do­
ing research, information that interested him 
as well as data that might provide useful some 
day... The kitchenette was piled with 
manuscripts and corrected proofs.”20

Even after the construction of the 
Supreme Court building, Justice Brandeis and 
his law clerk worked at the apartment.21 In 

1920, Congress authorized the Justices to em­
ploy both a law clerk and a stenographic as­
sistant, but Brandeis did not hire either a sec­
retary or a second law clerk. “Why Brandeis 
dispensed with secretarial aid was never ex­
plained, but I surmise that he was loath to share 
the confidences of the office more widely than 
the absolute minimum,” writes former law 
clerk Paul A. Freund (October Term 1932).

“That, and perhaps his general avoidance of 
belongings.”22 Justice Brandeis’ official Court 
staff was rounded out by a series of aging mes­
sengers.

The law clerks typically reported to duty 
in late September, often overlapping with the 
outgoing clerk for several days of “breaking 
in.”  The clerks’ primary job duties were assist­
ing in the preparation of opinions and related 
legal research. Brandeis alone began the pro­
cess by drafting the statement of facts. “This 
was a chore that Brandeis took upon himself,”  
comments Freund. “ [I]t  seemed to me ... that 
this was a token, a mark of his intellectual scru­
ple, that before either he or his law clerk should 
set to work expounding the law, the facts of the 
case should have been thoroughly assimilated, 
understood and made part of himself as an 
earnest that his work would be grounded in an 
appreciation of the true nature of the contro­
versy before him.”23 The statement of facts in 
the cases assigned to Brandeis can be found in 
his personal papers, written in his distinctive 
hand on lined paper “with a large black foun­
tain pen that might have been a relic of the Iron 
Age.”24

Brandeis did not always produce a com­
plete first draft. “He would most frequently 
write out a few pages, have them printed, re­
vise them, add a few more pages, and the whole 
printed again, and so forth.”25 At some point 
the printed pages would be handed off to the 
clerk for comment and revision. Brandeis did 
not want either himself or his clerk to treat the 
other’s work as gospel. Writes Acheson:

My instructions regarding his work 
were to look with suspicion on every 
statement of fact until it was proved 
from the record of the case, and on 
every statement of law until I had ex­
hausted the authorities. If  additional 
points should be made, I was to de­
velop them thoroughly. Sometimes 
my work took the form of a revision 
of his; sometimes of a memorandum 
of suggestions to him.26
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Co nve rs e ly , Acheson adds, Brandeis might use 
portions of his clerk’s original draft opinion 
or instead begin anew.27 “On occasion, some 
sentences in the law clerk’s memoranda would 
find their way into the opinion,” writes Fre­
und. “ [M]ore often they suffered the fate of 
the Justice’s own first drafts—radical revision, 
transposition, strengthening and polishing.”28 

Freund’s description of this laborious drafting 
process is reflected in the Louis Brandeis Pa­
pers at Harvard Law School, where multiple 
opinion drafts—some covered with the Jus­
tice’s handwritten edits, others with typed in­
sertions of questions or proposed changes by 
the law clerks—can be found in a single case 
file.

It is apparent that Brandeis considered his 
clerk a partner—although not an equal one29 
—in a joint task. This partnership extended 
through the opinion-drafting process. Freund 
writes that both Justice Brandeis and his law

clerk received copies of revised opinions from 
the Supreme Court printing office.30 In de­
scribing the final editing process, Acheson 
comments that “ [a] touching part of our rela­
tionship was the Justice’s insistence that noth­
ing should go out unless we were YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAboth satisfied 
with the product. His patience and generos­
ity were inexhaustible.” 31 Hurst recalled that 

Justice Brandeis himself referred to the rela­
tionship between law clerk and Justice as a 
partnership, albeit with the law clerk in a more 
junior role. “ [Y]ou were expected to have the 
responsibilities of a partner. He expected me 
to pull no punches and read everything with a 
critical eye. He didn’t want any petitions for 
rehearing because of any error on his part. I 
was not to stand in awe of him but was to tell 
him frankly what I thought.” 32

Of course, this “partnership” placed 
tremendous stress upon the clerk. “The illu ­
sion was carefully fostered that the Justice was
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re ly ing, inde e d de p e nding, o n the criticis m and 
co llabo ratio n o f his law cle rk,”  writes Freund. 
“How could one fail to miss the moral implica­
tions of responsibility?”33 These implications 

were forever seared into the collective mem­
ory of the Brandeis law clerks as the result of 
a blunder committed by the young Acheson, 
who served as Brandeis’ law clerk during Oc­
tober Terms 1919 and 1920. After discovering 
that there were two incorrect legal cites in an 
opinion he was preparing to announce from the 
Bench, Brandeis returned to his home office 
and sternly announced to Acheson: ‘“Please 
remember that your function is to correct my 
errors, not to introduce errors of your own.’” 34 
James M. Landis (October Term 1925) re­
ceived a similar lecture from Brandeis after 
failing to correct some erroneous legal cita­
tions: “Sonny, [said Brandeis] we are in this 
together. You must never assume that I know 
everything or that I am even correct in what I 
may say. That is why you are here.” 35 William 
A. Sutherland (October Terms 1917 and 1918), 
who himself suffered the embarrassment of 
letting an incorrect legal cite remain in a draft 
opinion, recalls that Brandeis was not angry 
when his young clerk committed such an er­
ror, “but he made you feel that you certainly 
didn’t want to have something like that happen 
again.”36

Law clerks did not prepare Bench mem­
oranda, and, if  they did review the occasional 
cert, petition, it was at the start of the Term 
when the pace was slow. Writes Acheson:

In two respects my work with Jus­
tice Brandeis was different from the 
current work of many law clerks 
with their chiefs. This is sometimes 
closely concerned with the function 
of deciding. The Justice wanted no 
help or suggestions in making up his 
mind. So I had nothing to do with 
petitions for certiorari.... [T]he Jus­
tice was inflexible in holding that the 
duty of decision must be performed 
by him unaided. ... He was equally

emphatic in refusing to permit what 
many of the Justices today require, 
a bench memorandum or precis of 
the case from their law clerks to give 
them the gist of the matter before 
the argument. To Justice Brandeis ... 
this was a profanation of advocacy.
He owed it to counsel—who he al­
ways hoped ... would be advocates 
also—to present them with a judicial 
mind unscratched by the scribblings 
of clerks.37

Freund suggests another, more practical rea­
son for why the clerks did not discuss the 
cases with Brandeis prior to oral argument: 
“ [H]e would consider it an unnecessary drain 
on resources.”38

A few additional topics were never dis­
cussed between law clerk and Justice: the re­
sults of the Court’s weekly conferences and 
Brandeis’ opinions of other Justices. Unlike 
future Justices, Brandeis did not come back 
from the Supreme Court’s conferences and un­
burden himself to his law clerks. His docket 
book was kept locked, only to be burned at 
the end of the Term by the Marshal of the 
Court.39 Nor did he complain or gossip about 
the other Justices,40 perhaps due to what one 

clerk perceived as the Justice’s “adulation for 
the dignity of the Supreme Court.” 41

The other main responsibility for a Bran­
deis clerk was legal research. Not surprisingly, 
the inventor of “ the Brandeis brief’ gave his 
clerks daunting research assignments. “ [W]e 
worked like hell for Brandeis checking cases 
and doing research,” recalls Sutherland.42 
While Justice Brandeis expected his clerks 
to provide “ the most exacting, professional, 
and imaginative search of the legal authori­
ties,” Acheson states that successful YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAlegal re­
search “was more often than not the begin­
ning, not the end, of our research.”43 Thus, 
Acheson’s research time was spent equally 
in the Supreme Court Library and in the Li ­
brary of Congress, collecting statistics and his­
torical data “with civil servants whose only
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re co m p e ns e fo r ho u rs o f p atie nt he lp to m e 
was to s e e an u ncatalo gu e d re p o rt o f the irs 
cite d in a fo o tno te to a dis s e nting o p inio n.”44 
A good example of the exhausting research 
projects assigned to the law clerks can be found 
in the clerkship of Henry J. Friendly (October 
Term 1927), who spent weeks at the Library 
of Congress preparing a report on the wire­
tapping laws of the forty-eight states.45 Such 

visits were common to all clerks, who “came to 
know intimately the labyrinths of the Library 
of Congress.”46

At times, the research projects allowed the 
law clerks a glimpse of the legendary Bran- 
deis memory. Strum recounts an instance in 
which Brandeis not only instructed his law 
clerk to journey to the Library of Congress, 
but provided helpful instructions on how to lo­
cate both the book and the material contained 
therein: “While working on a patent case, he 
told one clerk, ‘There is a book in the Library 
of Congress published about 1870; a small vol­
ume with a green cover; and in chapter three 
the point in this case is discussed.’”47 The 
clerk subsequently discovered that Brandeis 
was correct on all three counts.

Strum neatly summarizes the law clerk- 
Justice relationship from the perspective of 
the law clerks: “The clerks went to Brandeis 
each year in trepidation, worked with exhila­
ration, and left in exhaustion.”48 Since Bran­

deis assumed that his law clerks would pro­
vide nothing less than excellence, they were 
not praised when they achieved that standard. 
Recalls Austem:

One time we had this case, the Jewel49
[sic] case, involving a question of ra­
dio copyrights. And I set up this elab­
orate contraption with balls and pen­
dulums to show the impact of fre­
quency modulation. And we sat there, 
with his legs crossed, watching my 
little demonstration for 40 minutes.
And after it was all over he just said 
thank you, and that was it. He rarely 
said anything you did was a great job.

He assumed, since you were there, 
that you would do a great job.50

Adds Acheson: “Justice Brandeis’s standard 
for our work was perfection as a norm, to 
be bettered on special occasions”—a standard 
that the law clerk might not know if  he ever 
achieved, since the Justice “was not given to 
praise in any form.” 51 If  the law clerks did re­

ceive praise for their work, it tended to come 
from either Frankfurter or Mrs. Brandeis. For 
a group of young men, fresh out of law school 
and working for a great man, operating with­
out positive feedback from the Justice must 
have felt akin to doing a high-wire act without 
a net.

While former law clerk Friendly unde­
niably met the standard of excellence de­
manded by Justice Brandeis,52 he humorously 
lamented the fact that his skepticism about 
technology cost Brandeis the opportunity to 
be the first jurist to pen a legal opinion that 
referenced television. The opinion was Jus­
tice Brandeis’ famous dissent in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAOlmstead v. 
United States,53 a case involving whether the 
government’s warrantless wiretapping of the 
telephone calls of a suspected bootlegger vio­
lated the Fourth Amendment. In support of his 
powerful argument that “ [t]he progress of sci­
ence in furnishing the government with means 
of espionage is not likely to stop with wire 
tapping,” Brandeis originally pointed to the 
nascent technology of television in an opinion 
draft. Friendly recalls that in early drafts of the 
Olmstead dissent, Brandeis argued that televi­
sion would permit the government to look into 
people’s homes—a technological point with 
which Friendly took issue:

And I said: Mr. Justice, it doesn’t 
work that way! You can’t just beam 
a television set out of somebody’s 
home and see what they’re doing. He 
said: That’s just exactly what you can 
do. So we batted the ball across the 
net a few times, and I said: Well, I 
really think it ’s silly for two lawyers 
to be discussing this—why don’t I go
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to the Library o f Co ngre s s and ge t 
y o u s o m e article s abo u t this . Which 
will explain what television really 
is. Well, he said, that’s fine. And 
of course you’re going to be wrong. 
Well, I didn’t say anything. So, I 
got the articles, and unhappily, I was 
right. And so, he had to strike that 
sentence.54

“Unhappily, the reference was deleted in def­
erence to the scientific skepticism of his law 
clerk,”  writes Freund, clearly tongue-in-cheek, 
“who strongly doubted that the new device 
could be adapted to the uses of espionage.” 55 
Cheerfully admits Friendly: “And in the course 
of events, he [Brandeis] was right! And I was 
wrong.”

From the law clerks’ perspective, Bran­
deis’ natural remoteness was exacerbated by 
his method of communication. Recalls former 
law clerk Louis L. Jaffe (October Term 1933):

I worked in a little apartment at
Stoneleigh Court. Brandeis worked 
in his own apartment, and I really 
saw very little of him. He would slip 
a paper under the door leaving me in­
structions in the morning before I got 
there, and I would slip my work un­
der his door when I finished. He was 
really a very remote, distant person. I 
had very little direct personal contact 
with him. It took me a while to get 
over the pique of that, not having any 
contact with him.56

Brandeis typically met with his law clerks for 
a thirty-minute meeting around 8:30 a.m. and 
again in the early evening around 6:00 p.m. 
to 7:00 p.m. The law clerks typically contin­
ued working after the evening meeting. An 
early riser, Brandeis was often at work when 
the clerks arrived in the morning—a fact that 
made former clerk Freund “ feel like a laggard 
keeping banker’s hours.”57 Freund was not the 
only law clerk impressed by Brandeis’ work 
ethic. Recalls Austern: “ I remember one time 
preparing a memo and staying up all night until

about 5:30 [a.m.], going down to his apartment 
and slipping the memo under the door, and see 
it retrieved from the other side of the door.” 58 

Brandeis would sometimes work in his office 
in the second apartment before returning to his 
bedroom/study in his own apartment in the af­
ternoon. Despite these meetings, at least one 
former clerk admitted that “ it was a lonesome 
job.” 59

With the job, however, came freedom. Jus­
tice Brandeis did not impose set office hours 
on his clerks, and his only concern was that the 
assigned work be completed on time. Recalls 
Freund:

It had become the custom by my time 
for clerks to work at all hours, but 
some had rather individual habits.
One predecessor, who has since be­
come an industrialist [Robert G. 
Page], made a practice of going out at 
night on the social circuit, then com­
ing straight to the office in the early 
hours of the morning for a stint before 
returning home. On one occasion, 
having arrived at the office at one or 
two a.m., he was overtaken there at 
five o’clock, which was the Justice’s 
opening of the work day.. .The Jus­
tice entered the office, just above his 
residence in the apartment building, 
and greeting his clerk, “Good morn­
ing, Page,”  in a perfectly casual way, 
as if  it were the most natural thing in 
the world for a law clerk to be about 
at five in the morning in white tie and 
tails.60

There is a sense that the limited interac­
tions between the Justice and his law clerk 
diminished over time, a pattern perhaps ex­
plained by Brandeis’ slowly declining health. 
“You have to remember that we didn’t talk 
much because this man was hoarding his en­
ergy,”  explains Fisher, Brandeis’ last law clerk. 
“ It was almost like being in Floyd Patterson’s 
training camp. He [Brandeis] wasn’t going to
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expend any energy on something he didn’t 
have to do.” 61

The day-to-day ritual of clerking for Bran- 
deis was shaped not only by the Justice but also 
by his wife. “ I should say that Mrs. Brandeis 
looked after him like he was a baby,” recalls 
Sutherland. “She wouldn’t let him work more 
than two hours in a row, for example. So ev­
ery two hours he took the stairs down, took a 
quick walk around the block, came back for 
a five minute nap, and then started working 
again.”62 Mrs. Brandeis’ protectiveness of her 

husband occasionally led to the odd job as­
signment for the law clerks. Freund recounts 
the time when Justice Brandeis was scheduled 
to meet President-elect Franklin Delano Roo­
sevelt at the Mayflower Hotel in Washington, 
D.C. The day prior to the meeting, Freund was 
dispatched to the hotel by Mrs. Brandeis to 
“make sure that there were no open windows 
because Justice Brandeis was very susceptible 
to colds.”  Upon arriving at the hotel, the ho­
tel staff told Freund that Mrs. Brandeis’ fears 
were unfounded, since FDR “did not like drafts 
either.”63

The sense of isolation felt by some of the 
Brandeis law clerks was further exacerbated 
by Justice Brandeis’ imposition of a strict duty 
of confidentiality, a precursor to the rules and 
norms that bind modem law clerks. “ I remem­
ber the first thing he said. ‘ In this job you 
will  hear and see a lot that’s confidential,” ’ 
states Freund. ‘“There has never been a leak 
from this office and I don’t expect there to be 
any leaks.’”64 The duty of confidentiality ex­
tended not only to the general public, but to 
the Supreme Court law clerks in other Cham­
bers as well.65 Brandeis’ requirement of con­

fidentiality pre-dated the “Code of Conduct 
for Law Clerks of the Supreme Court of the 
United States,”  which the Supreme Court for­
mally adopted in the late 1980s. The Code im­
poses upon Supreme Court law clerks a duty of 
complete confidentiality and loyalty. Finally, 
Brandeis’ sense of institutional loyalty meant 
that he imposed a duty of confidentiality upon 
himself. “Throughout the history of the Court

there have been justices who in private con­
versation or correspondence have referred to 
colleagues in salty and not always complimen­
tary terms,”  explains Magruder. “ I never heard 
Justice Brandeis indulge himself in this rela­
tively harmless sport. Nor did he ever betray 
any exasperation when his associates did not 
see things his way.” 66

The duties of the law clerks extended be­
yond the law. The clerks were drafted to help 
host the weekly teas that Washington society 
expected Mrs. Brandeis to hold.67 At the teas, 
the law clerks served multiple roles, including 
guest, waiter and bouncer. Landis explains that 
his duties included making sure “both that the 
guests were served and that the Justice should 
not be cornered too long by anyone of them.”68 
Acheson paints a wonderfully vivid picture of 
the setting:

The hostess, erect on a black horse­
hair sofa, presided at the tea ta­
ble. Above her, an engraved tiger 
couchant, gazing off over pretty 
dreary country, evoked depressing 
memories of our dentist’s waiting 
room. Two female acolytes, often my 
wife and another conscripted pupil 
of Mrs. Brandeis’s weekly seminar 
on child education, assisted her. The 
current law clerk presented newcom­
ers. This done, disciples gathered in a 
semicircle around the Justice. For the 
most part they were young and with 
spouses—lawyers in government and 
out, writers, conservationists from 
Agriculture and Interior, frustrated 
regulators of utilities or monopolies, 
and, often, pilgrims to the shrine.69

The former clerks believed that the teas were 
not merely social occasions, but served multi­
ple functions. Freund states that Brandeis “of­
ten invited people to tea who had just done 
something that he admired,” adding that the 
invitation itself was a “sort of accolade” and 
that the invited guest would receive the Jus­
tice’s full  attention and a volley of “penetrating
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qu e s tio ns .”70 Acheson writes that they allowed 
Justice Brandeis to discuss the two topics that 
he found most compelling: “ the Greek Genius 
... and the Curse of Bigness. These themes 
crossed like the lines on a telescopic sight on 
any unfortunate who was reported to be go­
ing, not back to his home town, but to New 
York or Chicago or Philadelphia.” 71 Riesman 
suggests, however, that the teas also served as 
an information-gathering session for the Jus­
tice. “At the Sunday teas he treated people like 
oranges, squeezing them of information and 
then tossing them away.” 72

Brandeis’ courtly side emerged at the teas. 
“Brandeis would never sit if  a lady were in the 
room standing,” states Austern. “So at these 
teas we had, Mrs. Brandeis had me running 
around making sure all the ladies were sitting 
down.”73 Law clerks remember that Brandeis 
could be charming to his guests, including the 
relatives of his law clerks. Former law clerk 
Nathaniel L. Nathanson (October Term 1934) 
recounts a story of taking his mother to tea 
at the Brandeis residence: “He [Brandeis] was 
a pretty tough cookie, I thought, and I had 
told my mother about him ... [but] he was as 
charming as could be at that tea, and afterwards 
my mother kept asking me how I could say all 
those things about him.” 74 Mrs. Brandeis her­
self would make sure that visitors were not 
monopolizing the Justice’s time, often limit­
ing them to ten minutes with the Justice before 
shooing them towards the tea tray. And Mrs. 
Brandeis would monitor the clerks to ensure 
they were following strict Washington proto­
col. “ [Mrs. Brandeis] had learned how seri­
ously people in Washington took their titles, 
and the clerk was admonished to be certain to 
get them right.” 75

Law clerks were also invited to join the 
Brandeises for dinner. Former clerk W. Gra­
ham Claytor, Jr. (October Term 1937) remem­
bers that Mrs. Brandeis’ protective nature ex­
tended to dinner as well, where she reminded 
guests that dinner started promptly at 7:00 p.m. 
and the Justice was expected to retire by 9:30 
p.m. While the conversation and company may

have been first-class, the food was not. Austern 
remarks that Mrs. Brandeis “would cut a slice 
of roast beef you could see through,”76 and 
Riesman is even less charitable: “Dinner there 
was gastronomically ghastly.”77 The law clerks 
also served as bouncers at these evening func­
tions. Landis states that the law clerk was re­
sponsible for guaranteeing that the Brandeis 
guests left at 10:00 p.m., and that any failure 
in this essential duty would result in an “ac­
cusing”  stare from Mrs. Brandeis.

Besides teas and dinners, the daily grind 
was interrupted with trips between the Bran­
deis and Holmes residences. Because Brandeis 
and Holmes did not like the telephone, the 
law clerks’ responsibilities included carrying 
materials between the two homes. This purely 
secretarial responsibility gave clerks the op­
portunity to interact with the great Holmes.78 

The visits also gave the Brandeis clerks the 
chance to socialize with the Holmes clerks, en­
counters that gave one clerk a brief glimpse of 
Holmes’ insecurity about his friendship with 
Brandeis. Recounts former clerk Sutherland:

[O]ne time I remember Holmes’ clerk 
asked me to lunch. And he said to 
me, “What does Brandeis think of 
Holmes?”  And I said, just out of cu­
riosity, why do you want to know?
And he said, “Because Holmes keeps 
asking me and I want to know what 
to tell him.79

Sutherland clerked during October Terms 
1917 and 1918, and perhaps the bond between 
Brandeis and Holmes had not fully  developed. 
By the time Holmes retired from the Court, the 
mutual affection felt by the two Justices was 
undeniable.

In his final years on the Bench, the aging 
Brandeis may have leaned more heavily upon 
his law clerks. His last law clerk, Fisher, recalls 
working on both cert, petitions and some opin­
ion drafts, and the strapping former-rugby- 
player-turned-law-clerk was pressed into ser­
vice as an elevator:
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[Mrs . Brande is ] calle d in the afte r­
no o n and s aid the e le vato r was bro­
ke n, Ju s tice Brande is was alre ady o n 
his way back fro m the Co u rt, and 
what was I go ing to do abo u t it. Cle rks 
we re expected to do everything. Well,
I went down there and found the jan­
itor ... [a]nd we found a chair. And 
when Brandeis walked in, we had him 
sit in the chair, and we carried him up 
five flights of stairs. And I ’ ll never 
forget that. Brandeis in his overcoat 
and derby hat, serene as could be, 
taking it all in stride as though there 
[was] not the slightest problem, look­
ing straight ahead.80

Unfortunately for Fisher, his bout of manual 
labor was not yet complete. “Mrs. Brandeis 
came down in all a flutter, and she too had a 
weak heart, so after we took Brandeis up, we 
had to come back and carry Mrs. Brandeis up 
in the chair.” 81

Unlike modern law clerks, but perfectly 
keeping with the Brandeis tradition, the Jus­
tice and his former law clerks did not have 
formal reunions. Nor did Brandeis condone 
lavish celebrations or expensive gifts in his 
honor.

When, on the approach of his eight­
ieth birthday, the former secretaries 
of Mr. Justice Brandeis planned a 
visit in his honor, word came that, 
more than the pilgrimage, the Justice 
would welcome a message from each 
of the group recounting the public 
service that he had of late been per­
forming. The would-be pilgrims had 
known in their hearts that the devo­
tion the Justice cherished most from 
them was devotion to his conception 
of the lawyer’s calling.82

When recounting this story years later, Judge 
Magruder paused and added, “ [M]y  letter was 
rather short.” 83

The Bonds between Isaiah and HisWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

Young Disciples

For the Brandeis law clerks, their relation­
ship with Justice Brandeis took on a famil­
iar pattern—distant, polite and formal at first, 
with the chill of the early relationship replaced 
with warmth and occasional flashes of Bran­
deis’ humor. Comments Nathanson: “ [Justice 
Brandeis] did not immediately clasp his law 
clerk to his bosom as a member of the family 
as well as a working associate. On the con­
trary, he seemed to keep personal relations at a 
minimum—especially at first—and to be de­
liberately testing the mettle of his assistants.”84 
Once the law clerks passed Justice Brandeis’ 
unspoken litmus test, however, the Brandeis 
clerks discovered that “beneath that aloofness, 
there was a great serenity—and also a sense 
of fun. But it was so distilled.” 85 One example 

of Brandeis’ unique sense of humor: “ I never 
forget asking him about an article with which 
I disagreed strongly, and I said how could 
the author say those things,” states Austem. 
“And he said, ‘Mr. Austern ... you’ ll find this 
world is full of sons of bitches, and they’re 
always hard at work at it.’”86 Despite these 
flashes of humor, the law clerks remained in 
awe of Brandeis’ emotional self-control, intel­
lect, self-discipline, and formidable memory.

While law clerk and Justice might grow 
closer over the course of their year together, the 
relationship—perhaps with the exception of 
Brandeis’ with Dean Acheson—did not evolve 
into friendship. “ It was difficult  to get to know 
[Brandeis],” recalls Sutherland. “You could 
admire him, but he wasn’t the kind of person 
to mold in with as old friends.” 87 Despite the 

distance between Justice and law clerk, Bran­
deis’ assistants were fiercely loyal to “ Isaiah.”  
“There was some quality about him that made 
people want to work for him and please him,”  
states Sutherland.88

While aloof, Brandeis took an interest in 
his law clerks’ lives and well-being. A touch­
ing example of this concern can be seen in 
the fact that when Brandeis retired from the
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Su p re m e Co u rt in 1939, his p rim ary co nce rn 
was finding his cu rre nt cle rk, Fis he r, im m e di­
ate e m p lo y m e nt. “Frankfu rte r to ld m e that he 
[Brande is ] calle d Felix in and told him, and 
after Frankfurter, who was then a Justice, went 
through how terrible it all was, Brandeis said, 
‘Well, that’s not why I called you here. What 
are we going to do with Adrian?” ’89 This con­
cern is also reflected in Brandeis’ correspon­
dence with Frankfurter. For example, upon 
learning that former clerk Landis would re­
main at the Security and Exchange Commis­
sion until he started at Harvard Law School, 
Brandeis wrote that Landis was “unwise” to 
work so hard and “needs a vacation &  time for 
meditation.”90

Moreover, Brandeis took a keen interest 
in the career paths selected by his law clerks, 
and his correspondence with Felix Frankfurter 
is sprinkled with references to the professional 
achievements of his clerks and suggestions re­
garding future advancement.91 Brandeis pre­
ferred law clerks who might become teachers 
or public-interest lawyers, and he employed 
both direct and indirect tactics in achieving 
these goals, often discussing with Frankfurter 
his own career plans for his law clerks be­
fore he shared said plans with the clerks

themselves. During Harry Shulman’s clerk­
ship, Justice Brandeis quickly concluded that 
the young man “ is too good in mind, temper, 
and aspirations to waste on a New York or other 
law offices ... Can’t you land him somewhere 
in a law school next fall?”92 What Brandeis 
later referred to as “our plans for his teaching”  
were not revealed to Shulman himself until two 
months later, and subsequently it was Brandeis 
who “practically dictated” Shulman’s letter of 
acceptance to Yale Law School.93 As for law 
clerk Henry M. Hart, Jr., the Justice wrote to 
Frankfurter that “ [t]here has been no ‘oppor­
tunity’ of sounding Hart [out about teaching at 
Harvard Law School]. Of course I can, with­
out occasion, take up the subject with him. But 
would that be wise? Hadn’t he better be asked 
by [Professor Samuel] Williston to talk with 
me?”94

Brandeis’ efforts to fill  the halls of promi­
nent law schools with former law clerks ex­
tended to clerks in other Chambers. In a Febru­
ary 14, 1925 letter to Frankfurter, Brandeis 
wrote that he had met with Charles Dickerman 
Williams, a Yale Law School graduate and law 
clerk to Chief Justice William Howard Taft. 
“ If  he is as good as he looks, he ought to be 
in law-teaching,”  observed Brandeis. “ It might
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be wo rthwhile to m ake s o m e e nqu irie s abo u t 
him fro m the Yale Faculty. Perhaps that would 
induce them to give him a try there &  save his 
soul.” 95

Brandeis voiced his displeasure when his 
former clerks did not follow his advice. In an 
October 13, 1929 letter to Frankfurter, Bran­
deis wrote that “ [t]he satisfaction I had in hav­
ing Page and Friendly with me is a good deal 
mitigated by the thought of their present activ­
ities [private practice]. Of course, it is possible 
that they, or at least Friendly, may reform and 
leave his occupation.”96 Brandeis was partic­
ularly vexed that Friendly did not become a 
law professor, referring to Friendly’s time in 
private practice as a “ trial period”  and periodi­
cally pondering aloud about the “possibility of 
wrenching Henry Friendly loose” so he could 
make his preordained return to Harvard Law 
School.97

Riesman keenly recalls Brandeis’ disap­
pointment regarding his decision to enter pri­
vate practice. “ [H]e was contemptuous of me 
because I wanted to go back to Boston to a law 
firm.”98 Brandeis was “vehement” that Ries­
man must “be a missionary”  who used his tal­
ents to benefit the less fortunate. “The fact that 
I had friends in Boston and had season tickets 
to the Boston Symphony was totally frivolous 
and unworthy of consideration. Friendship was 
not a category in his life.”99 Those law clerks 
who followed Brandeis’ suggestions, however, 
found that the prophet was not infallible. “He 
never urged me to go into teaching,” states 
Fisher, “but he did urge me to go back to Ten­
nessee, which I did and it proved to be a real 
mistake.” 100

With his confidantes, Brandeis could 
be sharply candid in his assessment of his 
law clerks. His first law clerk was Calvert 
Magruder, who later served as a federal ap­
peals court judge. In a March 25,1920 letter to 
Thomas Nelson Perkins, Brandeis wrote: “He 
[Magruder] has a good legal mind and good 
working habits—and is a right-minded South­
ern gentleman. He is not of extraordinary abil­
ity or brilliant or of unusual scholarship, but

he has stability.” 101 Upon learning that former 
clerk William Gorham Rice, Jr. (October Term 
1921) was a candidate for a deanship, Bran­
deis observed to Frankfurter that “ [d]espite 
his mental limitations, he [Rice] may be the 
best man available for Wisconsin,” 102 and 
predicted that Louis Jaffe—having “ found 
himself’—would be “much better at teaching 
than he was as secretary.” 103

Brandeis’ unvarnished assessment of his 
clerks extended even to Acheson. Although 
Brandeis requested that Acheson remain his 
assistant for a second year, he was not wholly 
impressed with his young clerk’s abilities. In a 
November 25,1920 letter to Frankfurter, Bran­
deis wrote:

Acheson is doing much better work 
this year, no doubt mainly because 
of his greater experience; partly, per­
haps, because I talked the situation 
over with him frankly. But for his 
own sake he ought to get out of this 
job next fall. I don’t know just what 
his new job ought to be. It should be 
exacting. If  I consulted my own con­
venience I might be tempted to ask 
him to stay.104

There is no indication in Acheson’s memoirs 
as to “ the situation” that was the subject of a 
discussion between the two men.

Acheson, Jaffe, Magruder, and Rice were 
not the only law clerks whose abilities and lim­
itations were bluntly summarized by the Jus­
tice. During October Term 1928, Frankfurter’s 
vaunted track record of selecting perfect assis­
tants was singlehandedly ended by the antics 
of new clerk Irving Baer Goldsmith. One week 
into Goldsmith’s clerkship, Brandeis wrote 
Frankfurter that Goldsmith had arrived hours 
late to work on two different days, making ex­
cuses about being “poisoned by seafood,”  the 
hotel failing to provide a requested wake-up 
call, and fatigue from his first week of the 
clerkship. Brandeis was unconvinced, writing: 
“His excuses are barely plausible. I suspect his 
habits are bad—the victim of drink or worse
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vice s . I have a s e ns e o f his be ing u ntru s two r­
thy; and something of the sense of uncleanness 
about him.” 105

While Frankfurter made arrangements for 
an immediate replacement, Brandeis hesitated, 
worried that Goldsmith’s abrupt firing “would 
be a severe blow to G. and might impair his fu­
ture success for an appreciable time.” 106 After 
having a frank discussion with Goldsmith, dur­
ing which the young man promised “ total ab­
stinence from drink”  and to maintain a lifestyle 
that would “give him his maximum working 
capacity,” 107 Brandeis permitted Goldsmith to 
remain in his position. Brandeis never regained 
confidence in Goldsmith, however, later writ­
ing that “he lacked the qualities which would 
have made him desirable in a law school, or in 
any important public service.” 108

Few law clerks became close enough to 
Brandeis to be considered confidantes and 
friends. The one exception to this rule was 
Dean Acheson. Even during his clerkship, 
Acheson was able to temporarily draw Bran­
deis’ focus away from work and engage him in 
discussions on pressing political, social, and 
economic issues of the day, and in later years 
it would be Acheson who would ask Brandeis 
to swear him in as Assistant Secretary of State 
and would spend evenings with Brandeis, gos­
siping and sharing “ the latest dirt.” 109 Ache­
son and his wife often joined Justice and Mrs. 
Brandeis for holiday dinners. Brandeis grand­
son Frank Gilbert recalls that Freund also be­
came close to the Justice after his clerkship and 
visited Brandeis and his extended family at his 
summer cottage in Chatham, Massachusetts. 
And the correspondence between Frankfurter 
and Brandeis contains multiple references to 
Freund and former James Landis, including a 
discussion of Landis’s engagement in 1926 and 
Brandeis’ willingness to loan Landis $2,000 
(presumably to cover expenses associated with 
the pending nuptials).110

Upon the Justice’s death, Acheson was the 
Brandeis law clerk who delivered the eulogy 
at the Justice’s small memorial service at his 
California Street residence. Referring to the

Brandeis law clerks as “ the fortunate ones,”  
Acheson revealed that Brandeis’ affection for 
his law clerks ran deeper than they imagined. 
“ I have talked, over the past twenty years, with 
the Justice about these men. I have heard him 
speak of some achievement of one of us with 
all the pride and of some sorrow or disap­
pointment of another with all the tenderness 
of a father speaking of his sons.” 111 Walter B. 
Raushenbush, the grandson of Louis and Al ­
ice Brandeis, attended the memorial service, 
and over sixty years later he still recalls be­
ing struck by Acheson’s poise, as well as his 
“moving and eloquent”  remarks.112

While Justice Brandeis declined his law 
clerks’ offers of celebration and tribute, af­
ter his death his clerks honored the memory 
and service of their formal employer in a va­
riety of different ways. Several of them pub­
lished “ tribute”  pieces in law reviews and legal 
journals in the decades following the Justice’s 
passing, arguably becoming the originators of 
a literary tradition now followed by scores of 
former law clerks from all levels of federal and 
state courts. The clerks also commissioned a 
bust of the late jurist, which was presented to 
the Harvard Law School in January 1943. At 
the presentation, Magruder spoke of Justice 
Brandeis’ “ ‘almost paternal concern’ for and 
continuing interest in ‘his boys.’” 113 In short,

Paul Freund taught at Harvard for thirty-seven yearsWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

and was a leading expert on constitutional law. 

He famously turned down President Kennedy's of­

fer to be Solicitor General because he was writing 

the Oliver Wendell Holmes Devise History of the 

Supreme Court. He is pictured here during his clerk­

ship in the 1932 Term.
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the s e p o s t-cle rks hip activitie s are co m p e lling 
e vide nce in s u p p o rt o f Stru m’s assertion that 
the clerks “ left Brandeis’s service with admi­
ration bordering on adulation.” 114

A Collective Portrait of the BrandeisWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

Law Clerks

From 1916 to 1939, Brandeis hired twenty-one 
Harvard Law School graduates to serve as his 
law clerks at the Supreme Court. As with mod­
em clerkships, the clerks began working at the 
Court in the summer after graduation and— 
with two exceptions—remained with the Jus­
tice for a single Term of Court. William A. 
Sutherland and Dean Acheson each clerked 
for Justice Brandeis for two years, perhaps 
due to the effect of World War I on the num­
ber of law students attending Harvard Law 
School.

Fulfilling Brandeis’ wish to fill  the halls 
of major law schools with his clerks, eleven 
of his former clerks became law-school pro­
fessors and deans. Of these, perhaps the most 
famous is Paul A. Freund, who became a long­
time Harvard Law School professor and one 
of the leading experts on constitutional law. 
Other Brandeis law clerks to teach at Harvard 
Law School included Henry M. Hart, Jr., Louis 
L. Jaffe, James M. Landis, Calvert Magruder, 
and William E. McCurdy. Of these, Landis’s 
career witnessed the most spectacular fall from 
grace. After teaching at Harvard Law School 
in the late 1920s, Landis served on both the 
Federal Trade Commission and the Security 
and Exchange Commission, becoming chair­
man of the SEC in 1935, before returning to 
Harvard Law School as its new dean in 1937. 
Landis later served as chairman of the Civil  
Aeronautics Board during the Truman admin­
istration and as an advisor to President John 
F. Kennedy, only to see his professional ca­
reer unravel in the 1960s after his conviction 
and brief incarceration for failing to file in­
come taxes. Landis was found drowned in his 
swimming pool in July 1964.

David Riesman joined his former col­
leagues at Harvard University, but not as a law

professor. While Riesman briefly taught at the 
University of Buffalo Law School, the publi­
cation of his book The Lonely Crowd115 led 
to his appointment as a professor of sociology 
at Harvard in 1958. Harry Shulman went to 
Harvard Law School’s chief rival, joining the 
Yale Law School faculty in 1930 and quickly 
establishing a reputation as a top scholar in 
labor law. Shulman became the dean of Yale 
Law School in 1954, only to have his academic 
career cut prematurely short upon his death at 
the age of fifty-one in March 1955.116 Adrian 

S. Fisher served as a law school dean at the 
Georgetown University Law Center, and later 
taught at the George Mason School of Law, but 
he also had a long career as an arms-control 
negotiator.117

Two additional clerks, J. Willard Hurst 
and William G. Rice, spent their teaching ca­
reers at the University of Wisconsin School of 
Law. Hurst gained renown as a prominent le­
gal historian, while Rice focused his academic 
studies on international law.118 Nathaniel L. 
Nathanson taught at Northwestern University 
School of Law and coauthored a textbook on 
administrative law with Harvard Law profes­
sor Jaffe.119

A number of Brandeis law clerks became 
prominent lawyers. Of these practicing attor­
neys, four found a semipermanent home at the 
Washington, D.C. law firm of Covington &  
Burling. Dean Acheson practiced at Covington 
&  Burling between stints of public service, and 
he was joined there by H. Thomas Austem and 
W. Graham Claytor, Jr. Claytor practiced with 
Covington and Burling from 1938 to 1967 and 
from 1981 to 1982, taking breaks to serve as 
the president of Southern Railroad and AM ­
TRAK as well as Secretary of the Navy in the 
Carter Administration.120 In the 1950s, Fisher 

also worked at the firm.
Covington & Burling, however, did not 

have a monopoly on those former Brandeis 
clerks practicing law. William A. Sutherland 
founded the Atlanta-based law firm of Suther­
land, Asbill & Brennan, and Warren Stil- 
son Ege opened the Washington office of 
the law firm Jones, Day, Reavis and Pogue.
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Two former Brandeis clerks and future Harvard Law School professors—Louis Jaffe (left) and Paul FreundWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

(right)—were photographed together.

Brandeis’ second-to-last clerk, William Graham Clay- 

tor, Jr., became a lawyer for Covington & Burling and 

had stints as president of Amtrak and Secretary of 

the Navy under Jimmy Carter.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Sam u e l H. Mas lo n he lp e d s tart the Minne ap o­
lis law firm o f Mas lo n, Edelman, Borman &  
Brand, but he balanced the private practice of 
law with a brief and part-time teaching ca­
reer (he taught at the University of Minnesota 
School of Law in the 1930s), public service 
(helping found the Metropolitan-Mount Sinai 
Hospital in Minneapolis as well as a public 
television station), and the arts.121 Irving B. 
Goldsmith, whose antics during the early days 
of his clerkship almost led to his firing, prac­
ticed law in Chicago, Illinois before dying at 
the relatively young age of 39.122

Two former clerks had long and dis­
tinguished careers on the federal bench: 
Magruder and Henry J. Friendly. Magruder 
taught at Harvard Law School for approxi­
mately twelve years before being appointed 
to the Court of Appeals for the First Circuit 
in 1939. Friendly was a partner at the New 
York law firm of Cleary, Gottlieb, Friendly and
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Ham ilto n be fo re be ing ap p o inte d to the Co u rt 
o f Appeals for the Second Circuit by President 
Eisenhower.123

Arguably, only one law clerk, Robert 
Page, ran afoul of Justice Brandeis’ warn­
ing against “ the Curse of Bigness.” While he 
practiced law for a number of years, Page left 
private practice in 1947 to become president 
of the Phelps Dodge Corporation, an interna­
tional mining company, eventually rising to the 
position of chairman of the board prior to his 
death in 1970.124 Justice Brandeis might have 
been mollified, however, to learn that Page was 
also a supporter of the Legal Aid Society.

Conclusion

While Louis Brandeis reshaped the institu­
tional rules and norms surrounding the uti­
lization of Supreme Court law clerks, he did 
not write on a blank institutional slate. Bran­
deis built upon the early practices of Justices 
Horace Gray and Oliver Wendell Holmes, Jr., 
and these three jurists are bound together when 
it comes to discussing the origin and evolu­
tion of the clerkship institution. When Bran­
deis arrived at the Supreme Court in 1916, 
Holmes was the only Supreme Court Justice 
routinely hiring Harvard Law School students 
as his clerks—a tradition that Holmes adopted 
when he replaced Gray on the Supreme Court. 
The practice of hiring law clerks, however, was 
not foreign to Brandeis. As noted earlier, from 
1879 to 1881 he clerked for Gray during Gray’s 
tenure as Chief Justice of the Massachusetts 
supreme judicial court, and he subsequently 
hired three of Gray’s former Supreme Court 
law clerks—William Harrison Dunbar, John 
Gorham Palfrey, and Ezra Ripley Thayer—to 
work at the Boston law firm of Brandeis, Dun­
bar, and Nutter.

In sum, Brandeis followed the practice of 
both Gray and Holmes in having a Harvard 
Law School professor select a top-law school 
graduate to clerk for one year at the Supreme 
Court. Where Brandeis differed from Gray 
and Holmes, however, was that he used his 
law clerks differently. While clerking for Gray,

Brandeis performed substantive legal work. In 
a July 12, 1879 letter, Brandeis described his 
job duties for Gray as follows:

He takes out the record and briefs 
in any case, we read them over, talk 
about the points raised, examine the 
authorities and arguments, then he 
makes up his mind if  he can, marks 
out the line of argument for his opin­
ion, writes it, and then dictates to me.
But I am treated in every respect as 
a person of co-ordinate position. He 
asks me what I think of his line of 
argument and I answer candidly. If  
I think other reasons better, I give 
them; if  I think his language obscure,
I tell him so; if  I have any doubts, I 
express them. And he is very fair in 
acknowledging a correct suggestion 
or disabusing one of an erroneous 
idea.125

From this description, one can see parallels be­
tween the Gray and Brandeis clerkship mod­
els. Both Justices considered their law clerks to 
be partners and encouraged candid discussion 
and debate over language, structure, and legal 
arguments contained in the opinions. Where 
Gray and Brandeis differ, however, is that 
Gray involved his law clerks in debating how 
the case should be decided, whereas Brandeis 
“was inflexible in holding that the duty of de­
cision must be performed by him unaided.” 126

When it came to substantive responsibili­
ties, Brandeis’ clerkship model diverged more 
dramatically from Holmes’ . “Holmes wanted 
a clerk for a son,” observes Hurst. “Bran­
deis wanted a working clerk.” 127 While Justice 

Holmes asked his law clerks to review cert, pe­
titions and occasionally find a cite to Holmes’ 
“ favorite author” (himself), his clerks were a 
combination of private secretary and compan­
ion. Holmes biographer Francis Biddle writes 
that Harvard Law School Professor John Chip- 
man Gray, the half-brother of Horace Gray, 
was well suited to the task of selecting clerks: 
“Gray knew the kind of boys Holmes wanted— 
they must be able to deal with the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAcertiorari,
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balance his che ckbo o k, and lis te n to his tall 
talk. And they would have more chance of un­
derstanding it, thought Gray, if  they also were 
honor men.” 128

While Brandeis might debate the threat 
posed by large corporations, the flaws of the 
National Recovery Administration, or the role 
of unions in America with his clerks, Holmes’ 
“ tall talk”  was of a more esoteric type:

[Holmes] wanted someone to talk 
about literature and philosophy. 
Here’s a typical example. Holmes 
said to his clerk one day, “Young man, 
what would you do if  you saw a mira­
cle?”  And the clerk thought about it, 
and said ... he didn’t know what he 
would do if  he were confronted by a 
miracle. And Holmes said he knew. 
“Why I would say, miracle, I ’m so 
surprised, because I always thought 
cause and effect would outlast even 
me.” 129

When not asking his law clerks metaphysi­
cal questions, Holmes would regale them with 
tales of the Civil War, have them admire the 
spring flowers blooming around the District of 
Columbia, and ask them to take him to visit his 
future grave at Arlington National Cemetery.

Whether or not by design, the former law 
clerks to both Brandeis and Holmes shared one 
critical responsibility after their clerkships: 
burnishing the legends of the two Justices. If  
one pores through the biographical materials 
on Brandeis and Holmes, it quickly becomes 
apparent that these clerks are the chief de­
fenders of their respective Justice’s place in 
the judicial pantheon. The one glaring excep­
tion is the aforementioned David Riesman, the 
lawyer-tumed-sociologist who initially  sought 
to decline the Brandeis clerkship. “ I have taken 
a harsher look at him [Brandeis] since I left, in 
part because of all the adulation that surrounds 
him with Mason’s book130 and other writings, 
which I felt was misleading.” 131 Riesman is 
unique among the Brandeis clerks. If  other 
clerks have felt irritation at the larger-than-life

treatment of their former employer by biogra­
phers, they have remained silent.132

Justice Louis Brandeis left the Supreme 
Court in 1939, but in many ways his clerkship 
model has become the standard for the clerk­
ship institution. While modern Justices have 
admittedly deviated from the Brandeis model 
in terms of the types of job duties assigned 
to their law clerks,133 what remains unaltered 

is Brandeis’ expectation that a Supreme Court 
law clerk graduate from a top law school, pos­
sess a strong work ethic, have superior legal 
writing and research skills as well as the inter­
nal fortitude to serve as a sounding board and 
critic to the Justice’s work product, and appre­
ciate the importance of loyalty and confiden­
tiality. In creating these standards, Brandeis, 
like Gray and Holmes, left his own distinct 
mark on the clerkship institution.
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Be fo re Chie f Ju s tice Warre n p lay e d ho s t to Prime Minister Nehru at the Supreme Court in 
1956, opening the Marble Temple as a place to practice personal diplomacy, he had done little 
international travel. Indeed, “ the first six decades of his life had been spent almost entirely in 
the United States.” 1 After his elevation to the Bench, however, he and Mrs. Warren traveled 
extensively overseas during the recess between terms, as quasi-official American ambassadors 
of goodwill. It became almost an annual event for the Chief to go abroad, usually on an official 
visit as head of the federal judiciary. Travel became a significant part of Warren’s continuing 
education, and he found it “always an exhilarating experience.”  He learned empirically, gaining 
understanding through experience and participation. Civil-libertarian author Alan Barth found 
that Warren “grew prodigiously.” 2

Warren’s interest in international relations 
was stimulated by the founding meetings of 
the United Nations (U.N.) in San Francisco 
in 1945, when as Governor of California he 
formally welcomed the delegates.3 The fol­
lowing year, he attended the inauguration of 
Mexican president Miguel Aleman and subse­
quently paid several official visits to Mexico. 
In August 1951, the Governor traveled to Japan

to meet soldiers of California’s own National 
Guard division who had been wounded fight­
ing in Korea.4

While still Governor, Warren was sent to 
London by President Eisenhower as one of the 
U.S. representatives to the coronation of Queen 
Elizabeth II on June 2, 1953.5 The delega­
tion was headed by former Secretary of State 
George C. Marshall and included General
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This ceremonial gavel wasWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

presented as a gift to Earl 

Warren by Chief Justice Wil­

son of Liberia when War­

ren attended the World Peace 

Through Law Conference in 

1965.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Om ar Bradle y and Mrs . Fle u r Co wle s , at that 
tim e wife o f Gardner Cowles, editor and pub­
lisher of YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBALook magazine. This assignment al­
lowed Warren to take his wife and three daugh­
ters on their first visit to Europe. While in 
Scandinavia during that extended tour, Warren 
wired Attorney General Brownell his coded 
acceptance of a position in the Eisenhower 
Administration—an acceptance that eventu­
ally led to his nomination for the Chief Justice 
post on August 3,1953. In Stockholm, Warren 
was awarded the Swedish Grand Cross of the 
Royal Order of the North Star, and in Oslo, he 
had an audience with the elderly King Haakon 
and Crown Prince (later King) Olav. When he 
subsequently was asked if  the European vaca­
tion had been arranged to familiarize him with 
foreign affairs and lead to his appointment as a 
roving ambassador, Warren answered bluntly: 
“ I am not interested in that service. I never 
have been.” 6

Early in his tenure on the Court, the Chief 
Justice contributed to the mythology of the 
State Department. Warren had recommended 
that Jack Peurifoy become Ambassador to 
Guatemala, and agreed to come to Foggy Bot­
tom to swear in the diplomat. In the office 
of Secretary of State John Foster Dulles, the 
Chief had difficulty getting into a robe that 
he had brought from the Court for the brief 
ceremony, and was being assisted by several 
Foreign Service Officers. Unfortunately, no 
one had informed the Secretary of what was 
transpiring in his office. According to Con­
sul General Ben Franklin Dixon, Dulles re­
turned from a meeting on Capitol Hill and 
when the elevator opened at his office, “he 
was so surprised, he opened his mouth wide 
and his false teeth fell out.” The diplomats 
scurried to pick up Dulles’s false teeth and to 
get the robe on Chief Justice Warren. “Peuri­
foy looked very pleased; Dulles, gritting his
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te e th, lo o ke d abs o lu te ly fu rio u s .” Thus War­
ren, in one of his first appearances at State, 
was present during a rare occasion when John 
Foster Dulles lost his cool (and his teeth), or 
was at least nonplussed.7

Throughout Warren’s Chief Justiceship, 
he and Mrs. Warren were frequently involved 
in events at the White House honoring visiting 
heads of state. During their first year in Wash­
ington, the Warrens attended a state dinner 
honoring Emperor Haile Selassie of Ethiopia 
in May, and in June, Warren was one of “ forty 
Republicans and Democrats”  and the only Jus­
tice invited to Eisenhower’s White House lun­
cheon for Winston Churchill. The President 
and Prime Minister held private talks about 
the best means of bolstering the cause of free­
dom in Southeast Asia. Declared the Prime 
Minister: “To jaw-jaw is always better than to 
war-war.”  When the luncheon attendees came 
out on the North portico, Sir Winston walked 
out with the Chief Justice, while Republican 
Congressmen accompanied Eisenhower.8

After the 1954 Term ended in June 1955, 
the Warrens returned to the Scandinavian 
countries as part of a six-week, eight-nation 
tour, ostensibly on “ the first vacation in 30 
years,” but serendipitously as personal diplo­
mats YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBApar excellence. At one level, they were 
typical American tourists taking in the sights 
and writing home about them—for example, 
fulfilling  a long-time ambition “ to see the mid­
night sun on the longest day of the world.” 9 
But on another level, their travels, though 
unofficial, were frequently reported in local 
newspaper headlines. In Helsinki, the Chief 
Justice’s arrival upstaged the grand opening 
of a Communist-organized “World Assembly 
of Peace.” 10 In Bonn, Warren was the lun­
cheon guest of West German Chancellor Con­
rad Adenauer.11 Accompanied by U.S. Ambas­
sador to Germany James B. Conant, the War­
rens returned to America from Copenhagen on 
a “ transpolar flight” (a route still newsworthy 
in those days) to Los Angeles on July 17.12

When he went to San Juan to speak at 
the dedication of a new Puerto Rico Supreme

Court building in February 1956, Warren in­
advertently got involved in a Hispanic political 
controversy.13 The Warrens were the guests of 
Governor Nunoz Marin, and the Chief Justice 
was to receive an honorary Doctor of Laws 
degree from the University of Puerto Rico. A 
similar honor was to be bestowed upon Jose 
Castan Tobenas, Chief Justice of Spain. Hon­
oring Tobenas, however, caused cellist Pablo 
Casals to turn down a Doctor of Humanities 
from the university at the same ceremony, as he 
felt the jurist represented the Franco dictator­
ship that suppressed legal rights and liberties 
of the Spanish people. Local labor picketed the 
university ceremony with banners proclaim­
ing that Warren should be honored but that 
the “buddy” of Generalissimo Franco should 
not.14

In his dedicatory address, Warren paid 
homage to Puerto Rico’s merging two of the 
great legal systems of civilized times: the legal 
inheritance of Spain and that of the English- 
speaking nations. Said the Chief Justice: “Re­
tention of those parts of the Spanish heritage 
best adapted to the conditions of this island 
and the adoption of the basic feature of the 
Anglo-American system of jurisprudence cre­
ated a composite unlike any other govern­
mental structure.”  Warren described the mod­
ernistic, highly functional new court building 
as a “ temple of justice representing the noblest 
efforts in accordance with the Puerto Rican 
people’s compact with the United States to de­
velop and expand republican principles which 
recognize the dignity of every human being 
and guaranteeing rights, opportunities, and re­
sponsibilities for all it represents.”  The Chief 
emphasized the relationship between peace 
and justice. “Our national ideal is peace ... 
We believe that it can only be achieved through 
justice .. .The success of any legal system is 
measured by its fidelity to the universal ideal 
of justice.” In a frequently quoted statement, 
Warren proclaimed that “ the most important 
problem of these times was whether the world 
and all its parts were to be governed by the rule 
of force or by the force of law.” 15
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The San Juan ceremonies were attended 
by ambassadors and other high officials from 
Latin American countries and an impressive 
delegation representing the U.S. legal com­
munity, including Attorney General Herbert 
Brownell, Solicitor General Simon E. So- 
beloff, several federal judges, and the deans 
of the Harvard and Yale law schools, Er­
win N. Griswold and Eugene V. Rostow. Dr. 
Ralph Bunche was there on behalf of the 
U.N.16

Impressive as the Puerto Rican events 
were, it was not until the summer of 1956, with 
his successful State Department-sanctioned 
trip to India, that the Chief Justice took on the 
mantle of judicial ambassador of the Ameri­
can promise of racial equality, a role that he 
would play as an international celebrity for the 
rest of his life.

In July and August 1957, the Warrens 
returned to the British Isles, this time on 
the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAQueen M ary, to vacation and to attend 
the American Bar Association’s conference 
in London.17 At the request of the ABA, the 
Chief led a historic goodwill mission of 15,000 
bar association members to London, “where 
with English Bench and Bar, [they] jointly ex­
pressed devotion to the principles of common 
law which had developed there and had be­
come the foundation for the legal institutions 
of both countries.”  Warren viewed the pilgrim­
age as a demonstration of the two nations’ 
unified resolve to preserve freedom under law. 
The conference program was marred, however, 
by an ABA  Committee report on “Communist 
Tactics, Strategy and Objectives” that War­
ren found “ trickily contrived to discredit the 
Supreme Court.” Additionally, the meeting’s 
managers made a sartorial gaffe in not in­
forming the Chief about formal dress being 
expected on the dais. This resulted in an em­
barrassed Warren appearing in a brown suit, 
instead of morning coat and striped trousers. 
Several other untoward events related to the 
London meeting were so galling to the Chief 
Justice that he resigned from the ABA  a short 
time later.

After the conference, the Chief Justice led 
a party of 125 American lawyers to Ireland, 
among them his running mate in the 1948 pres­
idential election, Thomas Dewey, former Gov­
ernor of New York, and U.S. Attorney General 
Herbert Brownell. At the Dublin airport, they 
were greeted by a phalanx of members of Ire­
land’s legal community and politicians led by 
Chief Justice John A. Costello. The Warrens 
were the guests of President Sean T. O’Kelly at 
the official residence in Phoenix Park. At the 
National University, Prime Minister Eamon de 
Valera, chancellor of the university, conferred 
an honorary Doctor of Laws degree upon the 
Chief Justice. Later, a reception for members 
of the ABA  was held at the historic Four Courts 
in Dublin.18 At the conclusion of their stay in 
Dublin, the Warrens spent a month traveling 
through Ireland, Scotland, and England in un­
usually pleasant weather and returned to New 
York on the S.S. United States, the fastest ocean 
liner at the time.

The Chiefs travels appeared to inspire in 
him a new, keen interest in comparative law, es­
pecially in an international context.19 Upon his 

return to the United States, Warren took part 
in a three-day conference at the Jewish Theo­
logical Seminary in New York City, where he 
participated with rabbinical scholars and lay­
men in discussions of Judaic laws, ethics, and 
morals and their relevance to the contemporary 
world. The Chief called for a new effort to dis­
cover the common denominator of faith and 
understanding among the religions and people 
of the world. He advocated a worldwide series 
of exchanges among scholars and religionists. 
The Chief Justice confessed that his discus­
sion of Talmudic law and its interpretation 
was “ the first serious undertaking of this kind”  
that he had ever experienced. By studying the 
Talmud, Warren said he hoped that he might 
“have a better concept of justice and righteous­
ness and be better able to serve the people of 
our nation.” Another attendee, former Presi­
dent Harry S Truman, thought it “wonderful 
that the nation’s Chief Justice should renew 
his learning and inspiration”  at the seminar.20
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In Octo be r 1957, the Chie f Ju s tice , as 
chairm an o f the Bo ard o f Trustees of Wash­
ington’s National Gallery of Art, welcomed 
Queen Elizabeth of Great Britain at the mu­
seum. Warren presented the Queen to trustees 
and donors who accompanied her on her tour. 
The Queen especially admired Stuart Gilbert’s 
portrait of George Washington and a water- 
color lent from her own collection, “Assump­
tion of Our Lady,”  a work by William Blake.21 
The British monarch was in the United States 
to attend ceremonies for the 350th anniversary 
of the first permanent English settlement in 
America at Jamestown, Virginia.

While the Chief frequently was involved 
in official functions involving foreign heads 
of state, Nina Warren was active in her own 
right in international activities. In November 
1958, Mrs. Warren and daughter Virginia were 
among fifty-nine guests invited by hotel mag­
nate Conrad Hilton to help inaugurate the new 
Berlin Hilton. When the Warrens, YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAmater et 
filia,  were delayed by engine trouble on a char­
tered DC-7C flight to Berlin, the incident was 
reported in the New York Times.22 Indeed, dur­
ing the 1950s and 1960s, the travels of the 
Chief Justice were considered newsworthy and 
frequently were mentioned in national news­
papers. By the time Warren Burger became 
Chief Justice in 1969, international travel re­
ceived far less press coverage.

In August and September 1959, the Chief 
and Mrs. Warren traveled to the Soviet Union, 
Germany, and Scandinavia.23 They went to 

the USSR as private citizens and participated 
briefly in the American exhibition in Moscow, 
the scene of the famous “Kitchen Debate”  be­
tween Vice President Richard Nixon and So­
viet Premier Nikita Khrushchev only a few 
weeks earlier (on July 24, 1959).24 Intro­
duced to the crowd at the exhibition fashion 
show, the Chief Justice was applauded and be­
sieged by autograph seekers. Ever the consum­
mate politician, the Chief “worked the crowd,”  
telling them he was happy to be in Moscow 
and to see so many smiling faces. When his 
remarks were translated, they brought another

round of applause. Warren then leaned down 
from the platform to shake hands with people 
in the front row and to sign more than a score 
of the Russians’ fair programs.25

The homes of American ambassadors 
were frequently the domicile of the Chief Jus­
tice and his wife while abroad. For exam­
ple, while in Moscow, the Warrens stayed at 
Spaso House, the residence of U.S. Ambas­
sador Llewellyn E. Thompson, Jr.

The Chief stopped briefly in Leningrad 
and Helsinki, Finland before continuing to 
West Germany for a three-week visit to study 
the court system as a guest of the Federal Re­
public of Germany.26 Warren visited several 
courts and met leading Germans, including 
the mayor of Berlin, Willy  Brandt. In a ma­
jor lecture, “Justice for the Individual,”  deliv­
ered in West Berlin’s Amerika Haus, the Chief 
expressed hope for the eventual introduction 
of some measure of personal justice in dicta­
torships. Warren called dictatorships “blighted 
areas,” which harbored “systematized injus­
tice bolstered by the great physical power 
of political regimes.” He said it is “not too 
much to anticipate that even the forces sup­
porting such systematized injustice will, in 
the long run, increasingly seek to introduce 
for their own protection some elements of per­
sonal justice.”27 The Warrens then toured East 

Berlin, where they visited the city’s largest de­
partment store.28

In Bonn, the capital of West Germany, the 
Chief Justice was honored by a formal recep­
tion and was the luncheon guest of President 
Theodor Heuss.29 In Karlsruhe, Warren ad­

dressed the Supreme Court of Civil  and Crim­
inal Judicature, where he received an unusual 
standing ovation from the Justices. Said War­
ren:

The more I explore other systems 
of free governments, the more I am 
convinced that there is no perfect 
system; the forms of successful gov­
ernment are not copied, but grow ac­
cording to the spirit of the people
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who live u nde r the m . And that spirit 
springs inevitably from the history, 
traditions, and experience of the peo­
ple themselves. There are today, as 
we all know, constitutions drafted 
in the most eloquent and inspira­
tion language that are not worth the 
paper they are written on, because 
there is no spirit to make the words 
meaningful.30

At the end of August, the Warrens con­
cluded their German excursion with a visit to 
Munich and with several days of rest at Bercht- 
esgaden in the Bavarian Alps.31 In both Russia 

and Germany, Warren’s fame as the champion 
of equality preceded him. Wherever he went, 
hundreds asked for his autograph.32 The Chief 

Justice and the Supreme Court had a strong 
impact on the European public’s general im­
pression of the United States. Throughout the 
1950s and 1960s, there was extensive coverage 
by European mass media of important events 
in America, especially racial segregation.

Throughout his tenure on the Court, 
Warren attended international judicial confer­
ences. He was elected the first president of the 
World Association of Judges, a voluntary or­
ganization of jurists and lawyers from 117 na­
tions dedicated to establishing the legal bases 
for world peace. In 1959, Warren also helped 
found the International World Peace Through 
Law Conference, which was funded partially 
with U.S. foreign aid funds and a Ford Foun­
dation grant.33 The idea of a world conference 
intended to develop a program to strengthen 
international law and judicial machinery orig­
inated with the ABA. The Chief Justice’s inau­
gural address presented the Conference with 
the idea “ that we of our generation have the 
capacity to create enough new law and new 
legal institutions to make law a major factor in 
world affairs.” The opening day of the con­
ference was observed throughout the world 
as the first “World Law Day.” Warren be­
came one of the strongest supporters of and 
spokesmen for “Peace Through Law,” and he

attended all biennial meetings of the confer­
ence thereafter.34

In 1961, the Warrens were the guests of 
Agnes Meyer, an old acquaintance and the 
widow of Eugene Meyer, the owner of the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
W ashington Post, on her yacht Lisboa?5 Along 
with columnist Drew Pearson and his wife Lu- 
vie, they cruised the ljords of Norway and 
made a stop at Haugesund, the birthplace of the 
Chief Justice’s father.36 As part of a world tour 

in 1961, the Warrens also visited Australia, 
where the Chief Justice met with Prime Min­
ister Robert Menzies, who had been a guest at 
the U.S. Supreme Court the year before.37

After the 1961 world tour, the Chief Jus­
tice was recognized as a popular representa­
tive of his country. J. Lee Rankin, then So­
licitor General, later said, “When you travel, 
you realize this is the best-known American 
in the world. The new nations of Asia and 
Africa call him a saint—the greatest humani­
tarian in the Western Hemisphere since Abra­
ham Lincoln.” 38

The following summer, again as guests 
of Agnes Meyer, the Warrens—along with 
Pearson, Adlai Stevenson, and Alicia Patter­
son, editor of Long Island’s Newsday—cruised 
the Mediterranean with stops in Israel and 
Yugoslavia.39 They spent one week in Israel, 
where the Chief met President Izhak Ben Zvi 
and presented him with a prepublication set of 
volumes 4 through 7 of a new critical edition of 
the Talmudic Law. Warren also met with Pre­
mier David Ben-Gurian, Chief Justice Ishak 
Olshan, and members of the Supreme Court 
and was a guest lecturer at Hebrew University 
Law School.

The Warrens and their party visited Pres­
ident Josip Tito of Yugoslavia on his island 
retreat of Brioni.40 There, the Chief Justice 
was personally chauffeured around the estate 
in a golf cart driven by Tito.41 The Chief 

was photographed with Tito and U.S. Ambas­
sador C. Burke Elbrick, who six years later 
was to be kidnapped and held hostage by ur­
ban guerrillas in Brazil. Tito had expected to 
have a friendly chat with his guests, but with
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Chief  Justice  Warren is pictured  with  President  Tito  of Yugoslavia  during  his 1967 visit  to that  country. WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

Ambassador  C. Burke  Eldrick  stands  between  them. zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

the Ambassador present, he had to speak of­
ficially. The Yugoslavian President explained 
that his country’s foreign policy was “not fol­
lowing the Russian line, but rather the line of 
the non-aligned nations of which Nasser was 
the leader. Sometimes we’ ll follow Moscow; 
sometimes, not.” In commenting on the situ­
ation in the Middle East, Tito candidly pre­
scribed that “ the Arab states must recognize 
Israel’s existence, but Israel must surrender 
territory it seized.” 42

At Pec in Yugoslavia, where Pearson had 
served on a Quaker mission in his youth, the 
Chief Justice met a young woman who was 
studying to be a lawyer. “ I am glad you are 
studying law. If  you come to America, come 
to see me,” Warren told the girl, who didn’t 
know who he was. He gave her his card as he 
walked away, and she ran after the Chief to give 
her picture and to ask for his. He promised to

send her one. Pearson wondered how Warren 
could explain carrying around the photo of a 
Yugoslav beauty to Nina.

The guests on Agnes Meyer’s yacht were 
a frenetic group with which their hostess could 
not keep up. When a U.S. Foreign Service of­
ficer called on Meyer in Yugoslavia while at­
tempting to locate Stevenson, Mrs. Meyer ex­
plained: “Let me tell you what I have on my 
hands here. I have a circus of untrained fleas 
and they are bouncing all over creation. I can­
not make contact with them. Maybe you can. 
Where would the governor be? I don’t know 
whether he’s with Drew Pearson, looking at 
some church Drew Pearson built twenty years 
ago, or whether he is off with Earl Warren, or 
what.” Stevenson was eventually found.43

To the distress of his hosts and the 
yacht’s crew serving on lifeguard duty, War­
ren enjoyed swimming twice daily in the
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s hark-infe s te d Adriatic. Traveling throughout 
Yugoslavia, the Chief Justice and his wife 
were overnight guests in Bar, Titograd, Kotor, 
Hercegnvi, Dubrovnik, Korcula, Hvar (where 
they were the guests of Ambassador George 
Kennan), Split, Sibenik, Zadar, Opatija, Pula, 
and Brejuni. During the cruise, Mrs. Warren 
noted that in passing by Albania, an “ Iron Cur­
tain country,” the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBALisboa was, obliged to stay 
beyond the three-mile limit.”44 In the court­
yard of the Ducal Palace in Venice, the War­
ren party was treated to a performance of 
“Othello.”

Super  Chief ’s Super  Tour  in 1963

In May 1963, the Chief and Mrs. Warren trav­
eled to Majorca, Spain, for the 250th anniver­
sary of the birth of Father Junipero Serra. 
During the seventeenth century, Father Serra 
established a series of Catholic missions along 
the El Camino Real from San Diego to San 
Francisco, a seminal episode in the history 
of the West Coast of the United States. In 
Spain, the Warrens, joined by the mayors of 
Los Angeles and San Francisco and other Cal­
ifornia officials and clergy, attended official 
ceremonies, where the Chief spoke. They were 
entertained by Hollywood pianist Jose Iturbi 
(a friend of the Warrens from their California 
days) and the Spanish National Orchestra, and 
by Spanish dancers in the Drach Caves. The 
Chief Justice also paid an official visit to the 
Spanish Supreme Court in Madrid.45

The following month, President Kennedy 
phoned Warren at his home and appointed 
him, along with Senator Mike Mansfied (D- 
MT), to head the U.S. delegation to the coro­
nation of Pope Paul VI.46 The Chief Justice 
accepted the appointment, with the under­
standing that he would have to leave immedi­
ately after the coronation ceremony to address 
the opening session of the biennial Interna­
tional World Peace Through Law Conference 
in Athens. The President assured the Chief that 
he would arrange for air transportation for the 
Warrens from Rome to Athens. The appoint­

ment as a delegate to the Papal Coronation was 
the springboard for a two-month, nine-nation 
tour by the Warrens. Most of the information 
known about their 1963 trip is contained in a 
letter from Nina Warren to “Dear Sisters in 
P.E.O.”47

On June 28, the Warrens and the other 
delegates left Washington’s Andrews Air  Force 
Base for Rome on the President’s plane, a mod­
ified Boeing 707 known as Air  Force One. The 
coronation was held outdoors, in front of St. 
Peter’s Basilica at 6:00 on the evening of June 
29th 48 -pjjg Warrens were received by the Pope 

and wore State Department-prescribed formal 
attire for the occasion, with the Chief Justice 
donning a black vest instead of the usual white, 
and Mrs. Warren wearing a long-sleeved black 
silk dress and a black mantilla.

The Warrens left immediately for Athens 
after the ceremony, on a small two-crew and 
two-passenger U.S. Air  Force plane. Somehow, 
the large Super Chief was able to change into 
a business suit in the cramped quarters of the 
luggage-filled aircraft. At the newly opened 
Athens Hilton Hotel, the Chief Justice was 
welcomed by Greek Premier Panayotis Pip- 
inelis. He addressed the opening session of the 
World Peace Through Law Conference, which 
was attended by King Paul, Queen Frederika, 
and other members of the royal family. Warren 
spoke to an audience of 1,000 lawyers from 
more than 100 countries, including supreme 
court justices from twenty nations, and called 
for an effective international court with power 
to enforce its judgments. The Chief advocated 
a working system of international law as an 
“absolute necessity.” He charged lawyers in 
all countries with a special responsibility for 
bringing about “ international order based upon 
law.”49

On July 10, the Warrens flew to Ankara, 
Turkey, where they stayed at the residence of 
U.S. Ambassador Raymond Hare. On almost 
all of these foreign visits, Warren kept up 
a hectic schedule of official calls, speeches, 
lunches, receptions, and dinners. On one day 
in Ankara, the Chief Justice called individually



106zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAJOURNAL  OF SUPREME COURT HISTORYzyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

o n the Turkish President, Prime Minister, For­
eign Minister, Minister of Justice, President 
of the Constitutional Court, President of the 
Court of Cassation, and President of the Coun­
cil of State. In the late afternoon, he spoke to 
the law faculty at the University of Ankara, 
and that evening he was the guest of honor at 
a reception at the Embassy Residence. Mrs. 
Warren also stayed busy, with visits to welfare 
projects, hospitals, and various ceremonies. 
The Chief Justice was treated as a visiting 
head of state, lacking only the title. He placed 
a wreath on the Tomb of Ataturk. The Foreign 
Minister gave a formal dinner in the Chiefs 
honor, and Mrs. Warren was given a gift, a red 
velvet runner heavily embroidered in gold that 
she had framed as a wall hanging.50 In Istan­
bul, the Warrens were the guests of the local 
Governor, whom they had befriended years 
earlier in Sacramento when he was a young 
visitor to California.51

The Warrens continued on to Nicosia, 
Cyprus, where they were luncheon guests of 
Archbishop Makarios, the first President of 
the Republic of Cyprus, at the Presidential 
Palace. The Chief Justice gave an address 
before Cypriot government, diplomatic, and 
community leaders.52

In Tehran, Iran, Warren gave eight 
speeches in two days. The Chief Justice had 
an audience with the Shah of Iran, while 
Mrs. Warren enjoyed an audience with Em­
press Farah at Saadabad Palace and seeing 
the Crown Jewels.53 The Warrens stayed at 
the “new, beautiful” American Embassy that 
would become the scene of an ugly hostage 
crisis in 1979.

On either side of the Iranian stop, the War­
rens had brief but intense layovers at Beirut, 
Lebanon, at the time a spectacularly beautiful 
city. U.S. Ambassador Armin H. Meyer and 
Mrs. Meyer met the Warrens at the airport 
of what was then, in the words of Mrs. War­
ren, “an interesting city and wonderful place 
to stop.” During a six-hour stay, the Warrens 
managed to work in a lunch with a “ large 
group” at the embassy, official calls, and a 
shopping expedition.54 The 72-year-old Chief 
Justice did not suffer from a lack of energy.

The next official visit on the Chiefs tour 
was in Cairo, Egypt. The Warrens stayed at 
the Nile Hilton where Nina and Virginia, their 
oldest daughter, had been the guests of Conrad 
Hilton at the hotel’s grand opening four years 
earlier, in 1959. The Chief Justice carried out 
his usual round of duties in the uncomfortable

Warren posed with Mo­

hammad Reza Pahlavi,WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

the Shah of Iran, and Mrs. 

Paul Mellon at a recep­

tion for “7,000 Years of 

Iranian Art” at the Na­

tional Gallery of Art in 

1964. Chief Justice and 

Mrs. Warren had visited 

Iran the previous sum-
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Ju ly he at o f Cairo , bu t the Warre ns als o fo u nd 
tim e to take in to u ris t s ite s , as we ll as the re­
he ars al o f a p arade co m m e m o rating the re v­
o lu tio n that bro u ght President Gamal Abdel 
Nasser, the Chief Justice’s official host, to 
power.55

On July 23, the Warrens arrived in 
Nairobi, Kenya, where the cooler weather was 
a welcome change from the summer heat of 
Egypt.56 At the time, Kenya was still a colony 
within British East Africa, and hence the high­
est ranking American diplomat was the Con­
sul General, rather than an ambassador. The 
Warrens were met by their host, the U.S. 
Charge d’Affaires Laurence C. Vass, who a 
week before had written the Chief Justice: 
“Events in America are much in the news 
here, while the perspective is neither flatter­
ing nor accurate. The fact that our African 
friends will  be able to see and hear a distin­
guished American like yourself will  unscram­
ble our picture.” 57 See and hear the Chief Jus­
tice they did. Warren made his usual official 
calls—including attending a meeting of the 
new Parliament, where he found the debate 
“sharp and good-natured, accompanied by fre­
quent applause”—spoke at the United Kenya 
Club, and was honored with a reception at­
tended by several hundred people at Charter 
Hall in the City Hall. Said Warren: “ I have 
come to see something of Africa, which we 
know all too little about in the United States.”  
The Chief Justice delivered an address on “The 
Rule of Law in Today’s World” at Gloucester 
Hall of the Royal College (now the University 
of Nairobi). The Chief Justice noted the U.S. 
drive for racial integration and observed that 
“America’s efforts to wipe out racial discrim­
ination should strengthen the nation’s support 
in the rest of the world.” Mrs. Warren noted 
that the members of the Kenyan courts were so 
eager to talk to the Chief Justice and discuss 
problems that the Chief really had “a work­
ing schedule.” She added: “ It is amazing how 
much is known about the Supreme Court deci­
sions in other lands.”  During their stay in East 
Africa, the Warrens especially enjoyed visits

to rural villages and game preserves. Warren 
told Drew Pearson that he saw a dozen lions in 
one of the parks. A lioness walked away from 
her cubs, looking bored. Then a cub looked 
up, saw the Chief Justice, and also walked off 
looking bored. “The Chief, a Republican, was 
disappointed to see no elephants in the game 
preserves of Kenya.”58

Nineteen-sixty-three was an exciting time 
for Kenya. In pre-independence elections in 
May, Jomo Kenyatta led the Kenyan African 
National Union Party to victory and was 
named Prime Minister in June. Under Keny- 
atta’s leadership, Kenya gained formal inde­
pendence in December.

The final stop on the Chief Justice’s 
African tour was Addis Ababa, Ethiopia.59 The 
Warrens had met Emperor Haile Selassie at a 
White House state dinner during the Eisen­
hower administration, and the Emperor went 
all out to show unusual hospitality to the Chief 
Justice and his wife by declaring them his per­
sonal guests at Jubilee Palace, placing a palace 
car at their disposal, and assigning a minister 
of the Imperial Court as their escort officer. 
Haile Selassie hosted a lavish luncheon hon­
oring the Warrens at the palace, and “virtu­
ally the entire cabinet”  attended. The Emperor 
spoke French during the luncheon (with an in­
terpreter on hand), but as the party broke up, he 
addressed Mrs. Warren in English and asked, 
“Why don’t you speak French so I can talk to 
you?” Haile Selassie gave the Warrens gifts 
befitting a head of state: for the Chief Justice, 
an autographed photograph of the Emperor in 
a sterling silver frame engraved with the royal 
Lion of Judah crest; for Mrs. Warren, a strik­
ing gold bracelet; and for the two of them, a 
handmade filigreed silver centerpiece in the 
shape of a fluted bowl (a gift very similar to 
one that Haile Selassie presented to President 
and Mrs. Kennedy during his state visit to the 
United States three months later). The Chief 
Justice reciprocated the Emperor’s hospitality 
by entertaining him on a Potomac cruise on 
the yacht YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBASequoia during the Emperor’s state 
visit to the United States in October 1963, just
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be fo re the be ginning o f the Su p re m e Co u rt’s 
1963 Term.

When Ambassador Edward Korry held a 
formal dinner in honor of the Chief Justice 
at his residence, the Emperor permitted the 
Crown Prince and other members of the Im­
perial Family to attend, even though the fam­
ily  was still in mourning following the deaths 
of the Empress Menen and Prince Sahle Se­
lassie (the Emperor’s wife and son).60 A se­
ries of large receptions were held for the War­
rens. Korry hosted one at the U.S. embassy 
for a select group of Ethiopians described by 
the Ambassador as “some of the best minds 
in the country.” 61 Another one was held at 
Haile Selassie I University for members of the 
Ethiopian legal profession.62 And a third one 
was held for the sizeable American commu­
nity at the Addis Ababa Golf Club. Haile Se­
lassie told Warren that it was “so difficult to 
get judges of integrity and qualification” that 
the Emperor was “ the final appeal” and that 
the law school would remedy that situation.

The Warrens toured the countryside 
around the capital city, visiting Oklahoma 
A&M ’s USAID-sponsored agricultural exper­
imental station at Debra Zeit and a Crossroads 
Africa construction project. They met with 
Peace Corps volunteers, who had arrived in 
the country the year before as the largest Peace 
Corps contingent sent abroad up until that time 
and described by the U.S. Ambassador as “be­
ing off  to a resounding, unqualified, successful 
start.”63 In Addis Ababa, Mrs. Warren was es­

pecially impressed with Africa Hall, the new 
permanent headquarters of the United Nations 
Economic Commission for Africa, and its im­
posing stained glass windows by Ethiopian 
artist Afework Tekle.

The Emperor, in his role as chancellor 
of Haile Selassie I University, personally ar­
ranged for and sponsored a public address de­
livered by the Chief Justice at the National 
Theatre. Tickets for the event were difficult  
for the public to get. Among the 2,500 hear­
ing the Chief speak on “Equal Justice Under 
Law” were the Emperor, the entire cabinet,

top governmental officials, and the diplomatic 
corps.64 According to Korry, Warren’s address 

was “considered the major intellectual event 
of the year if  not of the decade.” Joe Tenn, 
then a Peace Corps Volunteer teacher at Prince 
Mekonnen Secondary School in Addis Ababa, 
remembers shaking the Chief Justice’s hand in 
a long post-speech receiving line and eliciting 
a smile and a favorable comment from Warren 
when he told him he was a Californian—the 
usual Earl Warren warm human touch on such 
public occasions.65

On radio programs and in press inter­
views, the Chief Justice gave judicious answers 
to questions concerning the role of Africa in 
world affairs, racial segregation in the United 
States, and the impact of Supreme Court deci­
sions on American society. His experience as 
a politician and public official was reflected 
in his facile eloquence. According to Graham 
Tayer, an English journalist who was present 
at a press conference, Warren winced when 
reporters called him “Your Excellency.” For 
the down-to-earth Warren, “Mr. Chief Justice”  
would have sufficed. Other than Vice Presi­
dent Nixon, the Chief Justice was the highest- 
ranking American official to have ever visited 
Ethiopia.66

The head-of-state treatment afforded War­
ren by the Imperial Government of Ethiopia 
may well have been the most elegant he en­
countered in his foreign travels as Chief Jus­
tice. The U.S. embassy staff, however, viewed 
the Emperor’s extraordinary hospitality for 
Warren as a subtle reminder to the U.S. gov­
ernment of how an important visitor should be 
treated, at a time when plans were being made 
in Washington for Haile Selassie’s forthcom­
ing state visit in September.67 Whatever the 

hosts’ motivations, the Warrens’ official three- 
day visit to Addis Ababa was “highly success­
ful” and, other than Warren’s triumphal 1956 
tour of India, the most widely acclaimed by his 
host country. Mrs. Warren thought Ethiopia 
to be “ the most interesting and fascinating 
of all the countries [they] visited.” She found 
the weather there “stimulating and temperate”
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and tho u ght that it co m p are d “ favo rably with 
Califo rnia.”68 At the end of the tour of Africa, 

Pearson found the Chief Justice “bubbling over 
with praise for Haile Sealssie.” According to 
Warren, the Emperor “was anxious to know 
about the Supreme Court and the entire sys­
tem of American judiciary.” 69

The Warrens left Addis Ababa on July 
30 for Athens, where Agnes Meyer met them 
on the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBALisboa. Along with the Pearsons, they 
spent a month on an event-laden cruise. In ad­
dition to a sightseeing tour of the Greek islands 
and Turkey, ending in Istanbul, the Warrens 
sailed on the Black Sea to Varna, Bulgaria, 
where they gave a dinner for Mrs. Eugenie 
Anderson, U.S. Minister to Bulgaria, and her 
husband on board the Lisboa.

From Varna, they traveled to Constanca, 
Romania in what Mrs. Warren described as “a 
very rough and stormy trip ... very spooky— 
lots of lightning and such a heavy sea!!”  There 
the Warrens were guests of the government and 
received special red-carpet hospitality. Mrs. 
Warren was impressed with the Romanian of­
ficials’ furnishing “big, black shining cars and 
drivers for our use.” The party was driven to 
church services, resorts, and a university be­
fore being flown over 400 miles inland to Cluj 
in central Romania. From there, they drove 
through the Carpathian Mountains to Tirgu 
Mures in the heart of Transylvania. At a moun­
tain winery, the Warrens were entertained with 
Hungarian violinists and traditional dances. 
They were also subjected to the mandatory 
Eastern Bloc tourist stops of the time: a col­
lective farm and a large tractor factory. In 
Bucharest, the Chief Justice made his rounds 
of official calls, and the Warrens were guests of 
honor at a lakeside formal dinner given by the 
Chief Justice of the Romanian Supreme Court. 
In touring Bucharest, the Warrens “saw miles 
of new public housing—100,000 new units so 
far—mostly for workers.” The Warren party 
was flown back to Constanca, where they spent 
an hour with the President of the State Coun­
cil, Gheorghe Gheorghiu-Dej, at his summer 

villa. There, with the nation’s Prime Minister

also present, “many questions were asked and 
answered.”70

Back on the Lisboa, the Warrens cruised 
overnight along the Crimean Coast. The next 
day, on Augustl4, they stopped in the USSR at 
Yalta, the gem of the Crimea, where President 
Franklin D. Roosevelt, Churchill, and Joseph 
Stalin had planned the end of World War II. 
The next day, the Lisboa sailed to Sochi, a 
health resort on the east coast of the Black 
Sea, where Mrs. Warren noted Benny Good­
man and Van Clibum had performed. On Au­
gust 16, the Chief Justice, Meyer, and Pearson 
drove fourteen miles south to Gagra, Georgia, 
on the Soviet Riviera, to have an interview with 
Nikita Khrushchev. Tass reported the meeting 
as a “ friendly talk.” Thus, Warren, who had 
met most of the “Free World” leaders, also 
extended his personal diplomacy to the head 
Communist.71

Continuing their counterclockwise route 
around the Black Sea, the Warrens sailed 
south and then west to Trebizond and Sansom, 
Turkey, where they again encountered rough 
seas. As soon as they reached the Bosporus,72 
however, sailing was “smooth.”  After two days 
of sightseeing in Istanbul, the Warren party 
arrived at Canakkale, Turkey, on the Dard­
anelles and near the World War I battlefield of 
Gallipoli. There, the Lisboa's passengers went 
swimming in “ forbidden waters.” Turkish of­
ficials, backed up by “a boat full of soldiers 
with guns,” told the Lisboa’s skipper that the 
group could not swim there. The passengers 
scampered back on board. Ten minutes later, 
a Turkish official, carrying a bouquet of flow­
ers that he presented to Mrs. Meyer, told the 
group that they “could swim off the boat for 
ten minutes—then go to port and swim.”  Mrs. 
Warren described this as “a tense moment.”

During the next week, the Warrens kept 
up an energetic schedule of visits to tourist 
sites on the Aegean Coast of Turkey and in 
the Greek Isles. The Lisboa called on Dikili,  
Izmer, and Kusadasi, Turkey, and the Greek 
islands of Samos, Rhodes, Kos, Mykonos, 
and Andros before docking at Athens on
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August 29. The next day the Warrens returned 
to the United States on a TWA flight to New 
York. Throughout the sightseeing marathon, 
the 72-year old Chief Justice was indefatiga­
ble, but Nina Warren complained mildly about 
the heat, dust, and walking great distances at 
Troy and Ephesus. After trekking around the 
nine cities of Troy, Luvie Pearson remarked, 
“Ruins are just not my cup of tea.” To which 
Nina Warren could say a hearty “Amen,” as 
she informed her sisters in P.E.O.

Less than three months after the War­
rens returned to the United States, President 
Kennedy was assassinated. On November 30, 
1963, President Lyndon B. Johnson appointed 
the Chief Justice to head a seven-man panel to 
investigate the assassination (officially called 
the Commission to Report upon the Assassi­
nation of President John F. Kennedy). Accord­
ing to Jesse Choper, the Chiefs “worldwide 
stature, particularly in third world countries, 
made him the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAonly government official whose 
judgment would really be trusted.”73 Warren 
reluctantly took the assignment, as much to 
allay foreign suspicions of a plot as to re­
assure the American public about the bona 
fides of the group of investigators that came to 
be called the Warren Commission. The Pres­
ident thought the investigation of “such great 
importance that the world is entitled to have 
it presided over by the highest judicial of­
ficer of the United States.” Johnson pressed 
Warren to serve, saying, “You’ve worn a uni­
form; you were in the Army in World War 
I,” and adding, “This job is more important 
than anything you ever did in the uniform.” 74 
Throughout 1964, the Chief was busy with his 
Warren Commission duties and did not travel 
abroad. On September 25,1964, the Chief Jus­
tice presented President Johnson with the War­
ren Commission Report in the White House 
Cabinet Room.75

The Chief  Overseas  during  the  Johnson WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

Administration

During the next four years, Johnson took ad­
vantage of both Warren’s reputation and his

sense of duty, drafting him as a temporary 
goodwill ambassador. Johnson went so far as 
to provide Warren with the use of Air Force 
One for some of his foreign trips. Warren saw 
no conflict with his role as Chief Justice, so 
long as his participation in overseas trips was 
symbolic.76 Explained the Chief to biographer 
John Weaver in 1966, “We must offer a wor­
thy example by stressing the theme of equality 
abroad as well as at home.” 77

Johnson designated Warren, along with 
Eisenhower, Secretary of State Dean Rusk, and 
Ambassador David K.E. Bruce, as representa­
tives of the United States at the funeral of Win­
ston Churchill in February 1965.78 Warren and 
Eisenhower flew together to London. On the 

flight, the former President told Warren that 
he was disappointed that the Chief Justice had 
not turned out to be the “moderate”  he had ex­
pected. Warren asked what decisions had led to 
his disapproval. Ike replied, “The Communist 
cases—all of them.” 79

Warren attended the last rites for 
Churchill at St. Paul’s Cathedral, and along 
with other world dignitaries, visited the fallen 
leader’s bier.80 The playing of “The Battle 
Hymn of the Republic” in St. Paul’s was a 
poignant moment to honor Churchill’s hon­
orary American citizenship. That evening, 
Warren attended an informal dinner at Ambas­
sador Bruce’s residence, where the new British 
Prime Minister, Harold Wilson, conferred for 
the first time with President Charles de Gaulle 
of France.81

Only a few days later, the Chief Justice 
was in the Philippines attending the thirtieth- 
anniversary celebration of the Philippine con­
stitution. During his six-day stay in Manila, 
Warren gave a major address, received an hon­
orary degree from the University of the Philip­
pines, and visited the World War II battle site 
of Corregidor.82

Back in Washington, the Chief Jus­
tice took part in a celebration of one of 
America’s most successful overseas programs 
of the time, the Peace Corps. Early in 
1965, President Johnson asked Vice President 
Hubert Humphrey to convene a conference of
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Re tu rne d Peace Corps Volunteers (RPCVs) in 
March, so that they could meet with Ameri­
can leaders and discuss the RPCVs’ “ role in 
national life.” 83 Warren was a popular and im­

posing figure at the gathering of over 1,000 
RPCVs and 250 leaders of American society at 
the State Department. To Harris Wofford, this 
was a “high-water mark of the Peace Corps.” 84 

The event was described by Richard Rovere in 
the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBANew Yorker as “ the most informal as well as 
the liveliest gathering ever to have taken place 
in the ungainly pile of concrete in the heart of 
Foggy Bottom.” 85 The RPCVs impressed ev­
eryone as “sharp, independent, and confident 
critics of American society,” wrote Rovere, 
and “most of the observers went away per­
suaded that the Peace Corps’ impact on Amer­
ican life may be an immense one.” The day 
ended in a packed State Department audito­
rium, where Warren, Humphrey, Peace Corps 
Director Sargent Shriver, Rusk, Secretary of 
Defense Robert McNamara, and Harry Bela- 
fonte linked arms onstage and sang a stirring 
rendition of “We Shall Overcome.”

During the summer of 1965, the War­
rens joined their frequent traveling companion, 
U.S. Ambassador to the UN Adlai Stevenson, 
in San Francisco for the commemoration of 
the twentieth anniversary of the organization’s 
founding. Only a few days after Stevenson left 
the Warrens, he died in London on July 14, 
1965.86

Another conference of note, the biennial 
World Conference on World Peace Through 
the Rule of Law, was held in Washington, 
D.C. in September 1965. The Chief Justice 
addressed the inaugural session, attended by 
more than 3,200 leading jurists, lawyers, and 
law teachers from 121 countries.87 Warren 
served as honorary chairman of the World 
Peace Through Law Center that operated in 
Geneva. The Chief Justice also was elected 
the first president of the World Association of 
Judges, a voluntary organization of jurists and 
lawyers from 117 nations dedicated to estab­
lishing the legal bases for world peace, and he 
served in that capacity from 1966 to 1969.

On May 29, 1966, the Chief Justice gave 
the commencement speech at the European Di­
vision of the University of Maryland in Heidel­
berg, Germany. The trip was a quick weekend’s 
work: The Chief left Washington on Thursday 
evening, delivered his address on Sunday, and 
flew back to the United States in time to pre­
side over Tuesday morning’s Supreme Court 
session. Warren originally was scheduled to 
arrive in Germany on a commercial flight, but 
President Johnson allowed the Chief to fly  via 
Air Force One to the U.S Air Force Base at 
Rhine-Main, near Frankfurt. This also enabled 
Warren to bring an entourage that included 
Mrs. Warren, their sons James and Robert 
and their wives, their daughter Nina and her 
husband, Dr. Stuart Brien, their granddaugh­
ter Dorothy, Supreme Court Associate Justice 
Hugo L. Black and retired Associate Justice 
Stanley F. Reed and their wives, two Air  Force 
generals, and two University of Maryland offi ­
cials. Before leaving the presidential jet, War­
ren, “wearing a gray hat and suit and carrying 
a bulging briefcase, paid his compliments to 
the plane crew.” The Warren party departed 
immediately for Heidelberg, where the Univer­
sity of Maryland’s European Division provided 
instruction primarily for U.S. servicemen and 
women.88

At the conclusion of the 1965 Term of 
the Court, the Chief Justice and his fam­
ily cruised the Mediterranean on a 115-foot 
yacht that California hotel magnate Ben Swig 
had rented.89 The Warrens returned to Israel 
for the dedication of a Kennedy Memorial 
and Peace Forest. On the highest point in the 
barren Judean hills seven miles southwest of 
Jerusalem, Israeli architect David Reznik had 
designed a 60-foot-high memorial to Kennedy 
in the shape of a cut tree trunk, symbolizing a 
life cut short. The monument, known today as 
Yad Kennedy, was built with money donated 
by the Jewish National Fund in the United 
States.90 Warren delivered a 4th of July ded­

icatory speech, paying tribute to what he de­
scribed as a “ living memorial” being planted 
for Kennedy. In his remarks before an audience
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o f 2,000 o fficial gu e s ts and American tourists 
and students, Warren quoted the slain Presi­
dent, saying “A nation reveals itself not only 
by the men it produces but also by the men it 
honors, the men it remembers.” 91 On his re­

turn trip to the United States, the Chief Justice 
stopped in Rome, where he was received by 
Pope Paul VI  in a private audience.92

On November 30, 1966, Warren headed 
a U.S. delegation to the Barbados indepen­
dence celebration. The Caribbean island’s na­
tionhood, attained after 341 years of British 
rule, was feted with the raising of the Barba­
dos “broken trident”  national flag and the first 
playing of the national anthem. Warren pre­
sented Prime Minister Errol Walton Barrow 
with a $50,000 economic-aid grant, a stereo 
sound system, and an inscribed photograph of 
President Johnson.93

The Chief, and especially Mrs. Warren, 
took pleasure in maintaining ties with foreign 
officials who came to Washington, D.C. af­
ter having been hosts to the Warrens abroad. 
Such was the case following their extensive 
summer travel in 1963. Wrote Mrs. Warren, 
“Since returning to Washington, the Romanian 
Embassy has given a dinner for us, and when­
ever the officials who entertained us over there 
come here, we have met them again at official 
affairs.”94 The apogees of the Warrens’ recip­

rocation of hospitality of overseas hosts were 
the Supreme Court dinner for Nehru in 1956 
and the luncheon for Emperor Haile Selassie 
on February 14, 1967.

Also in February 1967, President John­
son dispatched the Chief Justice on Air  Force 
One as a goodwill ambassador on a thirteen- 
day trip to Bolivia, Peru, Ecuador, and Colom­
bia, where Warren talked to legal officers and 
bar associations as part of a study of South 
American nations’ judicial systems. In the 
face of unexpected difficulties inherent in in­
ternational travel, the Chief Justice remained 
equanimous. As Pearson observed, Warren 
could not be rattled. “He doesn’t lose his tem­
per. When Air Force One could not take off 
from the La Paz Airport, thereby throwing his

program of meeting Latin American presidents 

off schedule by two days,” Warren “made no 
remarks about mechanical inefficiency” but
patiently waited until his party could get on its

95way.
Although the Chief wanted to emphasize 

a message of world peace through the rule of 
law, the report of the Warren Commission and 
conspiracy theories were more intriguing to 
his Latin American audiences at the time. In 
Lima, Peru, at the urging of U.S. Ambassador 
J. Wesley Jones, Warren held a press confer­
ence on conspiracies. Warren had not talked 
about that subject in the United States because 
he thought the Commission Report had suf­
ficiently laid the matter to rest. For an hour 
and a half, the Chief answered reporters’ ques­
tions. At  the end of the session, someone asked 
a question about conspiracies that provoked 
Warren to ask: “Have you read the report?”  
When no one indicated they had, the Chief 
responded, “Well, I know you could, because 
we sent reports to your libraries here; we saw 
to it that you have it. So it ’s available to you 
there.”  “Yes,” they said. “But you didn’t read 
it?”  “No,”  they replied. “Then how did you get 
your information?”  Warren recalled:

Well, they were all over the lot; they 
didn’t know how they got their in­
formation and so forth, but I ’m sure 
that when it was all over that I didn’t 
change a person’s view. I think the 
whole outfit of them had the idea it 
was a conspiracy ... And the strange 
part of it is that there’s one theory of 
conspiracy on the right; another the­
ory of conspiracy on the left; and they 
both merge by saying it was a conspir­
acy. Both agree that it was a conspir­
acy, only they are a thousand miles 
apart as to what kind of conspiracy.96

Although the Chief Justice “didn’t change 
anybody’s idea”  about conspiracies and the as­
sassination of Kennedy among the attentive, if  
ill-informed, Peruvian reporters, the Warrens’ 
tour of South America was another success
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in p e rs o nal dip lo m acy and in the fo s te ring 
o f go o dwill. As Jack Pollack noted, Peruvian 
farm workers “who could not understand a 
word of English walked miles to hear him 
speak,” illustrating Leo Katcher’s observation 
that “many, who did not understand his words, 
understood their meaning.”  The Chief kept up 
his typical busy schedule of official meetings, 
press conferences, and speeches, and Mrs. 
Warren had her own itinerary of tours of social- 
service organizations, hospitals, and women’s 
groups. At Sucre, the Bolivian Supreme Court 
held a “Session of Honor”  for Warren, and the 
nation’s President, Rene Barrientos Ortuno, 
hosted a dinner in his honor for a hundred 
guests at the Governor’s palace. The next day, 
one of the oldest universities in the Ameri­
cas, the University of San Francisco Xavier, 
founded in 1625, bestowed an honorary degree

upon the Chief Justice. The Interim President 
of Ecuador, Otto Arosemena, held an official 
luncheon in honor of the Warrens in Quito 
(hats were not required for ladies). Later in 
the day, the Chief paid a courtesy visit to the 
Supreme Court of Ecuador. In Bogota, Colom­
bian President Carols Lleras Restrepo held a 
luncheon honoring the Chief at the San Car­
los Palace, and Warren called on the Foreign 
Minister, the Minister of Justice, parliamentar­
ians, and law students. At USIA Bi-national 
Centers, the Chief participated in seminars on 
the themes “Concepts of the Continuing Rev­
olution of the United States” and “Law as an 
Agent of Freedom.”  Typical of Latino response 
to the Warrens’ visit was the presentation of a 
handsome Mace of Justice to the Chief in Bo­
livia by La Senora Daisy de Wende de Artesa- 
nias Bolivianos.97
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In late May 1967, criticism of the War­
rens’ foreign travel was voiced in Congress be­
cause the Latin American trip had occurred at 
State Department expense. In response, a State 
Department spokesman described the Chief 
Justice as a “ rare catch”  for the Government’s 
program of keeping channels of communica­
tion open between the United States and other 
nations. The spokesman said Warren would 
be asked to make more trips. In the 1960s, 
there were several programs under the aus­
pices of the United States Information Agency 
and other government organizations that spon­
sored speaking tours in foreign countries by 
distinguished Americans or “experts” from a 
variety of backgrounds. When Warren went on 
what he referred to as “exchange programs,”  
he talked before legal officers and bar asso­
ciations abroad. Mrs. Warren visited schools, 
hospitals, and meetings of women’s organiza­
tions. Warren made five such trips while he 
was Chief Justice.98 Congressman H.R. Gross 
(R-IA) stood in opposition to such travel, ac­
cusing the Chief Justice of “ loading himself 
on the taxpayer’s back.”99

Neither the Chief Justice nor Mrs. War­
ren submitted a written report on their mis­
sion, but the Chief was “debriefed” at a ses­
sion attended by about forty officials from 
various federal agencies. The State Depart­
ment paid transportation and daily expenses 
for the Warrens. Records of hearings by 
the House Appropriations Committee showed 
Warren received $586 for expenses, Mrs. 
Warren $362. The Chiefs field of activity 
was described as participation in “ informal 
seminar-type discussions,” while Mrs. War­
ren’s field was listed as “voluntary social 
welfare.” 100

Warren described his preparation for State 
Department-sponsored “ foreign trips to sensi­
tive places.”  There were no White House brief­
ings; rather, there was a question-and-answer 
session for the Warrens “a day or so” before 
they departed “with a half-dozen people in the 
State Department.” Said the Chief:

I would ask some questions about the 
country we were going to and they 
would tell me a little bit about it, but 
nothing of a nature that would put 
any responsibility on me to do any­
thing and never make any reports of 
any kind of anybody on what we have 
seen. They are merely goodwill mis­
sions I have been on, merely for the 
purpose of establishing goodwill be­
tween the nations.101

Warren’s gross treatment by the congres­
sional committee soon blew over, and a month 
later, at the conclusion of the Supreme Court’s 
Term, the Chief and his wife were traveling 
abroad again, this time to Eastern Europe. In 
Belgrade, Yugoslav officials seized upon War­
ren’s five-day visit to emphasize their desire 
to maintain good relations with the United 
States, despite differences over the Middle 
East. Earlier in the month, the Six-Day War 
had resulted in Israel assuming an unprece­
dented military domination in the region—a 
major shift in the power constellations of the 
Cold War. Although Warren’s trip had been 
planned far in advance, it coincided with a 
new chill in relations between Yugoslavia and 
the United States. The State Department ex­
pected that the Chief Justice would receive a 
cursory reception. Instead, the visit was given 
prominent press coverage, and Warren had 
a two-hour conversation with President Tito. 
The Yugoslav leader stated, in a forthright 
but cordial fashion, his views on a number 
of topics, including the Middle East and rela­
tions with the United States.102 In addition, the 
Chief Justice was the guest of honor at a lunch 
given by Blazo Jovanovic, President of the Yu­
goslav Constitutional Court, and the justices 
of the court.103

On June 29, after his talks with Tito, War­
ren flew to Prague to visit Czechoslovakia. The 
Chief Justice was an honored guest at a lun­
cheon with President Josef Litera of the Czech 
Supreme Court.104
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After a quick tour of Vienna, the Warrens 
arrived in Warsaw on the 4th of July for a four- 
day visit to Poland. The Chief Justice paid a 
call on Minister of Justice Stanislav Walczak 
and then met the justices of the Polish Supreme 
Court, who held a special session to meet the 
visiting dignitary.105

On July 15, the Warrens went to West 
Berlin, where they were received in the 
City Hall by Mayor Heinrich Albertz (Willy  
Brandt’s successor, who was in office for only 
one year). They visited the divided city as 
guests of the U.S. commandant, Major Gen­
eral Robert G. Fergusson.106

In July 1967, Warren opened the World 
Peace Through Law Conference in Assem­
bly Hall in the Palais des Nations in Geneva 
(now the home of the Geneva office of the 
UN) with a speech urging the lawyers of the 
world to sponsor the negotiation of “hundreds 
and perhaps thousands”  of treaties to regulate 
all phases of international relationships. In­
stead of matching each other in military might, 
Warren declared, nations should compete with 
each other “ law for law, treaty for treaty.” 107 

The Chief Justice also “was the interested and 
enthusiastic chairman” of a conference exhi­
bition on the use of computers to make legal 
information more accessible—a new idea at 
the time.108 In September 1968, the Warrens 
returned to Geneva and the Palais des Nations 
to take part in World Law Day ceremonies.109

In September 1967, the Warrens paid a 
ten-day visit to Japan as guests of the Supreme 
Court of Japan, marking its twentieth an­
niversary. Crown Prince Akihito and Princess 
Michiko received the Chief Justice and Mrs. 
Warren in Tokyo, where Warren also addressed 
the Foreign Correspondents Club of Japan.110 

The Chief predicted that “more restrictions 
would be placed on public officials in the 
United States to protect the rights of persons 
accused of crimes and curtail sensational cov­
erage of trials.” In remarks informed by the 
recently decided YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBASheppard v. M axwell case111 

—called a “media circus” at the trial-court 
level—the Chief Justice said “ the problem was

to balance the right of freedom of the press 
with the right of the accused to a fair trial.”

The Warrens continued on to South Ko­
rea for a four-day visit under the State Depart­
ment’s educational and cultural program.112 In 

Seoul, they visited President Chung Hu Park 
and other governmental leaders. At a dinner 
given in his honor by Korean Chief Justice Cho 
Chin-man, Warren told his audience: “ I  believe 
there is a common bond between men of law in 
all nations because the law we use is not strictly 
our own.”  The Chief noted that the U.S. Con­
stitution and its core principles of individual 
rights, power residing in the people, and the 
diffusion of powers were not of American ori­
gin: They came from a process in which all law 
is continually borrowed and moving around. 
“None of these principles was discovered by 
our Founding Fathers. They had learned from 
the experience of peoples of all ages. But put 
together as they were and adapted to our condi­
tions and mores, they have served us well.” 113 

Warren also received another honorary doctor­
ate, an LL.D., from Seoul-National University.

By the time of his final year as Chief 
Justice, Warren had achieved an international 
reputation far greater than any of his predeces­
sors. In 1969, he went to the Waldorf-Astoria 
Hotel in New York, where he was awarded 
an honorary LL.D. from the Israeli Bar-Ilan 
University, located at Ramat Gan, near Tel 
Aviv.114 The Chief Justice and Vice President 
Humphrey were only the second and third peo­
ple to receive honorary degrees from the uni­
versity that grew to be Israel’s largest academic 
community.

Warren ’s Post-Court  Diplomacy

Warren’s resignation from the Court was ac­
cepted by President Nixon on June 23, 1969. 
Only fifteen days later, Nixon gave a White 
House dinner in honor of Emperor Haile Se­
lassie, who was on his fourth state visit to the 
United States. The former Chief Justice, who 
had known and interacted with the Emperor 
for fifteen years, was not invited. However,
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the Su p re m e Co u rt was we ll re p re s e nte d at the 
Ju ly 8 state dinner by Associate Justices Pot­
ter Stewart and Thurgood Marshall and their 
wives. On October 24, 1970, Chief Justice 
Warren Burger and Mrs. Burger attended the 
Nixon’s White House dinner honoring foreign 
heads of state, including Haile Selassie, who 
had come to the United States for the twenty- 
fifth anniversary of the founding of the U.N. 
During the Emperor’s sixth and final state visit 
to the United States, no one from the Court 
attended Nixon’s White House dinner in his 
honor on May 15, 1973. This lack of judicial- 
branch participation in a Washington event 
honoring a foreign ruler with a special rela­
tion to the Supreme Court was indicative of 
the Court’s declining involvement in interna­
tional affairs during the 1970s.

At the time of his retirement as Chief 
Justice, Warren was a figure of enormous 
stature and prestige throughout the world. 
Tom Storke, the Santa Barbara publisher who 
traveled with the Chief on several interna­
tional trips, reported that Warren had become 
a symbol of America to foreigners: “They 
all knew him. They knew about the segrega­
tion decisions.” 115 Justice Thurgood Marshall 
found the same thing in Africa: “ I have yet to 
go anywhere in Africa that I don’t find a good 
word for our Supreme Court. In fact, I have 
yet to go to any country in the world where I 
don’t find somebody ... who will  say: ‘Give 
my best to your Chief Justice.’” 116 YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW ashington 
Post columnist John P. Mackenzie wrote that 
Warren “has emerged as a world figure and 
symbol of an American commitment to equal 
justice to all races and income levels.”  Warren 
was “very popular in Europe, too,” according 
to Storke.117 Cearbhall 6 Dalaigh, President of 
Ireland from 1974 to 1976, remembered War­
ren as “calm, clear, Olympian. His authority 
was unforced but all-pervading.” 118

In retirement, travel became the Warrens’ 
great pleasure. The former Chief Justice ac­
cepted invitations to give speeches throughout 
the United States and abroad in return for fares 
and accommodations. In addition to domestic

themes, such as eliminating poverty and reli­
gious and racial discrimination, his speeches 
frequently addressed the need to end the war 
in Vietnam.

Warren, who had “made the cause of hu­
man liberty the great cause of his life,” 119 

remained active in the World Conference on 
World Peace Through the Rule of Law and at­
tended that group’s biennial meetings. On their 
way to the conference in Bangkok, Thailand, 
which ran from September 2-12, 1969, the 
Warrens returned again to Tokyo and to the 
Philippines.120 In Bangkok, the United States 
Information Service had a private showing for 
the visiting couple of the film “Chief Justice 
Warren Visits India”  that had been shot in 1956 
and that the Chief Justice was keen to see. The 
Warrens attended the Belgrade, Yugoslavia, 
conference in 1971 between stays in Copen­
hagen, Vienna, and Rome and a Mediterranean 
cruise with Swig on his yacht, the Northwind. 
The former Chief delivered a conference ad­
dress on July 21, 1971, and was honored there 
“ for his landmark decisions upholding human 
rights which have justly earned him worldwide 
esteem as a champion of the liberty of man.” 121 
Warren spoke at the Abidjan, Ivory Coast con­
ference on August 27, 1973, where he chided 
the delegates from 123 nations for not having 
succeeded in getting their governments to im­
plement the twenty-five-year-old United Na­
tions Universal Declaration of Human Rights. 
The Abidjan World Peace Through Law con­
vention bestowed upon Warren the First Hu­
man Rights Award. His citation read: “When 
history reviews the record of our day in terms 
of men, leadership and their accomplishment 
in advancing human rights, no name will  loom 
larger than that of Earl Warren.” 122 The War­
rens also attended the conference of the In­
ternational Labor Organization in Geneva in 
March 1972 and spent two weeks enjoying that 
global business center.123

In his retirement, the former Chief contin­
ued to be honored with honorary degrees. On 
October 30, 1969, Warren traveled to Israel to 
receive a Doctor of Laws degree from Hebrew
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University, Jerusalem. The former Chief Jus­
tice avowed that the traditional view of peace 
as a static condition would have to give way to a 
concept of a dynamic peace. “ If  the courts, tra­
ditional bastions of conservatism, can demon­
strate that they remain flexible, surely we can 
expect no less adaptability from the other in­
stitutions of our society.” 124 On that trip, War­
ren agreed to serve on the board of the Harry 
S Truman Center for the Advancement of 
Peace on the university’s Mt. Scopus campus 
in Jerusalem.

In 1970, the former Chief Justice had 
the sad duty of delivering an eulogy at the 
memorial service of the Warrens’ interna­
tional traveling companion, Agnes Meyer. 
That year, Warren was also named chair­
man of the United Nations Association of 
the United States of America, succeeding for­
mer Supreme Court Associate Justice and U.S. 
Ambassador to the U.N. Arthur J. Goldberg. 
Warren remained chairman through 1974. One 
of the highlights of his chairmanship was his 
adroit presiding over a spirited convocation on 
the “China question”  before 3,000 delegates in 
New York City on October 29,1971. This con­
ference laid the groundwork for the entrance 
of the People’s Republic of China into the U.N. 
before President Nixon’s historic trip to China 
the following year.125

The Significance  of  the  Supreme  Court WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

in  Public  Diplomacy

Under the separation-of-powers doctrine in 
the U.S. Constitution, the making of foreign 
policy and the conduct of foreign relations 
are entrusted primarily to the President and 
Congress. The judiciary acts as a check on the 
powers of the other two branches, but it makes 
no important foreign policy and usually de­
fers to the President and Congress regarding 
foreign relations.126

In its official external relations, the U.S. 
government attempts to influence other states 
by the direct or commanding method of exer­
cising power. In getting other states to do what

they otherwise would not do, or to not do what 
they would prefer to do (power relationships), 
traditional diplomacy can be based on the use 
of inducements (“carrots” ) or threats (“sticks” ) 
to influence a favorable outcome.127 The Pres­

ident and Congress, with their emphasis on 
treaties and geopolitical debates, exercise such 
“hard”  power.

But there is another way to exercise power, 
to obtain desired outcomes through attraction 
rather than through coercion or payment. A 
country may achieve desired outcomes in its 
foreign relations because other countries ad­
mire what it stands for and want to follow its 
example, or have agreed to a system that pro­
duces such effects. “ In this sense, it is just as 
important to set the agenda and attract oth­
ers in world politics as it is to force others 
to change in particular situations.” 128 Getting 

others to want what you want might be called 
“attractive” or “ indirect” power behavior, or 
what Joseph Nye calls “soft” power.129 Soft 
power matters because countries that like you 
will  want to be your allies.

Soft power can rest on such resources as 
“ the attraction of one’s ideas or on the ability 
to set the political agenda in a way that shapes 
the preferences others express.” 130 Intangible 

power resources, such as culture, ideology, and 
institutions, can influence these preferences.

One of America’s greatest strengths dur­
ing the Cold War was leading the community 
of democracies and the nonaligned nations by 
example.131 This was done through “public 
diplomacy”—interactions other than those be­
tween national governments. Effective public 
diplomacy involved dialogue, a two-way ex­
change of information, and people-to-people 
contacts were a significant aspect of that ef­
fort. U.S. public diplomacy emphasized the na­
tion’s core values and subtly built an image of 
a benevolent global leader.

Under the leadership of Chief Justice War­
ren, the Supreme Court took up the challenge 
of exercising soft power through public diplo­
macy, especially that involving visiting for­
eign heads of state in the United States. The
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Su p re m e Co u rt bu ilding and the Ju s tice s we re 
adro itly u s e d, o ffe ring vis iting inte rnatio nal 
le ade rs inte lle ctu al s tim u latio n and attractive 
ide as fo r e m u latio n. Thus, the Court was an 
ideal place to practice soft power.132

As an individual, Chief Justice Warren 
was a practitioner YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBApar excellence of public 
diplomacy. By disposition and training, he 
enjoyed being with people and seemed to 
have had a special knack for making people 
comfortable in his presence.133 Judge Simon 
Sobeloff thought that “ few men in or out of 
government could equal the Chief Justice in 
human warmth.” 134 Biographer Jim Newton 
found the Chief Justice “canny and insight­
ful.”  Warren also gave the appearance of being 
big. “Though only just over six feet tall, War­
ren, with his bear chest and booming voice, 
commanded a room before speaking a word, 
even though he was in some ways shy.” 135 Al ­
though Warren’s voice was not especially deep, 
when he spoke from the Bench, his “booming 
voice” made it seem “somewhat as if  Mount 
Rushmore had spoken.” 136 His commanding 
presence, combined with graciousness and a 
ready warmth, made Warren an ideal ambas­
sador of goodwill at home and abroad.

In his work on the Court, Warren was 
a strong believer in personal diplomacy—the 
idea of having direct and frank discussions 
with those he was seeking to persuade. That 
was seen in his face-to-face meetings with in­
dividual Associate Justices in 1954 in his ef­
fort to marshal a unanimous Court in Brown 
v. Board of Education)31 He used the same 
tactic in gaining a unanimous report of the 
Warren Commission.138 The Chief exuded an 

easy self-confidence and was assured of his 
own negotiating ability. He carried over these 
skills to his international diplomacy—as well 
he should. Warren was a public figure of high­
est national prominence before he came to the 
Supreme Court.139 He had thrice been a seri­

ous contender for the presidency of the United 
States, and had served thirty-four consecutive 
years in political office in California, culmi­
nating in his being elected as governor of a 
flourishing state with a population and gross

national product that would rank it ahead of 
most nations of the world. He could talk to any 
head of state as an equal. This explains his fre­
quent engagement of world leaders in one-on- 
one conversation; this tactic sought to diminish 
any fear of the United States’ intentions and 
to seek common ground for reducing tensions 
and promoting peace. Warren wanted to estab­
lish a personal relationship and to break down 
any barriers of mistrust that divided coun­
tries. He possessed a profound understanding 
of America and of what made it unique and 
truly remarkable among nations. Fairness was 
one of his strongest guiding principles. While 

Chief Justice, Warren practiced his style of 
public diplomacy on several of his contempo­
raries who were considered great men, men of 
stature, including Winston Churchill, Nikita 
Khrushchev, Jawaharlal Nehru, Conrad Ade­
nauer, and Charles de Gaulle. All  were party 
to the Chief Justice’s “ forthrightness, vision, 
and liberalism—the qualities most consequen­
tial to the world.” 140 Warren had the ability to 

understand and influence foreign populations, 
not only in their councils of state but in their 
cities and villages, as seen in his reception 
when he had the opportunity to be with the 
common people.

Drew Pearson pointed out that even 
though Warren’s critics charged him with be­
ing pro-Communist, the Chief Justice never 
hesitated to see the leaders of the Soviet 
world and the Eastern Bloc. Warren traveled 
to their home countries to visit Khrushchev; 
Tito (twice); Wladyslaw Gomulka, First Sec­
retary of the Polish United Workers’ Party; 
Todor Zhivkov, President of Bulgaria; Presi­
dent of the State Council of Romania Gheo- 
rghe Gheorghiu-Dej; and even the Red-leaning 
Egyptian President Gamal Abdel Nasser. Ex­
plained Warren: “ I ’m not going to let other 
people tell me who I should see and talk to. 
The future of world peace depends on our get­
ting along with these people.” 141

Warren thrived upon international travel 
and the social activities that accompanied it. 
Being treated as a head of state, with all 
the indulgences and condescension that this
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e ntaile d, s e e m e d go o d fo r him . Warre n al­
way s fo u nd the s e tr ip s to be an exhilarating 
experience, an opportunity “ to recharge his 
batteries.” 142 Justice Byron White noted that 
Warren “enjoyed so much going around on 

trips. To me and for most people going on a 
trip, making speeches, meeting people all the 
time is absolutely exhausting. But it seemed to 
refresh him and it was almost like an old fire 
horse getting out... If  he went on a trip some­
where like to Europe, even though he was on 
an official schedule, he would come back not 
exhausted, but fresher.” 143

In his foreign travels, “ the big, bluff, 
friendly Chief Justice,” as Fred Rodell de­
scribed him, conveyed an easy strength. He 
was “a direct, plain-speaking politician” who 
combined humanity with honesty.144 Yet in 
that setting, Warren appreciated his hosts’ 
scrupulously respecting his position and never 
asking him “ to discuss political matters or any 
legal matters which would come before the 
Court.” 145

While overseas, the Chief could assuage 
an occasional longing for the political arena. 
Explained Warren: “No one could have a back­
ground of such activities as I had without hav­
ing a nostalgic feeling for it, particularly when 
there are exciting things going on in the coun­
try and in the world.” 146 In press conferences 

abroad, Warren would take on “questions— 
some sharp, some stupid, all politely parried 
or handled head-on.” 147 As was the case in his 

leading the Supreme Court to what Justice Abe 
Fortas termed “ the most profound and perva­
sive revolution ever achieved by substantially 
peaceful means,” 148 in the international realm, 
“ the root of his [Warren’s] achievement [was] 
in a genius for politics, using the word in its 
best and truest meaning. This [was] joined in 
the Chief Justice with a deep dedication to the 
fundamental American freedoms embodied in 
the Bill  of Rights.” 149 Warren as Chief Jus­

tice thus “became the most influential public 
figure of his time.” 150

Warren possessed what Eric Sevareid de­
scribed as “ that certain quality that helps to

hold a diverse people together and move a na­
tion on. What the Romans called ‘gravitas’— 
patience, stability, weight of judgment, breadth 
of shoulders. It means the strength of the few 
that makes life possible for many. It means 
manhood.” 151

Such characteristics made Warren an ap­
propriately venerated figure as a politician, 
Governor, and Chief Justice. He should also 
be recognized for his outstanding role in pub­
lic diplomacy, something in which he excelled. 
Warren might well be considered the great­
est American practitioner of public diplomacy 
since Benjamin Franklin plied the art in the 
courts of Europe in the eighteenth century. 
Super Chief should also be commended for 
starting the practice of utilizing the Supreme 
Court building as a welcoming site for foreign 
leaders, allowing them to get acquainted with 
the culture of American law in its most revered 
institutional setting. These kudos should add 
to the recognition of the rare strength, courage, 
and wisdom that Earl Warren possessed.
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So m e m ay be s u rp ris e d to realize that nearly a half century has lapsed since publication 
of The American Supreme Court  by Robert G. McCloskey.1 One reviewer praised the book 
as “unique,” one that could be read “profitably by layman, student, lawyer, and constitutional 
lawyer.” 2 Readers familiar with that compact volume will  recall the antinomy that the author 
put forward as the defining theme of American constitutional history: the tension between 
fundamental law and popular sovereignty. The latter suggests will  and the former restraint. The 
antinomy is reflected in the founding documents of the Republic. The Declaration of Indepen­
dence trumpets “ inalienable rights”  in the same paragraph that it emphasizes “government by the 
consent of the governed.”  The Constitution, “ordain[ed] and establish[ed]”  by “We the people,”  
insisted in Article VI that it “shall be the supreme Law of the Land; and the Judges in every 
State shall be bound thereby, any Thing in the Constitution or Laws of any State to the Contrary 
notwithstanding.”  This conflict between equally valid principles lies at the heart of judicial re­
view in the federal courts, where appointed and politically unaccountable judges sit in judgment 
on the actions of the politically accountable representatives of the people. In McCloskey’s view, 
one principle “conjures up the vision of an active, positive state; the other emphasizes the nega­
tive, restrictive side of the political problem.” 3 Opposites though these principles are, Professor 

McCloskey emphasized that Americans have managed to cling simultaneously to both. “But 
like most successes in politics and elsewhere, this one had a price. The failure to resolve the 
conflict between popular sovereignty and fundamental law perhaps saved the latter principle, 
but by the same token it left the former intact. And this meant that fundamental law could be 
enforced only within delicately defined boundaries, that constitutional law, though not simply 
the creature of the popular will,  nevertheless had always to reckon with it, that the mandates of 
the Supreme Court must be shaped with an eye not only to legal right and wrong, but with an 
eye to what popular opinion would tolerate.”4

Attorney General (and future Justice) 
Robert H. Jackson had captured this dualism 
nineteen years earlier in another monograph

that has likewise achieved status as a classic:
The Struggle for  Judicial Supremacy.5 In
his account of the changing role of the federal



126zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAJOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORYzyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

ju diciary , the tale nte d fo rm e r So licito r Gen­
eral, whom Justice Louis D. Brandeis is said to 
have extolled as one who should be “Solicitor 
General for life,” 6 insisted that the “ultimate 
function of the Supreme Court is nothing less 
than the arbitration between fundamental and 
ever-present or rival forces or trends in our or­
ganized society.” 7 For Jackson, such tension 

gave rise to a compelling political necessity: 
a “ truce between judicial authority and popu­
lar will. ” 8 Recent books about the Court are a 

reminder of this hallmark of politics and con­
stitutional government in the United States.

Even less common than compact ju­
dicial analyses such as Jackson’s and Mc­
Closkey’s are single-volume histories of the 
Supreme Court. So the appearance of The 
Supreme Court:  An Essential History 9 by 
Peter Charles Hoffer, Williamjames Hull Hof­
fer, and N.E.H. Hull is noteworthy. Legal his­
torians at the University of Georgia, Seton Hall 
University, and Rutgers University School of 

Law-Camden, respectively, the authors have 
crafted a readable volume that is both service­
able for the specialist and accessible to the 
novice and generalist. Part chronicle of the 
Court and part chronicle of the evolution of 
American constitutional law, their labors re­
flect a reality others have long recognized: 
to write about the Supreme Court necessar­
ily means that one will, sooner rather than 
later, be writing about constitutional law, and 
to write about constitutional law in the United 

States requires that one quickly confront the 
U.S. Supreme Court.

Any prospective reader can quickly 
glimpse the subject of the book from the ti­
tle, but they may nonetheless be puzzled at the 
outset by the subtitle. Why have the authors 
labeled the contents “an essential history”? 
The answer lies in the reasons why Ameri­
cans need to understand the institution that 
heads the third branch of the national govern­
ment. First, the Justices’ own justifications for 
their decisions draw upon history, especially 
previous rulings of the Court. Second, the his­
torical record reveals that the Court has been

a principal political actor across the decades, 
sometimes rivaling in importance that of some 
Congresses and Presidents. Third, “a history of 
the Court is essential because its operation, so 
vital to our system of checks and balances, is 
often obscure.”  Accordingly, a history “can lift  
the veil on that obscurity.” 10 The authors’ use 

of “essential”  thus seems to evoke Alexander 
Hamilton’s use of the word in The Federalist 
no. 78, when he described (and defended) the 
independence of the proposed Supreme Court 
“as an YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAessential safeguard against the effects of 
occasional ill  humors in the society.” 11 Thus, 
the Court has had a key role in coping with 
the twin dilemmas of popular government. As 
James Madison explained the problem in The 
Federalist no. 51, “ In framing a government 
which is to be administered by men over men, 
the great difficulty lies in this: you must first 
enable the government to control the governed; 
and in the next place oblige it to control itself. 
A dependence on the people is, no doubt, the 
primary control on the government; but ex­
perience has taught mankind the necessity of 
auxiliary precautions.”

Against the backdrop of the American 
experiment—to arrive at a happy balance 
between liberty and restraint or power and 
limits—the authors pose two questions: Is “ the 
Court just another political institution swayed 
by the partisanship of the Justices and the polit­
ical currents of the day,”  and have the Justices 
“changed the meaning of our fundamental 
laws—in effect, remade the Constitution?” 12 
For readers of this Journal or anyone who may 
not have dozed at length during Political Sci­
ence 101, such questions may not appear par­
ticularly original, but they might nonetheless 
pose a challenge for someone new to the study 
of the Court. One recalls, for example, Judge 
(later Justice) Benjamin Cardozo’s acknowl­
edgement that “ [t]he tides and currents which 
engulf the rest of men do not turn aside in their 
course and pass the judges by,” 13 as well as 
Justice Felix Frankfurter’s later reminder that 
“ judges are men, not disembodied spirits. Of 
course a judge is not free from preferences.” 14
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by Peter Charles Hoffer, Williamjames Hull 

Hoffer, and N.E.H. Hull is noteworthy be­

cause it is a readable single-volume history 

of the Court. The book may underplay the 

Court-packing episode of 1937, but it has 

a splendid bibliographic essay.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Mo re o ve r, Chie f Ju s tice Ro ge r B. Taney’s in­
sistence that the Constitution “speaks not only 
in the same words, but with the same meaning 
and intent with which it spoke when it came 
from the hands of its framers” 15 contrasted 
sharply with his predecessor’s reminder that 
the Constitution was “ intended to endure for 
ages to come, and consequently to be adapted 
to the various YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAcrises of human affairs.” 16 In­
deed, much of the meat of An Essential His­

tory appropriately demonstrates the impact of 
the Supreme Court on the political system 
and the impact of the political system on the 
Supreme Court. Moreover, even in the absence 
of the effects of formal amendments to the 
Constitution, any chronicle of the Court and its 
work, such as this one, plainly illustrates that 
the Constitution of 1787 is hardly the Constitu­
tion of today. “ If  George Washington founded 
the country,”  as one biographer aptly insisted, 
“John Marshall defined it.” 17 The Court’s role

as expositor of the Constitution, nearly fully  
taken for granted today, was highly problem­
atic when Marshall became Chief Justice in 
1801, in an era when the political role of the ju­
diciary was still only dimly perceived by most.

The authors divide the Court’s story into 
three sections that together contain fifteen 
chapters. The three sections reflect a famil­
iar division and “correspond to three deep 
sea changes in ordinary Americans’ relation­
ship with their government (and vice versa).” 18 
Thus, the first part, labeled “The Heroic 
Courts,” follows the Court from its establish­
ment to 1873, well into Reconstruction. Con­
stitutionally, the overriding issue during most 
of this time was the vexing problem of fed­
eralism: the relationship between the central 
and state governments; after all, the continued 
existence of a union of states was anything 
but certain until after 1865. The second sec­
tion, “The Classical Courts,”  encompasses the
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Gilded Age, from the late nineteenth century 
until the end of the New Deal in the late 1930s. 
While questions of federalism hardly vanished, 
this was a period when the novel questions cen­
tered on the legitimate relationship between 
government and the economy, particularly in 
the context of corporate wealth, as well as ini­
tial forays into the related matter of govern­
mental power over the individual. The third 
section, “The Modern Courts,” tracks the in­
stitution from World War II until 2006. With 
New Deal policies firmly in place and constitu­
tionally accepted, it was during this period that 
the Justices made major policy declarations on 
racial discrimination, voting rights, and repre­
sentation, heard significant numbers of cases 
on First Amendment freedoms, undertook su­
pervision of the criminal-justice system on an 
unprecedented scale, and handed down land­
mark rulings on gender and privacy matters. In 
a pattern repeated again and again, each new 
foray had a galvanic effect on the legal sys­
tem that “produced another line of cases to be 
argued, studied, and modified.” 19

Within each section, chapters adhere to 
a “chief justice synthesis,”20 whereby each 
Chiefs tenure comprises a separate chapter. 
This method expectedly yields chapters of 
varying lengths, depending in part not only 
on how long each Chief served, but on the sig­
nificance and complexity of the Court’s deci­
sions during his tenure. The Jay and Ellsworth 
courts (1789-1801) hence command twenty- 
one pages, while the Marshall Court (1801— 
1835) occupies thirty-one. The book con­
cludes with a treasure: a splendid fifteen-page 
bibliographic essay.

Individual chapters strive for twin ob­
jectives. First, the authors provide at least a 
thumbnail sketch of each person appointed to 
the High Court. The Court’s more significant 
members and those who have served in recent 
decades receive greater attention. Thus, Lucius 
Quintus Cincinnatus Lamar (1888-1893), who 
saw service on both the Waite and Fuller courts 
and whose nonjudicial public career was more 
consequential than his years on the Bench,

rates less than a page, while Tom C. Clark 
(1949-1967), who served with Chief Justice 
Fred Vinson and Chief Justice Earl Warren, is 
covered in two. Information about individual 
Justices and their families is augmented with 
observations about everyday life at the Court 
and changes in the internal decision-making 
process. What receives little emphasis is the 
increased role of law clerks during the decades 
since Justice Horace Gray initiated the practice 
of employing legal assistants in the late nine­
teenth century.21

The second objective of each of the chap­
ters is inclusion of brief analysis of major deci­
sions of the Court. These range from some of 
the oldest landmark rulings, such as YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAChisholm 
v. Georgia,22 and Calder v. Bull,23 long part of 
the canon of American constitutional law, to 
very recent cases such as Hamdi v. Rumsfeld24 
and Parents Involved v. Seattle School District 
No. 7.25 Aside from rulings one would expect 
to find, the authors occasionally inject a sur­
prise. For example, the chapter on the Court’s 
first decade highlights Elkay v. Ives and M oss, 
an otherwise obscure decision by the U.S. Cir­
cuit Court for the District of Connecticut in 
1793 in which the opinion was delivered by 
Justice James Wilson and U.S. District Judge 
Richard Law,26 who were sitting as the cir­
cuit judges.27 But Elkay is important, and an 
example of how obscurity and inadequate le­
gal reporting beget unintended consequences. 
The case arose when a free black father sued 
two Connecticut slave traders for selling his 
daughters. The circuit court accepted the case 
as part of the diversity jurisdiction allowed to 
the federal courts by the second section of the 
Constitution’s Article III,  and the jury returned 
a verdict, with damages, for the father. As the 
authors explain, “The precedent was clear: a 
black man could be a citizen of Massachusetts 
for the purposes of federal diversity jurisdic­
tion, and he could bring a suit against two 
white men who violated his family’s rights. 
The case was widely reported in the newspa­
pers at the time, and no one suggested the cir­
cuit court had gotten it wrong. In 1857, Chief
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Ju s tice Ro ge r Taney, writing in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBADred Scott v. 
Sandford, said that a person of African ances­
try living in America could never be a citizen 
of a state (hence could never invoke federal 
diversity jurisdiction) because the framers of 
the Constitution would never have allowed it. 
Wilson was an important framer of the Con­
stitution. Taney’s history was wrong.”28 Sig­
nificantly, Elkay was cited by neither Justice 
Benjamin Curtis nor Justice John McLean in 
their respective dissenting opinions in the Dred 
Scott decision.29

If  The Supreme Court  emphasizes the 
unexpected in places, it also assigns less 
prominence to certain subjects than one might 
anticipate. For example, the intricacies of the 
constitutional crisis of 1937 seem decidedly 
underplayed, despite the significance of that 
donnybrook. While the careful reader will  find 
a useful summary of the decisions by the 
Hughes Court that precipitated the confronta­
tion, the casual reader might altogether fail 
to grasp fully the reasons why the President 
eventually emerged victorious from the strug­
gle. Indeed, the book allots the appointment 
of Hugo Black in 1937 nearly as much space 
as the details of President Franklin Roosevelt’s 
legislative assault on the Court.

Moreover, one might have hoped for 
greater attention to what one scholar has 
termed the “enduring dilemma” 30 of the 

Hughes Court: the causes of the transforma­
tion that took place. One explanation tends 
to emphasize internal factors, stressing that 
the doctrinal shift that occurred in the fa­
mous “switch in time” was already under­
way and that the Roosevelt-friendly doctrines 
that typified the Court’s jurisprudence—at 
least on matters of economic regulation—after 
1936 were soundly rooted in pre-193 6 deci­
sions. Another approach, toward which the 
book apparently leans,31 looks to an exter­
nal explanation. Under this view, Roosevelt’s 
landslide reelection in 1936, combined with 
the court-packing plan itself and the contin­
uing social tragedy of the Great Depression, 
nudged Chief Justice Charles Evans Hughes

and Justice Owen J. Roberts, who held the 
balance of power between the conservative 
and progressive wings on the Bench, to adopt 
more deferential attitudes toward the Pres­
ident’s programs. Ultimately, however, what 
mattered most in changing the Court was not 
that Hughes and/or Roberts became whole­
hearted converts to judicial restraint in eco­
nomic cases. Instead, beginning with Hugo 
Black, a parade of new Justices, made pos­
sible by the first departures from the Bench 
since the start of the President’s first term, 
soon gave Roosevelt a Court consisting of a 
firm liberal majority.

This new majority had twin constitutional 
impacts. First, aside from decisions that vali­
dated New Deal statutes such as the National 
Labor Relations Act that removed the imme­
diate need for court-packing, the majority also 
made clear, in holdings such as United States 
v. Darby32 and W ickard v. Filburn,33 that it 
had closed the door on adoption of a regula­
tory fallback position by which most, but not 
all, economic regulations would be allowed to 
stand. Had the majority chosen that option, 
the Court would no longer have been a road­
block to most social-reform legislation, but 
it would still have retained a veto over mea­
sures it deemed excessive or unreasonable. Yet 
by early in Roosevelt’s third term, it had be­
come obvious that the Court had abandoned 
the role it had exercised for half a century 
and instead relegated such monitoring of na­
tional economic and social policy entirely to 

Congress.
Second, it was this new majority that, 

having cemented judicial restraint onto liti ­
gation involving economic regulation, shifted 
to a new, nonproprietarian, rights-oriented ac­
tivism, as presaged by Justice Harlan Stone’s 
Footnote Four in United States v. Carolene 
Products Co.34 The authors place appropri­
ate emphasis on this key development that at­
tempted to offer a justification for judicial re­
view in particular instances.

This footnote of three paragraphs, which 
Justice Lewis Powell much later called “ the
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m o s t ce le brate d fo o tno te in co ns titu tio nal 
law,” 35 contains a corresponding number of 
ideas. The first suggested that when legisla­
tion, on its face, contravened specific con­
stitutional negatives such as those set out in 
the Bill  of Rights, the Court’s usual presump­
tion of constitutionality might be curtailed 
or even waived. The second paragraph indi­
cated that the judiciary had a special respon­
sibility to defend those liberties essential to 
the effective functioning of the majoritarian 
political process. The Court would thus sit 
as the ultimate guardian against abuses that 
would poison what Madison, in The Feder­

alist no. 51, termed the “primary control” on 
government: “dependence on the people,” or 
the ballot box. That is, the Justices would pro­
tect those liberties on which the effectiveness 
of the political check depended. The third 
paragraph suggested a special judicial func­
tion as protector of minorities and unpopu­
lar groups particularly helpless at the polls in 
the face of discriminatory or repressive poli­
cies, as might happen when majoritarianism 
ran amuck. Stone’s footnote became “ the an­
them of the new jurisprudence.”36 As Justice 
Black wrote in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAHines v. Davidowitz, legislation 
dealing “with the rights, liberties, and personal 
freedoms of human beings, ... is in an en­
tirely different category from state tax statutes 
or state pure food laws regulating the labels on 
cans.” 37

While the appointment of Justices is part 
of the background story that enriches The 
Supreme Court, staffing the Supreme Court 
remains the central focus of the new edi­
tion of Henry J. Abraham’s classic, Justices, 
Presidents, and Senators.38 First published 
in 1974, the book has become the standard 
treatise on judicial selection.39

From Washington’s appointment of John 
Jay in 1789 to George W. Bush’s selection 
of Samuel Alito in 2005, Abraham, who is 
emeritus professor in the Department of Gov­
ernment and Foreign Affairs at the Univer­
sity of Virginia, traces the politics of presi­
dential efforts to fill  the Supreme Bench and 
the Senate’s reaction to those efforts. What

criteria have Presidents employed in select­
ing Justices? To what degree have presiden­
tial expectations for nominees been realized in 
their decisions? The questions are important 
because they have acutely concerned almost 
every President. “ [F]ar more than any other 
nominations to the federal bench, those to the 
highest tribunal in the land are not only theo­
retically, but by and large actually, made with 
a considerable degree of scienter by the Chief 
Executive.”40

Regarding the first question, Abraham 
identifies “a quartet of steadily occurring cri­
teria,” including merit, personal friendship, 
balance or representation on the Bench, and 
political and ideological acceptability. While 
most appointments have involved more than 
one of these factors, the last has most fre­
quently been overriding. One might add “ luck”  
as well, as did Justice O’Connor: “ [Tjhat deci­
sion from the nominee’s viewpoint is probably 
a classic example of being the right person in 
the right spot at the right time. Stated sim­
ply, you must be lucky.” 41 As Abraham de­
scribes the sequence of events leading to the 
appointment of the seventeenth Chief Justice 
in 2005, John G. Roberts was named to the 
Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia 
Circuit “ in 2003 by Bush II; his father had 

nominated him unsuccessfully to that same 
court in 1992, and so had the son ten years 
later, but both were shelved by Democrats 
until the Republicans regained the Senate in 
2003.”42

While such dilatory tactics may hardly be 
commendable, the role of ideology in judicial 
selection at either end of Pennsylvania Avenue 
does not itself trouble Abraham. “All  presi­
dents have tried to pack the Court, to mold it 
in their own image. Nothing is wrong with this, 
provided, however that the nominees are pro­
fessionally, intellectually, and morally quali­
fied to serve. Yet sloganeering and labeling, 
be they ‘strict constructionist,’ ‘ liberal,’ ‘con­
servative,’ or ‘ libertarian,’ are as unhelpful to 
an understanding of the nature and function of 
the judicial process as they are often oversim­
plifying and misleading.”43



THE JUDICIAL BOOKSHELFZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA131

This 1902 photo shows a joint session of Congress honoring the late President William McKinley. The JusticesWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

are seated on the far side of the aisle, while President Theodore Roosevelt sits on the near side of the 

center aisle. Henry Abraham’s updated edition of Justices, Presidents, and Senators examines more than two 

centuries of relations between the White House and the Supreme Court.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

As for fulfilling  presidential expectations, 
Abraham finds that the record is mixed. The 
roster of Justices contains more than a few 
“surprises,”  as the book amply demonstrates. 
As Senator Joseph Biden opined during the 
hearings on the O’Connor nomination in 1981, 
“ [Ojnce a justice dons that robe and walks 
into that sanctum across the way, we have no 
control. ... [A]ll  bets are off.”44

In addition to examining expectations and 
their fulfillment, Abraham wades into the 
murky waters of merit. Are there standards 
sufficiently clear to separate good appoint­
ments from bad ones? Nominations to the 
Court almost always generate positive and 
negative reactions that most frequently derive 
from partisan or ideological views, but does 
the historical record suggest objective criteria

that can be used to judge merit? Furthermore, 
are there similar criteria by which to rate on- 
Bench performance? Abraham believes that 
such criteria exist and prefers the combination 
advanced more than three decades ago by Al ­
bert Blaustein and Roy Mersky:

Scholarship; legal learning and an­
alytical powers; craftsmanship and 
technique; wide general knowledge 
and learning; character, moral in­
tegrity and impartiality; diligence 
and industry; the ability to express 
oneself orally with clarity, logic, 
and compelling force; openness to 
change, courage to take unpopular 
decisions; dedication to the Court 
as an institution and to the office
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o f Su p re m e Co u rt justice; ability 
to carry a proportionate share of 
the Court’s responsibility in opinion 
writing; and finally, the quality of 
statesmanship.45

For Abraham, “ ‘greatness’ is not quan­
tifiable.” Yet “ the evidence is persuasive that 
the term or concept is not only a meaningful 
one in the eyes of qualified observers ..., but 
that there is something closely akin to consen­
sus among them—observers who represent the 
gamut of the sociopolitical and professional 
spectrum.”46 This consensus in turn means 

that Presidents and their advisers are in a po­
sition to “opt for merit”47 while presumably 
not overlooking other considerations that may 
fairly enter into the selection. From this van­
tage, the author proceeds to offer a quadruple 
assessment of “ the motivations that underlie 
the process of presidential selection and ap­
pointment, the role of the Senate in the process, 
the degree of fulfillment of presidential hopes 
or expectations, and the professional perfor­
mance of those entrusted with the responsibil­
ities of the business of judging at the highest 
level.”48

Readers who are familiar with Supreme 
Court appointments since 1968 know all too 
well that some nominations have sparked ma­
jor confirmation battles in the Senate. Yet 
the sweep of Abraham’s book is a reminder 
that such imbroglios are not entirely a recent 
political phenomenon. Indeed, the nineteenth 
century is replete with clashes between de­
termined Presidents and equally determined 
Senators, with nominees often caught in be­
tween, as the appointment of Justice Stanley 
Matthew's in 1881 illustrates. That Matthews 
eventually secured a seat on the Court was lit ­
tle short of a miracle. Not only did he reach 
the Court by way of a second-try, cliff-hanging 
confirmation vote, but his nomination marked 
the first time that organized interests attempted 
to block a Supreme Court appointment.49

With barely a month remaining in his 
term, most thought avowed one-term Presi-

The appointment of Stanley Matthews (pictured) inWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

1881 marked the first time that organized inter­

ests tried to block a Supreme Court nomination. Jus­

tices, Presidents, and Senators underscores the fact 

that confirmation battles are not exclusive to modern 

times.

dent Rutherford Hayes would leave selection 
of Justice Noah Swayne’s replacement to his 
successor, President-elect and fellow Repub­
lican James Garfield. But Hayes nominated 
Matthews immediately. The two men had been 
friends at Ohio’s Kenyon College, had served 
in the same regiment during the Civil  War, and 
were related by marriage. Moreover, Hayes’s 
presidency was partly due to Matthews’ labors 
on his friend’s behalf in helping to fashion the 
Compromise of 1877 as one of the Republi­
can counsel to the congressionally authorized 
commission to resolve the disputed presiden­
tial election of 1876. Hayes owed Matthews a 
lot.

Both Hayes and Matthews were amazed 
at the formidable opposition that materialized 
almost overnight against the nomination. The 
problem was not Matthews’ connections with 
Hayes or to the disputed election, but the nomi­
nee’s identity with corporate power, especially 
the railroads. Despite a last-minute lobbying
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cam p aign by Hay e s , the Ju diciary Co m m itte e 
re fu s e d to re p o rt favo rably o n the no m inatio n, 
and it die d as the s e s s io n e nde d.

At that point, there was little evidence that 
Matthews had a future on the Supreme Court. 
President-elect Garfield had thus far offered 
no support to Matthews, and most thought 
that the new President would look elsewhere to 
fill  Swayne’s seat. The improbable happened 
on March 14, however, when the new Presi­
dent renominated Matthews. The reasons are 
not completely clear, although Abraham cred­
its Matthews’s stunning resuscitation to the 
financial and political influence of financier 
and Republican party magnate Jay Gould, for 
whom Matthews had served as Midwestern 
chief counsel.50 The clout of the Gould-led 
forces apparently also accounts for the razor- 
thin confirmation vote of 24-23 after two 
months of acrimonious Senate debate. To date, 
Matthews remains the only Justice to have 
been approved by a one-vote margin. Although 
the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBANew York Times had labeled the Matthews 
nomination one of Hayes’s “most injudicious 
and objectionable acts”  as well as “a sad and in­
excusable error”  on Garfield’s part, the author 
considers Matthews an example of appointees 
whose careers demonstrate that they are able 
to “ rise above associational and philosophical 
predispositions.” 51

Barely ten months before publication of 
the new edition of Abraham’s book, Christine 
L. Nemacheck of the College of William and 
Mary’s Department of Government further en­
riched the literature on judicial appointments 
with her Strategic Selection.52 Her contri­

bution is at once chronologically more com­
pressed than Abraham’s and more narrowly 
structured conceptually. While Abraham’s en­
compasses all appointments since John Jay’s, 
Nemacheck’s limits itself to Supreme Court 
nominations in the series of presidencies from 
Herbert Hoover to George W. Bush. In terms 
of specific nominees, therefore, Nemacheck’s 
extends from Hughes, John J. Parker, Roberts, 
and Cardozo through John G. Roberts, Jr., Har­
riet Miers, and Samuel A. Alito, Jr. While

Abraham explores presidential expectations 
and the degree of their fulfillment and as­
sesses the quality of an appointee’s service 
on the Bench, Nemacheck’s primary interest 
is more circumscribed. Although most studies 
of judicial appointments emphasize the con­
firmation stage of the process, hers, as the title 
indicates, focuses on the appointment process 
in its earliest stage, when a vacancy occurs or 
is imminent. Moreover, her research design is 
more akin to the one employed by Sheldon 
Goldman in Picking Federal Judges (1997) 
and David Yalof in Pursuit  of  Justices (1999), 
in that she builds her study around, and draws 
heavily from, available presidential papers and 
archives.

Like Yalof, Nemacheck observes that se­

lection—why one individual as opposed to an­
other is nominated—is “crucial to our under­
standing of who sits on the Supreme Court.” 53 

This is because the Senate eventually confirms 
most nominees. Indeed, in the period under 
examination in Nemacheck’s book, Presidents 
sent forty-eight names to the Senate, and of 
these, only eight—barely 17 percent—were 
not confirmed. To comprehend the appoint­
ment process, then, she believes that one must 
begin with the reality that while the appoint­
ment process concludes in the Senate, it is 
the White House that sits as the true gate­
keeper on the pathway to the High Bench. 
Thus, among all qualified individuals, why do 
some, rather than others, make it to the even­
tual “shortlist”?54 Of the several names on the 
shortlist, what accounts for the eventual choice 
of one over the others? Nemacheck’s goal is to 
see whether a process that is “ typically seen 
as idiosyncratic, with the style of the sitting 
President, unpredictable political conditions, 
and simple luck determining the nominee,” 55 

might more profitably be analyzed as the in­
terplay of, and the presidential response to, 
several basic themes and realities.

From the perspective of a President, one 
of these themes is plainly uncertainty. Un­
certainty, in turn, manifests itself in several 
ways. First, vacancies on the Supreme Court
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are o rdinarily u np re dictable . The Framers pro­
vided in Article III that federal judges sit 
“during good Behaviour.” In contrast to the 
President, who is elected for a term of four 
years that is renewable only once, and to Rep­

resentatives and Senators, who are elected 
for renewable terms of two and six years 
respectively with no legal limits on their 
renewability, fixed terms are unknown to 
Article III. Upon taking office, a President 
might well hope that several vacancies will  
open during the next four or eight years, but 
their timing will  appear on no White House 
calendar on the morning after Inauguration 
Day. Accordingly, a President might encounter 
a wealth of vacancies, as happened even dur­
ing William Howard Taft’s single term, or, as 
with Jimmy Carter, exit the White House af­
ter four years that witnessed no vacancies at 
all. Nonetheless, as illustrated by the court­
packing plan of the 1930s, Franklin Roosevelt 
tried unsuccessfully to manufacture several 
vacancies legislatively,56 and President Lyn­
don Johnson effectively created two vacancies: 
when he enticed Justice Arthur Goldberg from 
the Court to the United Nations in 1965, in 
order to make room for the President’s friend 
Abe Fortas; and then in 1967, when the same 
President named Ramsay Clark Attorney Gen­
eral and so triggered the retirement of Justice 
Tom Clark to make room for the historic ap­
pointment of Thurgood Marshall.57

Uncertainty also manifests itself during 
the selection stage, in that Presidents do not 
know “how judicial candidates will behave 
once they are confirmed to the Supreme 
Court.”58 Nemacheck likens this uncertainty 
to the classic “principal-agent dilemma,”59 
whereby the principal delegates particular re­
sponsibilities to the agent and wishes the agent 
to carry out the wishes of the principal. How­
ever, in the case of an appointee to the High 
Court, the principal lacks an essential element 
of the successful principal-agent relationship: 
control. As much as a President might prefer 
otherwise, the Framers made sure that no Pres­
ident has the authority to rein in a Justice in

the way a President might be able to restrain a 
subordinate in the Cabinet or in the Executive 
Office of the President.

Uncertainty enters appointment deliber­
ations in another way as well. Because the 
point of making a nomination is to have 
the nominee confirmed, Presidents must con­
sider the troubling statistic that, since 1789, 
the Senate has rejected some twenty percent 
of all Supreme Court nominations, compared 
to only about four percent for all executive 
branch appointments.60 With Supreme Court 
nominations especially, the confirmation pic­
ture can become highly strained when divided 
government is present—that is, when the Pres­
ident is of one party and the Senate is under 
the control of the other party.61 Thus, the con­
firmation environment in the Senate deeply 
matters, leading to the question—surely ever­
present for any President—whether a particu­
lar nominee will  be confirmed.

Uncertainty over the probable judicial be­
havior of a nominee and uncertainty over 
the prospects for the nominee’s confirmation 
put a premium on different kinds of infor­
mation. With the first, a President wants to 
avoid the proverbial judicial “surprise.” Ac­
cordingly, much of the prenomination process 
consists of learning as much as possible about 
various individuals under consideration. Does 
this need explain the recent presidential pref­

erence for nominees with judicial experience? 
Perhaps the lure of a judicial paper trail has 
been overwhelming. After all, as of mid-2008, 
the roster of the Supreme Court revealed that 
all nine Justices arrived on the Bench with pre­
vious service as a judge. Indeed, for the first 
time since the courts of appeals were created in 
1891, all Justices in 2008 had served on one of 
the federal courts of appeals, most frequently 
on the Court of Appeals for the District of 
Columbia Circuit. By contrast, as late as 1963, 
five Justices were sitting with no significant 
prior judicial experience on any court. Cer­
tainly recent Presidents seem to have rejected 
Justice Frankfurter’s oft-quoted conclusion: 
“One is entitled to say without qualification
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that the co rre latio n be twe e n p rio r ju dicial ex­
perience and fitness for the functions of the 
Supreme Court is zero.”62 However, counter 

to what one might expect, Nemacheck notes 
that “neither federal court nor federal appeals 
court experience increased the likelihood of 
selection from the President’s shortlist, but this 
was almost certainly not because it did not 
matter but because it did not distinguish a can­
didate from others on the shortlist. That is, 
beginning in 1975, the great majority (76 per­
cent) of individuals appearing on Presidents’ 
shortlists had such experience, whereas prior 
to that only a minority (39 percent) did.” 63 
Nonetheless, “ [pjresidents, regardless of their 
administrative styles and individual goals, pur­
sue an information strategy for selection.”64 
In different administrations, the bulk of the 
analysis and information-gathering has taken 
place in the Justice Department or the White 
House itself, although the overall trend has 
been to emphasize what takes place in the lat­
ter at the expense of the former. For example, 
“President Clinton relied almost exclusively 
on White House advisers when selecting his 
Court nominees.”65 President George W. Bush 

apparently did so as well. Indeed, Nemacheck 
notes that “even after her own withdrawal as 
the President’s nominee, White House Coun­
sel Harriet Miers was said to be only one of 
two advisers to accompany President Bush 
to Camp David for deliberations on his next 
nominee.”66 Moreover, the record indicates 
that Presidents “are just as likely to try to 
centralize the selection process in the White 
House at the beginning of their term in office 
as they are near the end.”67 Such investigation 

includes not only what can be learned about the 
candidate from the candidate’s record, but also 
insights gleaned from congressional sources. 
Still, Presidents must be careful, lest endorse­
ments or encouragements from certain mem­
bers of Congress unduly embolden poten­
tial opponents. That is, in trying to lessen 
their uncertainty over a candidate, Presidents 
may “actually hurt the candidate’s chances 
for confirmation. Opposition senators will

be less willing to confirm a candidate they 
are certain will  act in line with presidential 
preferences.”68 Moreover, one can add that 

congressional sources might also reinforce a 
presidential preference that otherwise could 
have been discarded. For example, speak­
ing disparagingly of geography in weighing 
the merits of potential nominees, Frankfurter 
recalled that the irrelevance “ led President 
Hoover, who had the most impressive recom­
mendations for naming Cardozo as Holmes’s 
successor, to hesitate because there were al­
ready two New Yorkers on the Court. When 
he urged this difficulty on Senator [William] 
Borah, the latter, to the President’s astonish­
ment, said that Cardozo was no New Yorker. 
When asked to explain, the Senator replied 
that Cardozo belonged as much to Idaho as to 
New York.”69

Uncertainty over potential confirmation 
suggests that Presidents prudently gauge prob­
able senatorial support based on recommenda­
tions that the White House receives. “When a 
president is particularly uncertain about a can­

didate’s prospects for confirmation, incorpo­
rating members’ suggestions might be a use­
ful way to increase the likelihood of a smooth 
confirmation process.”70 Congressional input 
is therefore doubly useful, both for informa­
tion about a candidate’s ideology and for in­
sights on a candidate’s prospects for confir­
mation. In both situations, Presidents should 
prudently engage in what the author calls “se­
lective listening.” 71 Nemacheck specifically 
credits George H.W. Bush’s nomination of 
Judge David Souter as an example of the 
pursuit of a political strategy. “ Indeed, Judge 
Souter was advised by his friend Senator War­
ren Rudman to remain evasive about his posi­
tion on the controversial abortion issue so as to 
avoid engendering more opposition to his can­
didacy. In fact, Senator Rudman later referred 
to Souter as ‘an ideal candidate if  he could 
avoid being pinned down’ on abortion.” 72 With 
Rudman as the shepherd for the Souter nom­
ination, the confirmed Justice became Rud­
man’s “ longest legacy.” 73



136zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAJOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORYzyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Across its eight chapters, Nemacheck’s 
book shows that how a President and senior 
advisers respond to the twin uncertainties is 
largely a function of the prevailing political 
climate. A President confronting a favorable 
confirmation climate in the Senate, either be­
cause of the President’s own popularity or be­
cause of the good fortune that flows from a 
Senate in the hands of the President’s party, 
will  usually emphasize an information strat­
egy: making sure that the nominee accurately 
reflects the President’s policy objectives. Con­
versely, a President who confronts a less-than- 
favorable confirmation climate, either because 
of the President’s unpopularity or because of 
his party’s misfortune in recent elections, will  
pursue a political strategy to increase a nom­
inee’s chances for confirmation, as well as 
the probability that the President will  in fact 
succeed in shaping the Court. Future Presi­
dents will surely confront similar uncertain­
ties. What remains certain is that vacancies 
will  occur.

Among appointments to the Supreme 
Court in recent decades, most observers would 
agree that Harry Andrew Blackmun’s was 
among the least contentious. After little more 
than perfunctory consideration, the Senate Ju­
diciary Committee unanimously endorsed him 
on May 5, 1970, with confirmation following 
on May 12 by a vote of 94-0. Yet what seemed 
to be a smooth process that allowed Blackmun 
to take his seat as the ninety-eighth Justice on 
June 9 was, in reality, the concluding round 
in an appointment spectacle that surely ranks 
among the most unusual, if  not bizarre.

The saga began innocuously enough on 
June 26, 1968, when President Johnson an­
nounced Chief Justice Warren’s intention to 
resign. Warren had been Chief Justice since 
1953, and his tenure had been one of the most 
active and remarkable in American history. 
Hardly an aspect of life had gone untouched 
by landmark decisions on race discrimina­
tion, legislative apportionment, and the Bill  
of Rights. The following day, the President 
nominated Associate Justice Abe Fortas, a

close friend of Johnson’s, to succeed the con­
troversial Chief. With charges of “cronyism”  
abounding, opposition formed immediately. 
Fortas was charged with various improprieties, 
including participation in White House strat­
egy conferences on the Vietnam War and ac­
ceptance of high lecture fees raised by wealthy 
business executives who were clients of For­
tas’s former law partner. After four days of de­
liberation, the Senate voted 45-43 on October 
1 to cut off  debate, well shy of the margin nec­
essary to impose cloture. Two days later, the 
ill-fated Justice withdrew his name. For the 
first time, a nomination to the Supreme Court 
Justice had been blocked by a filibuster. A 
lame duck by this point in his administration, 
and declining to submit another name to the 
Senate, Johnson left this high-level appoint­
ment to President Richard M. Nixon, whose 
1968 campaign had been, in part, a campaign 
against the Warren Court.

Nixon’s choice for Warren’s successor was 
Warren E. Burger, chief judge of the U.S. 
Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia 
Circuit. Burger’s confirmation came eighteen 
days later, on June 9, 1969, by a vote of 74- 
3, an event that closely followed Justice For­
tas’s resignation on May 14, after YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBALife mag­
azine published details of possible impropri­
eties by the former nominee for the Chief 
Justiceship.74 Fortas’s departure—the first by 
a Justice because of public criticism—opened 
the way for Nixon’s nomination of Clement 
F. Haynsworth, Jr., chief judge of the Court 
of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit. Because of 
concerns about conflict of interest and other 
matters, the Senate, still in Democratic hands, 
rejected the nominee 45-55.

This turn of events apparently strength­
ened Nixon’s determination to appoint “strict 
constructionist” Justices. Accordingly, his 
next nominee was G. Harrold Carswell, who 
had served seven years as a U.S. district judge 
in Florida and six months on the Court of Ap­
peals for the Fifth Circuit. Opponents accused 
Carswell of racism and mediocrity. Accepting 
the latter criticism, Nebraska Senator Roman
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Hru s ka tr ie d to co nve rt it into an as s e t: “Even 
if  he is mediocre, there are a lot of mediocre 
judges and people and lawyers. They are enti­
tled to a little representation, aren’ t they, and 
a little chance? We can’t have all Brandeises, 
Cardozos and Frankfurters and stuff like that 
there.” 75

Carswell’s nomination failed 45-51. Not 
since the second presidency of Grover Cleve­
land in 1893 and 1894 had the Senate refused 
to accept two nominees for the same Supreme 
Court vacancy. It was at this point that Nixon 
turned to Blackmun, who had been on the 
Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit since 
1959. The process to fill  the Fortas vacancy 
had come to an end. Ironically, Nixon signed 
Blackmun’s commission on May 14, 1970, 
precisely one year after Fortas resigned. Given 
Nixon’s preference early in his presidency for 
nominees with appeals-court experience (nei­
ther Lewis J. Powell nor William H. Rehnquist, 
named to the Court in the year after Blackmun, 
had any prior judicial experience), Blackmun 
indirectly owed his seat on the Supreme Court 
as much to President Dwight Eisenhower as to 
President Nixon, in that he was among Ike’s 
last federal court nominees.76

Blackmun, who commonly referred to 
himself as “old number three,”77 retired in 
1994 and died in 1999. Although twenty 
Justices since 1789—including Justice Byron 
White, who retired in 1993—had served longer 
than Blackmun’s twenty-four years, only two, 
Oliver Wendell Holmes and Roger Brooke 
Taney, were older at the time they left the 
Court. Blackmun has now been the focus of 
two books. YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBANew York Times reporter Linda 
Greenhouse authored the first, Becoming Jus­

tice Blackmun, in 2005, based largely on early 
access to the extensive Blackmun papers. Her 
admiring work has now been heavily supple­
mented by Harry  A. Blackmun: The Out­

sider Justice,78 a meticulously researched, 
readable, and engaging full-scale judicial biog­
raphy by political scientist Tinsley Yarbrough 
of East Carolina University.

Given the fact that Yarbrough already 
ranks among the most accomplished contem­
porary judicial biographers,79 a few realities 
surely caused him to pause before undertaking 
an exploration of Blackmun’s life and work. At 
the Justice’s retirement in 1994, few regarded 
him as a jurisprudential giant, a coalition- 
builder, or a tactician within the Court. On the 
other hand, other considerations surely com­
bined to encourage the author to move ahead. 
First, a career on the Court spanning nearly 
a quarter-century would alone at least begin 
to attract a scholar’s interest. Then there is 
the fact that Blackmun’s long tenure included 
years when he and his colleagues engaged a 
host of constitutionally contentious matters, 
including the moment in August 1974 when 
the Court’s decision led to the resignation of 
the same President who sent Blackmun’s name 
to the Senate. And one could hardly forget that 
Blackmun authored the opinion of the Court 
in Roe v. W ade.w Indeed, there have probably 
been few Supreme Court Justices any more 
closely identified with a single decision than 
Blackmun was with this one. It was Black­
mun and his Chambers that bore the brunt of 
anti-abortion invective from January 22,1973, 
practically until the day he died. Even press 
and wire service reports in 2006 about the 
death of his wife Dorothy almost invariably 
identified her as the surviving spouse of the 
man who had spoken for the Court in the land­
mark abortion ruling.81

Second, aside from the opinions he au­
thored and the decisions in which he partic­
ipated, Blackmun left abundant manuscript 
sources that are now available in the 
Manuscript Division of the Library of 
Congress. The Blackmun collection fills 1,576 
cartons, more than enough to tempt and fully  to 
occupy any researcher, and more than enough 
to dwarf the archives of most other former 
members of the Court. It is fair to say that 
Blackmun was a judicial pack rat. His instruc­
tions to staff apparently were to save every 
scrap of paper that came into his Chambers.
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And the Blackmun papers include more than 
scraps. There is the diary that he began keep­
ing in 1919 when he was eleven, and which he 
continued for nearly twenty years; his analy­
ses of cases dictated prior to oral argument; 
and exchanges with his clerks, with whom 
he usually had a close mentoring relationship, 
and with the other Justices. Given such gener­
ous quantities of primary sources, one suspects 
that Yarbrough’s will  not be the last book on 
Blackmun.

Third, the pattern of Blackmun’s Court 
years presents questions any scholar would 
want to probe. Among the few concerns raised 
about him at the time of his confirmation was 
whether he could maintain sufficient indepen­
dence from Chief Justice Burger, whom he 
had known since boyhood in Minnesota and 
who had been instrumental in his appoint­
ment to the Eighth Circuit and even possi­
bly to the Supreme Court. Most students of 
this period agree that Nixon looked for nom­
inees he thought would halt and possibly roll 
back the liberal activism of the Warren Court. 
Indeed, Blackmun’s early voting tendency to 
align himself with the Chief Justice, particu­
larly in criminal-justice cases, prompted some 
law clerks and journalists to refer to Burger 
and Blackmun together as the “Minnesota 
Twins” 82 and to Blackmun as “Hip Pocket 
Harry.” 83 By the time of his retirement, how­

ever, he was voting reliably on many ques­
tions with the liberal wing of the Bench. This 
was perhaps most pronounced with respect to 
capital punishment. “For capital punishment 
lawyers,” wrote Michael Meltsner of the Le­
gal Defense Fund soon after Blackmun’s ap­
pointment, “he was a disaster.”84 For those en­
gaged in the courtroom campaign against the 
death penalty, neither Blackmun’s record as an 
appeals-court judge nor his votes in Supreme 
Court decisions such as YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAFurman v. Georgia35 
and Gregg v. Georgia36 were good news. Yet 

in the 1992-1993 Term, Blackmun voted to 
uphold the claim of the petitioner against the 
government on all seven occasion in which 
the Court issued full  opinions in cases involv­

ing the death penalty. What was implicit in 
Blackmun’s thinking in 1992 became explicit 
in 1994. In a dissent from the Court’s unsigned 
order in Callins v. Collins3'’ denying review in 
a capital case, Blackmun forthrightly declared 
that the death penalty “ remains fraught with 
arbitrariness, discrimination, caprice, and mis­
take. ... From this day forward, I no longer 
shall tinker with the machinery of death.” 88 
Although Blackmun never adopted the per 
se rejection of the constitutionality of capital 
punishment, as had Justices William Brennan 
and Marshall in Furman and Gregg, his vot­
ing record in capital cases after the mid-1980s 
matched theirs. His early propensity to vote 
for the state in death-penalty cases vanished. 
A comparison of his later years with his first 
seven years reveals a shift of 180 degrees in 
capital cases. He became an advocate for those 
on whom the arm of government weighed most 
heavily.

Were shifts like those manifested in cap­
ital cases the result of ideological drift? Was 
Blackmun changing? Was he being unduly in­
fluenced by Justice Brennan or by law clerks 
who enthusiastically embraced judicial pro­
tection of civil liberties and civil rights? Had 
Blackmun been trying to prove that he was 
no longer Hip Pocket Harry? At retirement, 
Blackmun insisted that the Court and the is­
sues, not he, had changed. Yarbrough’s view 
is that Blackmun, like all Justices, did un­
dergo change once on the Bench, but he finds 
considerable evidence “ that he did not change 
nearly so much as the Court and the issues 
changed.”89 Instead, the author believes that 

Blackmun’s judicial record was “ remarkably 
consistent” over time.90 Much of what ap­

peared to be a shift to the ideological left and a 
growing empathy for outsiders and the down­
trodden (hence the significance of the book’s 
subtitle) was present from the beginning “and 
arguably flowed from his own feeling of in­
adequacy and self-doubt, with early apparent 
deviations from that central theme of his career 
explainable by the circumstances of particular 
early cases, rather than as a reflection of a
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m arke d change in his late r ju ris p ru de nce .” 91 

In this connection, what the reader does not 
find in the book is sufficient attention to what 
was frequently a government-friendly posture 
in Fourth Amendment cases, particularly those 
involving automobile searches. For example, 
Blackmun’s dissenting position in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAArkansas v. 
Sanders92 effectively became the Court’s posi­
tion, thanks to the majority opinion Blackmun 
filed in California v. Acevedo92

Yarbrough’s general thesis is that Black­
mun’s intriguing record as a Justice was a prod­
uct of his experiences as a child and teenager, 
that throughout his life he “appeared to see 
himself as an outsider, as someone who did 
not belong. ... Family tragedies and growing 
up in humble surroundings with a loving but 
melancholy mother and a father who seemed 
destined to failure would not have inspired 
confidence in the future Justice whatever his 
academic successes. Nor would the intimidat­
ing atmosphere of Cambridge have been any 
comfort to a poor Midwestern boy surrounded 
by children of privilege.”94 Despite his accu­
mulation of honors at Harvard, a prestigious 
law-firm partnership, a decade as counsel for 
the Mayo Clinic, service on the Eighth Circuit, 
and elevation to the Supreme Court, “Black­
mun’s deep-seated feelings of insecurity and 
self-doubt” persisted and were probably the 
source of the humility and humbleness he dis­
played throughout his professional life. After 
being criticized in 1970 by Justice Hugo Black, 
whom he admired greatly, for taking too long 
in turning out an opinion, Blackmun began 
delegating “virtually all opinion drafting to 
his clerks—confident, one suspects, that they 
would do a better job of the task than he could 
ever have hoped to do. From that point... he 
spent hundreds of hours each term cloistered 
in the Justices’ library, painstakingly check­
ing his clerks’ citations and closely monitoring 
their drafts, ever alert to their grammatical and 
spelling errors—while they largely sculpted 
the substance of his jurisprudence.”95 These 
same self-doubts “probably also contributed

significantly to his well-deserved reputation as 
champion of life ’s underdogs.”96 “By striking 
blows for society’s relatively dispossessed,”  
Yarbrough concludes, “ the justice was perhaps 
also able to do battle with his own demons.”  
Thus, his unsuccessful vote on behalf of “Poor 
Joshua” in DeShaney v. W innebago County92 
“was in a real sense a blow for ‘  Poor Harry. ’  ”98 
Nonetheless, the author believes that suggest­
ing “ that Justice Blackmun’s judicial tenure 
constituted a sort of continuing psychologi­
cal therapy in no way diminishes the tremen­
dous courage and resolve he displayed on the 
high bench. ... Throughout his life, there was 
a decidedly stubborn streak in the slight, be­
spectacled boy who defiantly wrote his parents 
from Harvard, ‘We will  show them,’ and the 
man who refused to be dominated by Warren 
Burger or intimidated by detractors.”99

Many of the cases in which Blackmun par­
ticipated that are highlighted in Yarbrough’s 
book illustrate the ongoing tension in Amer­
ican constitutionalism between fundamen­
tal law and popular sovereignty. Probably 
nowhere has that tension been more pro­
nounced than with respect to race, a point that 
is amply demonstrated by The Day Freedom 
Died by Charles Lane, editorial writer for the 
W ashington Post.100 His book is a meticulously 
researched, riveting, and fast-paced case study 
of United States v. Cruikshank101 and should 
appeal to anyone interested in the Court, the 
Reconstruction era, Louisiana history, and/or 
racial justice. The chronicle that unfolds is not 
a happy story; indeed, it is a grim narrative, but 
it is a story that should be more widely known 
than it is.102

The Cruikshank case sprang from prose­
cutions under the Enforcement Act of 1870,103 

which Congress had passed and which Presi­
dent Ulysses S. Grant had signed to combat 
white-led terrorism against the newly freed 
population in the states of the former Con­
federacy by providing federal criminal penal­
ties for violations of voting and other con­
stitutional rights. The prosecutions followed
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Charles Lane's new book The Day Freedom Died examines the prosecutions that followed the Colfax massacre,WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

one of the bloodiest and most vivid examples of race-inspired violence in the United States after the Civil 

War. The carnage erupted several months after a disputed statewide election in Louisiana in 1872.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

the Colfax massacre, one of the bloodiest 
and most vivid examples of race-inspired vio­
lence in the United States after the Civil War. 
The carnage erupted several months after a 
disputed statewide election in Louisiana in 
November 1872. More so perhaps than in other 
Southern states, politics in Louisiana during 
Reconstruction was in turmoil, as various fac­
tions vied for domination. African Americans 
aligned with the Republicans, who represented 
the party of Reconstruction, while whites 
aligned with Democrats or with elements of 
a Republican offshoot that in Louisiana were 
known as Fusionists (Fusionists paralleled the 
Liberal Republicans104 at the national level). 

Because the November election left differ­
ent groups asserting legitimacy, opposing fac­
tions then laid claim to parish (county) offices 
across the state. This volatile political mix­
ture exploded in the village of Colfax in Grant 
Parrish on Easter Sunday, April 13, 1873. A 
posse composed of black men authorized by 
the state’s Republican governor occupied the 
courthouse. Whites stormed and then torched 
the building, killing some number of black

men as they fled; others were rounded up 
later and shot. The actual number of casual­
ties, Lane reports, has proved “elusive.” 105 He 
sets the best minimum estimate at sixty-two, 
with the best maximum estimate being eighty- 
one.106

Led by the extraordinary efforts of U.S. 
Attorney James Beckwith—whose wife, the 
reader learns, was a published novel ist107—the 
Justice Department108 sought to indict more 

than 100 whites under the Enforcement Act, 
section six of which prohibited the banding 
together or conspiring of persons “with the 
intent to violate any provision of this Act, 
or ... to prevent or hinder [an individual’s] 
free exercise and enjoyment of any right or 
privilege granted or secured to him by the 
Constitution or laws of the United States.” 109 
Eventually—and only with the help of U.S. 
Marshals and federal troops—eight whites, 
including William Cruikshank, were brought 
to trial, on charges that they had conspired 
to deprive two citizens “of African descent 
and persons of color” of a number of rights, 
all of which were secured to them “by the
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co ns titu tio n and laws o f the United States.” 110 
For Beckwith, what was at stake “was noth­
ing less than the true meaning of the Civil  
War.” 111

At the trial in federal circuit court in New 
Orleans, Justice Joseph Bradley sat with Judge 
(later Justice) William B. Woods, but the two 
eventually disagreed over the validity of the 
indictments in ruling on a defense motion in 
arrest of judgment.112 Woods saw ample fed­
eral authority; Bradley did not. While the Fif­
teenth Amendment admittedly created a right 
to be free from racial discrimination in voting 
and provided for congressional enforcement of 
this right, the indictments in the Colfax killings 
were unauthorized, the former believed, be­
cause neither state action nor racial basis for 
the attack was shown. Because of the division 
between Bradley and Woods, the case moved 
to the Supreme Court on certification. Other­
wise, the High Court at this time would have 
had no appellate jurisdiction over an ordinary 
federal criminal case.

For the full Court—with Justice Nathan 
Clifford concurring on quite different 
grounds—Chief Justice Morrison Waite 
adopted Bradley’s view of the case, with its 
very narrow view of federal power.113 To grasp 
Waite’s opinion, however, it is helpful to recall 
the Supreme Court’s decision in the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBASlaugh­

terhouse Cases,114 which, paradoxically, had 
come down on the day after the tragic events 
at Colfax had transpired and which ultimately 
proved to be an insurmountable barrier for the 
government’s case.

In that 1873 litigation, butchers in the New 
Orleans area had challenged a state-created 
slaughtering monopoly on grounds that the 
statute violated the Fourteenth Amendment 
(as the argument was directed, principally its 
Privileges and Immunities Clause), which had 
been ratified in 1868.115 Rejecting their con­
tention, Justice Samuel Miller insisted for the 
five-Justice majority that any liberties claimed 
by the butchers—such as a right to pursue a 
lawful calling against interference by a state 
government—derived from state, not national,

citizenship and so fell outside the protection of 
the amendment. To read the Constitution more 
generously would make the Court “a perpetual 
censor upon all legislation of the States” and 
“ radically change[] the whole theory of the re­
lations of the State and Federal governments 
to each other and of both these governments to 
the people.” 116 It was this opinion by Justice 
Miller  that carried the day in the Colfax case.

“To bring a case within the operation 
of’ the Enforcement Act, Waite explained in 
an opinion that reached almost 5,000 words, 
“ it must appear that the right, the enjoyment 
of which the conspirators intended to hin­
der or prevent, was one granted or secured 
by the Constitution or laws of the United 
States.” 117 So, when the indictments read that 
the defendants had hindered others in their 
right peaceably to assemble, Waite was quick 
to point out that the First Amendment secured 
that right against infringement by Congress, 
but that it did not create the right. “For their 
protection in its enjoyment,... the people must 
look to the States. The power for that purpose 
was originally placed there, and it has never 
been surrendered to the United States.” 118 Be­
cause the rights claimed to have been vio­
lated did not inhere in national citizenship, 
they lay outside the amendment’s, and there­
fore the statute’s, protection. Consistent with 
the doctrine laid down in the Slaughterhouse 
Cases, Waite concluded that the Reconstruc­
tion amendments had not given the national 
government a new responsibility in protecting 
those rights. Nor was there sufficient basis to 
charge the Colfax defendants with interfering 
with the right to vote. According to Waite, “ the 
right of suffrage is not a necessary attribute 
of national citizenship[, but] exemption from 
discrimination in the exercise of that right on 
account of race ... is. The right to vote in the 
States comes from the States; but the right of 
exemption from the prohibited discrimination 
comes from the United States. The first has not 
been granted or secured by the Constitution; 
but the last has been.” 119 Implicit was a sharp 
distinction that Waite drew between private
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actio n that was u nde r YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAstate co ntro l and s tate ac­
tio n in vio latio n o f fe de rally p ro te cte d rights 
that was u nde r national co ntro l. The Colfax 
mob lay under the former’s jurisdiction, not 
the latter’s. Because the indictments did not 
rest on racially motivated conduct, whatever 
had occurred in Colfax did not interfere with 
a right protected by the national government. 
“We may suspect that race was the cause of 
the hostility; but it is not so averred.” 120 The 
majority would not infer even that that seemed 
plainly apparent. Yet, without a racial compo­
nent, one supposes that the killings in Colfax 
would never have occurred.

Lane finds it amazing that not once did 
Waite “mention the fact that dozens of freed- 
men had been killed at Colfax. ... There 
was nothing about the burning courthouse;... 
not a word about the way the white men 
marched their colored prisoners two by two, 
after dark.” 121 The Republican and largely 
Lincoln-appointed majority on the Court had 
apparently become disenchanted with Recon­
struction, as had the Northern press, which 
generally gave Waite’s opinion “ favorable 
reviews.” 122

The effects of the decision extended well 
beyond a reversal of the convictions in the 
case. While the Enforcement Act had not been 
invalidated, and while more carefully drawn 
indictments were certainly possible, the deci­
sion was surely demoralizing for federal pros­
ecutors across the South. The conviction rate 
for prosecutions brought under the Enforce­
ment Act had already dropped sharply, from 
about seventy-four percent in actions brought 
in 1870 to less than ten percent in 1874 and 
after.123 These figures, coupled with a grow­

ing local hostility to prosecutions, made in­
dictments hard to secure, even as violations 
were on the rise. Practically, then, the 1870 
Act had become nearly a dead letter even by 
the time Cruikshank was decided.124 The de­
cision could only encourage racially inspired 
violence to keep former slaves politically pow­
erless. As the author concludes, “Reconstruc­
tion was over.” 125 Indeed, the timing of the

Cruikshank decision was significant. The case 
came down on the eve of the Compromise of 
1877, which resulted in a withdrawal of federal 
troops from the previously occupied Southern 
states.

Lane’s book is a stunning reminder that 
the tension between fundamental law and pop­
ular sovereignty that McCloskey highlighted 
almost fifty  years ago depends on a delicate 
balance that was hardly secured in 1787 but 
has remained very much an unfinished work. 
The reader is left reflecting on those sup­
ports essential for constitutional democracy 
that failed so completely on that Sunday morn­
ing in 1873.
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